## ANTIOBESITY AND CAECAL MICROBIOME EFFECTS OF DICHLOROMETHANE – METHANOLIC EXTRACTS OF Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) IN HIGH FAT FED SPRAGUE DAWLEY RATS

## NDERITU KATHRYN WANJIKU (MSc) H80/ 56934/2020

## A THESIS SUBMITTED IN FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN BIOCHEMISTRY

## DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMISTRY, FACULTY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY, UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI.

2023

#### DECLARATION

I declare that the work presented in this thesis is my original work and has not been presented for the award of a degree in any other university or any other award.

Signature ...

Nderitu Wanjiku Kathryn Department of Biochemistry University of Nairobi

I confirm that the work reported in this thesis was carried out by the candidate under my supervision as a University supervisor

Breeker Date 10-07-2023 Signature ...

**Dr. Ezekiel Mecha** Department of Biochemistry University of Nairobi

I confirm that the work reported in this thesis was carried out by the candidate under my supervision as a research supervisor

1

Date 10 7 2023 Signature .....

Dr. Atunga Nyachieo

Department of Reproductive Health and Biology

Institute of Primate Research

# DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my Parents, my siblings, my nieces and nephews

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I want to thank my Supervisors Dr. Ezekiel Mecha, Department of Biochemistry, University of Nairobi and Dr. Atunga Nyachieo, Institute of Primate Research for their invaluable support and guidance from the commencement of this study to its completion. Special thanks to Professor Midiwo Department of Chemistry, Dr. Beth Ndunda, Department of Chemistry, Dr. Peter Waweru, Department of Physiology, Professor. Edward Muge and Dr. Evans Nyaboga, Department of Biochemistry for their guidance during my laboratory work.

In addition, I want to thank my colleagues and friends for their support throughout the entire period. These include: Zelipha Kabubii, Japheth Kalombo, Elvince Ager from the Department of Biochemistry, Boniface Chege, David Wafula and Monica Onguka from Department of Medical Physiology, University of Nairobi. I also want to thank Noutin Michodigni from Pan African University for his moral support and James Kimani from Kenyatta University who helped with statistical analysis. I gratefully recognize my parents namely: Mr. Christopher Nderitu and Mrs. Patricia Nderitu, my Siblings: Douglas Nderitu, John Nderitu and Dr. Peris Nderitu together with their families for their prayers, financial support, encouragement and for lending a shoulder to lean on. Finally, I want to thank God for His support, strength and direction during the journey.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ANTIOBESITY	AND	CAECAL	MICROBIOM	E EFFECTS	OF
DICHLOROMETH	ANE – M	IETHANOLIC	EXTRACTS OF	Solanum nigrum	(Subsp
villosum) IN HIGH	FAT FED	SPRAGUE DA	WLEY RATS		i
DEDICATION					iii
ACKNOWLEDGE	MENT				iv
LIST OF FIGURES					xi
LIST OF TABLES					xiii
LIST OF APPEND	ICES				xiv
LIST OF PUBLICA	TIONS				xv
ACRONYMS AND	ABBREV	IATION			xvi
ABSTRACT					xvii
CHAPTER ONE					1
INTRODUCTION					1
1.1 Obesity					1
1.2 Problem State	ment				8
1.3 Justification					9
1.4 Research Que	stion				9
1.5 Objectives					10
1.5.1 General O	bjective				10
1.5.2 Specific C	Dbjectives				10
CHAPTER TWO:					11
LITERATURE REV	VIEW				11

2.1 Obesity	11
2.1.1 Epidemiology of Obesity	12
2.1.2 Etiology/Pathophysiology/chronobiology of obesity	13
2.1.3 Endocrinology of Obesity	15
2.1.4 Genetics of Obesity	16
2.1.5 Obesity classification	17
2.2 Management of Obesity	18
2.2.1 Fat Absorption Inhibitor Drugs	18
2.2.2 Stimulators of Thermogenesis	18
2.2.3 Appetite Suppressing Drugs	19
2.2.4 Stimulators of Fat Mobilization	20
2.2.5 Future anti-obesity drugs	20
2.3 Limitations of Conventional Drugs	20
2.4 Alternative complementary medicine of obesity	21
2.5 Solanaceae	22
2.5.1 Origin of Solanum nigrum. L species	23
2.5.2 Secondary Metabolites of Solanaceae and their Biological properties	27
2.6 Techniques of measuring obesity	32
2.6.1 Body Mass Index (BMI)	32
2.6.2 Waist – Hip ratio (WHR)	33
2.6.3 Air Displacement Plethysmography	33
2.6.5 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)	34
2.7 Microbiome	35

2.7.1 Gut Microbiome	36
2.7.2 Oral Microbiome	37
2.8 Measurements used in Microbiome analysis	38
2.8.1 Alpha diversity	38
2.8.2 Diversity Indices	40
2.8.3 Beta Diversity	40
CHAPTER THREE	42
ANTI- OBESITY EFFECTS OF DICHLOROMETHANE - METHANOL L	EAF
EXTRACT of Solanum nigrum IN HIGH –FAT FED RATS	42
Abstract	42
3.1 Introduction	44
3.2 Methodology	46
3.2.1 Collection and Preparation of Plant Materials	46
3.2.2 Extraction of Phytochemicals	46
3.3 Experimental Design	47
3.3.1 Laboratory Animals	47
3.3.2 Induction of Obesity	47
3.3.3 Biological Assay	47
3.3.4 Body Mass Index Determination	48
3.3.5 Food Consumption Determination	49
3.3.6 Oral Glucose Tolerance Test	49
3.3.7 Serum Sample Preparation	49
3.3.8 Biochemical Assays	50

3.3.9 Liver and Adipose Tissue Excision
3.3.10 Qualitative Phytochemical Screening
3.4 Results
3.4.1 Body Mass Index
3.4.2 Oral glucose tolerance test
3.4.3 Lipid profiles
3.4.4 Food Consumption
3.4.5 Adipose tissue and Liver weight
3.4.6 Effects of Methanol and Dichloromethane leaf extracts of Solanum nigrum
(Subsp villosum) on ALT, ALP and GGT of high fat fed rats
3.4.7 Qualitative Phytochemical Composition of Methanolic and Dichloromethane
Extracts of Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum)
3.5 Discussion70
CHAPTER FOUR75
MORPHOLOGICAL AND MOLECULAR IDENTIFICATION of Solanum specie75
4.1 Introduction77
4.1.1 Ribulose 1,5- biphosphate carboxylase/ oxygenase (rbcl) and internal
transcribed spacer
4.2 Methodology
4.2.1 Morphological identification of the plant
4.2.2 DNA extraction from <i>Solanum nigrum</i> leaves
4.2.3 Amplification
4.2.4 Sequencing of amplicons / sequence alignment and phylogenetic analysis 82

4.3 Results	
4.3.1 Phylogenetic Analysis	
4.4 Nucleotide composition	
4.5 Discussion	
CHAPTER FIVE	
EFFECTS OF Solanum nigrum ON THE DIVERSITY OF CAECAL MI	ICROBIOME IN
HIGH FAT FED RATS	
5.1 Introduction	104
5.2 Methodology	105
5.2.1 Experimental Design	105
5.2.2 Total Bacterial DNA extraction	105
5.2.3 Library construction and Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	amplification of
16SrRNA (V3-V4 region)	106
5.2.4 PCR Clean- up	107
5.2.5 Purification, quantification and Sequencing	108
5.3 Bioinformatics analysis	108
5.4 Results	110
5.4.1 Taxonomy – Relative Abundance	110
5.4.2 Alpha Diversity	
5.5 Discussion	115
CHAPTER SIX	119
6.0 OVERALL DISCUSSION	119
CHAPTER SEVEN	123

7.0 OVERALL CONCLUSION	.123
7.1 Overall recommendations	123
CHAPTER EIGHT	.124
8.0 SUGGESTION FOR FURTHER RESEARCH	124
REFERENCES	.125
APPENDICES	.175
	182

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) (Limuru, Kiambu county) 25
Figure 2: Experimental groups
Figure 3: The group administered with dose extract of 300mg/kgbw. MeoH reduced the
BMI better than the other experimental groups compared to the negative control
Figure 4: Glucose levels at week 5
Figure 5: Mean values of TC, TG, HDL-c and LDL-c of the different experimental
groups. Bars with a similar letter are not significantly different by one-way ANOVA and
Tukey's post hoc (p>0.05)
Figure 6: Food consumption rate of the different experimental groups per week
Figure 7: Mean weights of Adipose tissue and Liver of the different experimental groups.
Bars with similar letter at the same tissue are not significantly different by one-way
ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc (p>0.05)
Figure 8: A rooted ML tree inferred from concatenated ITS2 and rbcl data sets. The
values are proportion of bootstrap values
Figure 9: A rooted MP tree inferred from concatenated ITS2 and data sets. The values are
propotion of bootstrap values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown 89
Figure 10: A rooted NJ tree inferred from concatenated ITS2 and rbcl data sets. The
values are proportion of bootstrap values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are
shown
Figure 11: A rooted ML tree inferred from ITS2. The values are proportion of bootstrap
values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown

Figure 12: A rooted MP tree inferred from ITS2. The values are proportion of bootstrap
values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown
Figure 13: A rooted NJ tree inferred from ITS2. The values are proportion of bootstrap
values from 1000replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown
Figure 14: A rooted ML tree inferred from RBCL. The values are proportion of bootstrap
values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown
Figure 15: A rooted MP tree inferred from RBCL. The values are proportion of bootstrap
values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown
Figure 16: A rooted NJ tree infered from RBCL. The values are proportion of bootstrap
values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown
Figure 17: Relative abundance of bacterial phylum taxon among the treatment groups.111
Figure 18: Alpha diversity (Shannon and Simpson) of the different groups 112
Figure 19: The figure shows beta diversity of microbial community of sprague dawley
high fat fed rats under treatment
Figure 20: Dendogram describing treatment of various experimental groups 114

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: BMI Classification
Table 2: Effects of Methanol and Dichloromethane leaf extracts of Solanum nigrum
(Subsp villosum) on body mass index on high fat fed rats
Table 3: Glucose tolerance test (Week 5) 57
Table 4: Effects of Methanol and Dichloromethane extracts of Solanum nigrum (Subsp
villosum) on Lipid profiles
Table 5: Effects of Methanol and Dichloromethane leaf extracts of Solanum nigrum
(Subsp villosum) on ALT, ALP and GGT of high fat rats
Table 6: Primers used for DNA barcoding
Table 7: Assessed morphological features of Solanum genus 84
Table 8: Nucleotide composition of ITSI_rc 97
Table 9: Nucleotide composition of RBCL2_rc 98
Table 10: Chi-square test for the goodness of fit for the percentage of the abundance of
phylum

## LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Presented my research work in a conference175
Appendix 2: Gut microbiome forward reads 176
Appendix 3: Gut microbiome reverse reads
Appendix 4: A box plot showing abundance of bacterial phylua taxon among the
treatment groups
Appendix 5: Relative abundance of bacterial genus taxon among the treatment groups 178
Appendix 6: Bacterial phylum present on the gut of KWN1 and KWN2 179
Appendix 7: Bacterial phylum present on the gut of KWN3, KWN4 and KWN5 180
Appendix 8: Bacterial phylum present on the gut of KWN6 and KWN7 181
Appendix 9: Duplicate samples of Plant DNA using ITS2 and rBCL Markers (bottom
section) and seven samples of bacterial DNA and a positive control (upper section) 182

## LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Nderitu, K. W., Mecha, E., & Nyachieo, A. (2023). *Solanum nigrum* show anti-obesity effects on high-fat diet-fed Sprague Dawley rats in a randomized study. *Scientific African*, e01713.

Nderitu, K. W., Ager, E., Mecha, E., & Nyachieo, A. (2023). DNA barcoding using ITS2 and RBCL markers for Solanaceae species identification. *East African Medical Journal*, *100*(1), 5567-5574.

Nderitu, K. W., Mecha, E., Opiyo, S. O., & Nyachieo, A. (2022). Effects of *Solanum nigrum* on caecal microbiome of high fat fed rats in a randomized control study. *East African Medical Journal*, *99*(11).

## ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATION

- ALV African Leafy Vegetables
- ANOVA Analysis of Variance
- BMI Body Mass Index
- DMEM Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium
- HDL-C High Density Lipoprotein cholesterol
- LDL-C Low Density Lipoprotein cholesterol
- NP-Y Neuro Peptide Y
- OECD Organization of Economic Co-operation and Development
- PBS Phosphate buffered saline
- POMC Pro- opiomelanocortin
- PPARs Peroxisome proliferator activated receptors
- TC Total cholesterol
- TG Triglyceride
- VLDL Very Low density lipoprotein
- WAT White Adipose Tissue
- WHO World Health Organization

## ABSTRACT

Despite the rapid rise of obesity in Kenya, its treatment and management has remained a challenge due to its high side effects and unaffordability. Locally based remedies may offer cheaper, safer and more cost effective alternatives.

## Materials and Methods

This study sought to evaluate the anti-obesity effects of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extracts in high fat fed Sprague dawley rats. The study utilized 35 Sprague dawley rats weighing between 160-180g. Experimental rats were divided into seven groups of 5 rats each; normal control group (fed with normal chow rat feed), a negative control group (fed with high fat diet), reference positive control group (orlistat 30mg/kgbw with high fat diet) and experimental groups (treated with Dichloromethane and methanolic leaf dose extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) at concentrations of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kg bw respectively plus high fat diet). The body weight and lengths (naso-anal length) were measured once per week for eleven weeks to determine the body mass index. At the end of the experiment, blood samples were obtained through cardiac puncture. They were centrifuged at 2400rpm for 10 minutes and the serum obtained was used for clinical chemistry. In addition, caecum samples were collected for microbiome analysis and molecular identification of *Solanum* done using internal transcribed spacer 2 (ITS2) and ribulose biphosphate carboxylase large (RBCL) marker. Statistical analysis was conducted using Student's t-test and one way anova.

Results: Leaf extracts of Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) at dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw, showed significant decrease on body mass index (BMI) from week 5-11 compared to the negative control (p<0.05). However, low dose of dichloromethane (150mg/kgbw) and high dose of methanol extracts (300mg/kgbw) showed better decrease in BMI than all the other treatment groups. There was no significant difference on total cholesterol among the treatment groups compared to the negative control (p>0.05) however, a significant difference was seen on triglycerides, low density lipoprotein- cholesterol and high density lipoprotein- cholesterol among the treatment groups compared to the negative control. There was a significance difference on adipose tissue weights and liver weight on rats administered with high fat diet compared to other treatments (p<0.05). The rats on high fat diet (negative control) indicated a significant increase on alanine aminotransferase, gamma- glutamyl transferase and alkaline phosphatase compared to the other treatment groups. Decrease on adipose tissue and liver weights on other treatments compared to the negative control was significant (p < 0.05). These extracts showed presence of various phytochemical compounds. Microbiome analysis exhibited that all groups had varying amounts of bacteria phylum. However, Campylobacterota had a significant increase on the DCM and methanolic treatment groups as well the positive control compared to negative and normal control groups. On the other hand, the different sequences of plant markers (ITS2 and rbcl) used to infer phylogeny indicated that the specie with antiobesity effects (Kat\_001) is Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) specie.

**Conclusion:** *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) reduces BMI, has hypolipidemic effect and possess anti-obesity phytochemicals with no adverse effects on liver function suggesting its safe use.

High fat diet and *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extracts caused significant changes in the caecum microbial system of the high fat fed diet rats. These results were similar to those of positive control.

The agreement between rbcl and the combined set of rbcl and ITS2 sequences, together with morphological data strongly suggests *Kat\_001* is *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*). The study recommends consumption of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) as a supplement used to prevent obesity.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

## **INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Obesity

One of the most common non-communicable diseases in the world is obesity, which is brought on by an imbalance between the amount of energy used and the amount consumed. It is reported to have affected 60% of adults and nearly one in three children (27% of girls and 29% of boys) (Organization, 2022). Its primary characteristics include high blood lipid levels and excessive fat mass, while extra calories from the diet are deposited as triacylglycerides (TAG) in the white adipose tissue (WAT) (Jang & Choung, 2013; Stadler & Marsche, 2020). The increased body fat mass has led to a higher body mass index of (BMI  $\ge$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) which is considered as obese by the world health organization (Organization, 2020). Fat mass increase occurs through two processes these include adipocyte hyperplasia or adipocyte hypertrophy (Shao et al., 2018). Adipocyte hypertrophy which is characterized by enlargement of fat cells due to infiltration of M1 macrophage, decreased vessel development and massive fibrosis leads to morbid obesity (Farias et al., 2019). Hence leading to chronic inflammation and white adipose tissue (WAT) dysfunction, this dysfunction is mainly associated with obesity associated medical comorbidities (Ni et al., 2020).

Current studies indicate that gut microbiome plays a part in the growth of gastro intestinal diseases, metabolic pathologies such as insulin resistance, obesity and neurological disorders such as Alzheimer, Parkinson and autism (Ghaisas *et al.*, 2016; Cryan *et al.*, 2020). The gut consists of trillion microorganisms which originates at birth into early childhood (Deschasaux *et al.*, 2018). Early childhood microbiome plays a vital

part in the nervous and immune system development and have also showed to affect motor control and anxiety in adulthood (Noble et al., 2017; Warner, 2019). The gastrointestinal tract plays major role in regulation of energy intake and appetite for instance several studies indicate that obese persons have less sensitivity to the gastrointestinal effects of nutrients, especially in excess calorie intake (Monteiro & Batterham, 2017). Several research studies also report the association between gut microbiota and obesity related diseases. A study by (Zhang et al., 2015) indicated that Enterobacter cloacae B29 isolated from the gut is associated with both obesity and insulin resistance. This indicates that gut microbiota contributes highly to metabolic disease and maybe a drug target for treatment (Zhang et al., 2015). However, low calorie intake, prebiotic rich diets and healthy intestinal microbiome reduces obesity incidence by reducing production of short chain fatty acid (Murugesan *et al.*, 2018). Further studies also show that pre- biotic rich diets may decrease factors associated with metabolic syndrome, obesity, triggering of the immune system (Jakobsdottir et al., 2014), reduction of excess circulating glucose, reduction of blood cholesterol levels, and improvement of insulin sensitivity (Johnson et al., 2013).

Obesity is also as a result of hormonal imbalance such as increase of ghrelin hormone in the stomach and reduction of the leptin hormone in the adipose tissue. (Cui *et al.*, 2017). Research shows treatment with leptin slows down the hyperphagic effect, reduces body fat mass and as well increases energy expenditure in obese persons (Schwartz *et al.*, 2017). Gut hormones are regulated by gut microbiota which mostly influence production of short chain fatty acids such as acetate, butyrate and propionate (Lin *et al.*, 2012). They are known as signaling molecules for certain receptors in the gut for example, free fatty

acid receptor 2 and 3, (FFAR2 and FFAR3), a G- coupled receptor free fatty acid have been recognized as endogenous receptor for the short chain fatty acid (Lin et al., 2012). Previous studies show that propionate inhibits food intake in human by regulating peptide hormones secreted by the enteroendocrine cells. These hormones include; Glucagon like peptide 1 (GLP-1) and glucose dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) which are key modulators of glucose metabolism (Mosavat et al., 2020). Obesity has also been reported as a chronic medical condition risen as a result of multiple genetic factors, for example genes such as fat mass and obesity associated (FTO) genes play a crucial part in the contribution to obesity (Bjørnland et al., 2017). Few people have monogenic form of obesity, for example, monogenic mutations on the leptin hormone, leptin receptor and on the melanocortin-4 receptor lead to about 10% of obesity cases (Kohlsdorf *et al.*, 2018). However, research shows that almost 200 single gene mutations also cause obesity (Albuquerque et al., 2015). Syndromic forms of obesity are also associated with genetic disorders leading to change of phenotype these examples include; mental retardation, Wilms tumor, Prader willi syndrome, Cohen syndrome, and genitourinary anomalies among others (Thaker, 2017). Other studies indicated that epigenetic factors such as changes in noncoding microRNAs, DNA methylation and microRNA expression contribute to obesity, since epigenetics are likely to change through lifestyle modification such as diet and physical inactivity (Izquierdo & Crujeiras, 2019).

Obesity is not independent in humans, it's mainly associated with various risks such as type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, dyslipidemia, cancers, retinopathy, steatosis hepatitis and this combination is known as metabolic syndrome (Weihrauch-Blüher *et al.*, 2019). It is known as metabolic syndrome since it's mainly as a result of dietary

imbalance rather than genetically programmed disease (Aguilera *et al.*, 2013). Additionally, fatty liver disease that is not caused by alcohol is more likely to develop in people who are obese (Suzuki *et al.*, 2012).

Prevalence of obesity has continuously increased and therefore led to high mortality rates in the globe. Around 500 million persons were obese and 1.5 billion were overweight in 2008 (Nguyen & Lau, 2012). In addition, in 2010, 43 million children (below 5 years) were overweight (Organization, 2017). According to Popkin, his study indicated that in the year 2012 approximately 300 million adults were obese while 1 billion adults were overweight globally (Popkin et al., 2012). Moreover, another study indicated that 2.8 million people of global population die due to overweight and obesity per year while about 35.8 million are left with disability (Steyn & Mchiza, 2014). In 2014, World Health Organization reported 13% of global adult population were obese (Organization, 2015a) and in 2016, over 1.9 billion adults over the age of 18 had obesity and/or overweight, with 650 million of them being obese (Organization, 2020). WHO also indicated that among 39% of adults aged above 18 years, 39% were men while 40% were women. The report similarly indicated that 13% of global obese population in 2016; 11% were men while 15% were women. The global obese population nearly tripled between 1975 and 2016 while in 2019, there were 38.2 million obese or overweight children under the age of five (Organization, 2021).

Obesity was previously considered as a high-income country problem; however, both middle-income and low-income countries, especially those with metropolitan contexts, have seen an increase. Overweight and obesity affect 27% and 8%, respectively, of

persons in Africa over the age of 20 (Steyn & Mchiza, 2014). According to WHO, children considered overweight under 5 years of age have nearly increased by 24% percent since year 2000 (Organization, 2021). In 2016, 340 million children and adolescent between 5-19 years of age were obese or overweight, this report showed that there was an increase of prevalence of obesity or overweight from 4% in 1975 to over 18% in 2016. In 2016, there was also an increase in the percentage of overweight boys and girls, with 18% and 19% of both being overweight (Organization, 2021). Recent studies indicate that obesity and overweight prevalence has increased in Sub-Saharan Africa, including Kenya at an average rate of 5% per annum (Ziraba *et al.*, 2009). In Kenya 37.5 % of women and 17.5% of men were either obese or overweight while 4% of the children under 5 years were obese or overweight (Kihiu & Amuakwa-Mensah, 2021). A study done by (Mkuu *et al.*, 2018) indicated that 1 of 3 Kenyan women are either overweight or obese.

There are lots of factors that lead to obesity and these include the nutrition transition which is mainly driven by demand and supply factors (Jayawardena *et al.*, 2017). For example, urbanization, improved education and income growth has led to the increase in food demand and less physical activity hence increasing sedentary nature (Sturm & An, 2014). Other factors also include globalization which has contributed much to the preference shifts towards westernized diets (Costa-Font & Mas, 2016; Monteiro & Batterham, 2017). On the other hand, food systems have now become more international and the influence of the multinationals is growing rapidly (Monteiro *et al.*, 2013). Retail

sectors are now modernizing and consolidating hence many people have ended up consuming energy dense processed foods (Garnett & Wilkes, 2014).

Other factors leading to obesity include sedentary lifestyle for example, excessive sedentary behavior such as physical inactivity and white collar jobs, short sleep duration, psychiatric issues among others (Kang *et al.*, 2020). According to WHO, 60% of the global population are inadequate of exercise due to prevalence of labor saving technologies in production industries as well as at home and increase of mechanized transportation. WHO also indicated that television viewing in adults and children has a great connection with high risks of obesity (Hills *et al.*, 2011). Psychiatric patients are also highly likely to suffer from obesity unlike the persons without psychiatric illnesses. For example psychiatric persons may suffer from binge eating and night syndrome (Rankin *et al.*, 2016). There is however an urgent need for safe and efficient therapeutics for obesity, since the present status of such drugs is still unsatisfactory (Hong *et al.*, 2015).

Obesity therapies include use of drugs that reduce fat absorption such as orlistat (Liu *et al.*, 2020). Orlistat drug inhibits the pancreatic lipase thus reducing the intestinal fat absorption. Other drugs include appetite suppressant or anorectic drugs they include drugs such as sibutramine among others (Yun, 2010). However, research indicates that these drugs have harzadous side effects. For example, both (orlistat and sibutramine) side effects include dry mouth, headache, blood pressure, constipation and insomnia. For this reason, current approaches majors on the natural sources that have been said to have anti-obese effects (Nazish & Ansari, 2018). Although the use of natural sources as an anti-obese agent have not been fully explored, a few edible plants with medicinal value are

used as supplements for management of weight in many countries (Matic *et al.*, 2018). Studies reports numerous bioactive compounds such as alkaloids, steroids, tannins, saponins extracted from natural sources are potentially useful in obesity management with minimal side effects (Konstantinidi & Koutelidakis, 2019). Thus, it might be a perfect alternative strategy for developing safe and effective antiobesity medicine in future.

This study shall utilize a specie from solanaceae family known as *Solanum nigrum* which is a complex of many species such as *S. scarbum, S. americanum, S. nigrum, S. physalifolium and S. villosum* (Hameed et *al.*, 2017). It is well known as Managu in Kenya and has been used all over the world for a variety of treatments, including the control of human bacterial infections, digestive problems, diabetes, and high blood pressure, among others (Matasyoh & Bosire, 2016). Folklore in Kenya suggests that the plant managu has anti-obesity properties, although this claim has not been scientifically validated. Therefore, the focus of this study was on evaluating the value of the specie's ethnomedical anti-obesity properties in rats on a high-fat diet.

#### **1.2 Problem Statement**

Obesity epidemiology has increased in both industrialized nations as well as the developing countries globally (Yun, 2010). It is ranked as the fifth most outstanding cause of mortality around the globe and is projected to be among the top three cause of death by 2030 (Organization, 2021). In Africa, children under 5 years of age with cases of overweight and obesity nearly doubled from year 1990 to 2014 from 5.4 million to 10.3 million (Organization, 2015b). In accordance to World Health Organization, the percent of overweight in children under 5 years of age has nearly increased to 24% from year 2000 to 2019 (Organization, 2021).

Recent studies show that obesity incidence is due to disproportion between food expended and food consumed (Blüher, 2019). This has resulted due to consumption of palatable foods, sedentary lifestyle, lack of exercise and a decrease in vegetable consumption (Aparicio *et al.*, 2016). There are various risks associated with obesity which include; hyperlipidemia, insomnia, sleeps apnea, diabetes mellitus, coronary diseases, hypertension among others (Medic *et al.*, 2017). Gut microbiome dysbiosis which is as a result of change in di*et also* lead to metabolic diseases such as obesity among others (Belizário *et al.*, 2018). Although pharmacological approach to control the prevalence of obesity has been investigated, only a few of the synthetic drugs have been permitted for clinical use, owing the hazardous side effects associated with them. For example, conventional antiobesity drugs such as orlistat are reported to have severe side effects which include; constipation, blood pressure, dry mouth, headache and insomnia (Kim *et al.*, 2020).

## **1.3 Justification**

Recent approaches are focusing on screening of natural agents that have been reported to have anti-obesity effects with minimal side effects and potentially act as a substitute for synthetic medications (Rodríguez-Pérez *et al.*, 2019). Current research focus is on phytochemical compounds capable of reducing gut dysbiosis, as a potential drug target for metabolic diseases (Sheflin *et al.*, 2017).

This study will scientifically assess the ethno-medicinal significance of *Solanum nigrum* (Subp *villosum*) a complex of many species, on the diversity of gut microbiome and its anti-obesity effects on high fat fed rats. Although, it has a widespread folklore claim to prevent obesity, there is no documentation of their claimed effects that has been scientifically validated.

## **1.4 Research Question**

- i. Do Dichloromethane methanolic leaf extract of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) have any effect on body mass index, and food consumption in high fat fed rats?
- ii. Do DCM methanolic leaf extract of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) have any effect on glucose, lipid profiles (HDL-C, LDL-c, TG, VLDL-C and TC) and hepatic enzymes (alanine amino transferase, Gamma- glutamyl transferase and alkaline phosphatase) in high fat fed rats.
- iii. Do DCM- methanolic leaf extract have effects on the diversity of caecal microbiome of high fat fed rats
- iv. Which specie of *Solanum* genus showed anti- obesity effects in high fat fed rats

## **1.5 Objectives**

### **1.5.1 General Objective**

The general objective of the study is to determine the anti- obesity and ceacal microbiome effects of DCM - methanolic leaf extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) in high fat fed rats.

## **1.5.2 Specific Objectives**

- i. To determine effects of DCM methanolic leaf extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) on body mass index and food consumption in high fat fed rats.
- ii. To examine the effects of DCM methanolic leaf extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) on glucose, lipid profiles (TG, LDL, HDL, TC and VLDL) and Gamma- glutamyl transferase, alkaline phosphatase and alanine amino transferase in high fat fed rats
- iii. To assess the diversity composition of caecal microbiome on high fat fed diet rats
- iv. To explore the *Solanum nigrum* sub specie used as an anti- obese agent on high fat fed rats

#### **CHAPTER TWO:**

## LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Obesity

Obesity comes from a latin word obesitas meaning fat, plump or stout. It is a metabolic disorder, which results to an increase in adipose tissue due to an imbalance between energy consumed and energy expended (Mohamed *et al.*, 2014a). According to several studies, obese people incur health care cost of above 25% than healthy people (Withrow & Alter, 2011). Obesity can be iatrogenic due to treatments such as antiepileptic, antidepresent, insulin, steroids and or due to other diseases such as cushing syndrome, hypothalamic defects and hypothyroidism (Kuete, 2017; Mohamed et al., 2014a). Obesity is frequently associated with various risks such as steatosis hepatis, sleep apnea, type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular diseases dyslipidemia, dementia and cancers of the pancreas and urinary bladder (Avgerinos et al., 2019; Blüher, 2013). This metabolic disease could also result from a multifaceted interaction of behavioral, environmental and genetic factors (metabolism) that correlate with the social, lifestyle (physical inactivity) and economic status (Mansur et al., 2015). Positive energy imbalance is mostly related to change in diet, low metabolic rate and sedentary lifestyle among others. Current approaches are focusing on lifestyle and diet modification for example, restriction of calorie intake and increased bodily exercise to reduce prevalence of obesity (Câmara et al., 2017). Several scientists have shown the possible use of natural agents to counter obesity. This use of natural products may result in a synergistic manner thus increasing its bioavailability and action on the molecular markers, hence offers advantage over the synthetic drugs (Mohamed et al., 2014a). The anti- obese effects of this compounds are associated with

the down regulation of several pathways such as decreasing lipogenesis, increasing lipolysis, decreasing differentiation and proliferation of preadipocytes, energy intake, expenditure and lipid absorption (Huang *et al.*, 2014).

### 2.1.1 Epidemiology of Obesity

The ratio among obese people varies among different ethnicities, countries, sex and is dependent on behavioral and environmental changes brought by urbanization, modernization and economic development (Williams & Periasamy, 2020). The variation in the incidence of obesity could be attributed to the sedentary lifestyle, lack of physical inactivity, consumption of easily available palatable foods, sex, heredity and age (Pan et al., 2021). Previous data on obesity and overweight from the organization of economic co-operation and development (OECD) indicated that at least 13 member countries had half of the adult population obese or overweight (Devaux & Sassi, 2013). These countries included; Spain, United Kingdom, United States, Australia among others. The report also indicated that non- OECD countries such as South Africa, China, Brazil among others had rates lower than OECD countries but were increasing at the same rate (Devaux & Sassi, 2013; Hruby & Hu, 2015). World Health Organization indicated that international obesity prevalence nearly tripled since 1975 to 2016 from 4% to 18%, these rises occurred in both boys and girls at 18% and 19% respectively (Organization, 2021). In 2014, 41 million global population of children under 5 years of age were either obese or overweight (Organization, 2015b). Global prevalence of obesity in 2016 indicated that among 1.9 billion adults who were overweight, 650 million were obese. The study also indicated that 340 million children and adolescent between 5-19 years were either obese or overweight in 2016 (Organization, 2020). An overall study indicated that 13% of

global population were obese in 2016 among them included 11% men and 15% women. On the other hand, in 2019, 38.2 million people under 5 years were either obese (Organization, 2020) or overweight. In 2020, 39 million children below 5 yrs age were either obese or overweight (Organization, 2020). Obesity is a public health concern not only in the industrialized countries but has also trickled down to middle- and low-income countries particularly in metropolitan settings (Organization, 2020). In Africa, children under 5 years of age with cases of obesity and overweight nearly doubled from year 1990 to 2014 from 5.4 million to 10.3 million. Of these, 48% lived in Asia and 25% in Africa (Organization, 2015b). In accordance to World Health Organization, the percent of overweight in children under 5 years of age has nearly increased to 24% from year 2000 to 2019 (Organization, 2015b). Overweight and obese are linked to more cases of mortality than underweight, while around the globe more people are obese than overweight. Linear time trend forecasts predicted that 51% population might be obese and nearly 1 in 2 adults will be obese in 2030 (Finkelstein et al., 2012; (Keaver et al., 2013).

## 2.1.2 Etiology/Pathophysiology/chronobiology of obesity

Life is rhythmic occurrence whereby our internal body system entirely depends on yet we rarely pay attention to it (Garaulet *et al.*, 2010). These rhythmic oscillations originated from the word *circa diem* and is known as circadian rhythm. The principal function of this internal circadian rhythms in organisms is to anticipate and predict conservational changes while trying to acclimatize to their physiological and behavioral functions (Gómez-Abellán *et al.*, 2012). In humans, habits such as disruption of everyday sleep wake rhythm, reduction in sleep, introduction to bright light at night and increase in

consumption of junk food induces perception loss to the external and internal rhythms (Aulinas, 2019). Circadian rhythm is known to control both hormones and cardiovascular function involved in metabolism such as cortisol, leptin, glucagon, insulin, growth hormones among others (Kim *et al.*, 2015). Hence, studies indicate that disruption of circadian rhythm maybe a cause of various metabolic syndromes and obesity contraindications such as hypertension, dyslipidemia, glucose intolerance, type 2 diabetes mellitus, cardiac diseases, endothelial dysfunction among others (Farhud & Aryan, 2018). Daily rhythms that are involved in satiety, hunger signals and meal times are based not only on what should be eaten but also when to be eaten and degree of obesity (Garaulet *et al.*, 2010).

The central pacemaker which is located at the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) of the hypothalamus is the key component of the circadian system (Honma, 2018). However, in natural environment settings the suprachiasmatic nucleus is readjusted by various periodic inputs such as food intake/fast, exercise and light /darkness. This system is controlled by the central pacemaker and the peripheral clocks. The central pacemaker is located at the hypothalamic suprachiasmatic nucleus, where it generates a 24 hour cycle in both behavioral and physiological variables by controlling the expression of the circadian rhythm (Ono *et al.*, 2018). In addition, expression of circadian rhythm is controlled by a number of genes known as clock genes, which encode various proteins hence generating a self- regulatory mechanism using positive- negative transcription feedback loops (Honma, 2018). The positive elements involved in the feedback have a helix- loop –helix structure and they include circadian locomotor output cycles kaput and brain and muscle ARNT-like protein containing Per-ARNT-Sim domains which help

with protein-protein interactions. An alternative to CLOCK includes a homolog Neuronal PAS domain protein 2 (NPAS2) which effectively compensates for CLOCK absenteeism. A heterodimer is then formed between the two positive elements CLOCK/BMAL1 which attaches to the promoter of various clock genes such as period 1, 2, 3 and cryptome 1 and 2 and retinoid – related orphan receptor  $-\dot{\alpha}$  (Ror  $\dot{\alpha}$ ) among genes that are controlled by CLOCK (Doruk *et al.*, 2020).

Lipid metabolism is controlled by Clock proteins such as BMAL1 and other CCG proteins (PPAR  $\dot{\alpha}$  and REV- ERB  $\dot{\alpha}$ . Clock and BMAL1 are also a part of the control of glucose levels while PER2 and CLOCK are appetite regulators (Yao *et al.*, 2020).

Few studies on circadian biology of the adipose tissue have been done on rodents and finding show that rodents with clock gene mutation are characterized as obese without circadian biology rhythm while *Bmal* deficient mice were found to have high amount of adipose tissue. The study also indicated deficiencies and mutation of adipokine genes, leptin and melanocortin receptors which are associated with obesity and phenotypes resembling metabolic syndromes due to a defective circadian rhythm (Garaulet *et al.*, 2010).

## 2.1.3 Endocrinology of Obesity

Hormones such as leptin, adiponectin and acylation stimulating protein (ASP) have a crucial role in regulation of carbohydrate and lipids (Harwood, 2012). The leptin hormone main biological role is to reduce the energy available rather than prevent obesity by providing signals to the brain on the quantity of fat stored (Cui *et al.*, 2017). Body adiposity increases in people with leptin gene mutations since they have very low circulating leptin levels. However, leptin treatment significantly decreases body

adiposity, improves metabolic abnormalities (hyperlipidemia and insulin resistance) in patients with fairly leptin deficiency (Wu *et al.*, 2019). Leptin production is enhanced by insulin, glucocorticoids and estrogen while on the other hand it's reduced by  $\beta$ -adrenergic agonists (Qaid & Abdelrahman, 2016). Moreover, dietary fat and fructose, does not increase insulin secretion, hence, leads to decrease in leptin hormone (Bhaswant *et al.*, 2015).

In obesity state, the leptin hormone produced by the adipose tissue inhibits Neuropeptide Y secretion at the hypothalamus thus leading to a decrease in appetite, increase in energy expenditure as well as stimulates breakdown of stored fats (Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Insulin sensitizing hormone such as adiponectin are also derived from the adipocytes and are secreted into the blood (Lee & Shao, 2014).

A few studies report that serotonin hormone role in management of obesity is to reduce food consumption and increase the energy expended. Serotonin enhances melanocortin 4 receptors (MC4) which regulates food ingestion in the hypothalamus (Sargent & Henderson, 2011). Previous studies demonstrate inverse relationship between food intake and serotonin hormone. The three serotonin receptors associated with food intake control include 5-hydroxytryptamine (5- HT1B, 5-HT6 and receptor 5HT2C) (Voigt & Fink, 2015).

## 2.1.4 Genetics of Obesity

Obesity disease has highly escalated in the past few decades humoral and behavioral factors are considered as causes of obesity (Upadhyay *et al.*, 2018). However, in spite of people's sedentary lifestyle, lack of physical exercise, increased food intake and less energy expended not all individuals are obese due to this factor, change in genetic

mechanisms has led to obesity. There are several different genes that have been linked to obesity; some act alone, while others work in combination. The most studied fat gene include the fat mass and obesity associated (FTO) gene, this gene is said to work well on its own, however, it can be modified by people's lifestyle (Albuquerque *et al.*, 2017). Obesity inherited in a Mendelian pattern is known as monogenic obesity and it results from large or small chromosomal deletions or single gene defects. However, only 200 single genes mutations have been recorded to cause obesity (Loos & Yeo, 2022). Leptin receptor mutations or leptin and melanocortin-4-receptor mutations are significant monogenic mutations that account for less than 10% of cases of obesity (Wasim *et al.*, 2016). The other category is known as polygenic obesity or common obesity and is as a result of various polymorphism. The variants causing this type of obesity include BDNF, CNR1, MCAR, CSKI and PPARG (Loos & Yeo, 2022).

### 2.1.5 Obesity classification

There are two types of obesity, these include; central and peripheral obesity (Huang *et al.*, 2020). Obesity is classified based on abdominal fat in the body (Gómez-Ambrosi *et al.*, 2012). Fat distribution around the upper body and trunk is known as central obesity while even distribution of fat in the body which predominantly occur in women is known as peripheral obesity (Booth *et al.*, 2014). Central obesity entails fat distribution in areas such as chest, abdomen, shoulder and nape of the neck. This leads to an apple shape hence referred to android obesity and is common in males. Peripheral obesity is also known as gynoid obesity and is commonly found in women whereby it becomes difficult to differentiate a woman from a man. Fat distribution is mainly on the thighs, hips and bottom, leading to a pear shape (Neri *et al.*, 2020; Shin & Saeidi, 2021). Previous studies

indicate that during adulthood fat distribution in women is evenly distributed however as they bear children, age and nearing menopause their fat distribution changes to android. Body mass index and waist hip ratio are the anthropometric measurement for obesity. According to WHO BMI above 30 and waist hip ratio of men and women of 0.9 and 0.85 respectively indicate obesity (Gazarova *et al.*, 2019). Android obesity is mostly associated with several metabolic diseases such as diabetes mellitus, hyperinsulinemia, hyperlipidemia, insulin resistance, cardiovascular diseases among others. However, gynoid obesity shields against cardiovascular diseases (Scholz & Hanefeld, 2016).

#### 2.2 Management of Obesity

Anti-obesity drugs are classified based on their primary function and are divided into four groups as described below:

#### 2.2.1 Fat Absorption Inhibitor Drugs

Drugs such as orlistat fall under this category, they reduce weight by inhibiting lipases in the small intestines, stomach's mucous membrane and pancreas (Xuan *et al.*, 2017). Hence, preventing hydrolysis of triglycerides into absorbable monoacylglycerols and free fatty acids and their absorption in the intestine (Kim *et al.*, 2020). Previous studies show that they reduce energy intake by gastrointestinal mechanism of action and not appetite (Son & Kim, 2020).

#### 2.2.2 Stimulators of Thermogenesis

These drugs increase thermogenesis without physical activity. Adaptive thermogenesis confers to overfeeding (diet-induced thermogenesis) and the ability to adapt cold (Bastías-Pérez *et al.*, 2020). A notable influence on adaptive thermogenesis is exerted by

thyroid hormone produced from sympathetic neurons; examples include the medication Ligratude (Oliveira *et al.*, 2021).

### 2.2.3 Appetite Suppressing Drugs

These drugs include noradrenergic, serotoninergic and mixed noradrenergic serotoninergic agents such as Brupropion, phentermine, phendimetrazine, bezphetamine, dexfenfluramine and sibutramine (Shettar et al., 2017). Previous studies report that these drugs reduce food consumption by blocking the reuptake of monoamines, increases feeling of satiety and acts on the central nervous system (de Matos Feijó et al., 2011). Appetite suppressing drugs also inhibit norepinephrine and serotonin re-uptake in the Central nervous system, while also suppress appetite by reducing hunger perception (Ueno & Nakazato, 2016). For example, a dopamine and norepinephrine inhibitor such as bupropion activates neuropeptide Pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC) hence decreasing appetite when highly concentrated in the hypothalamus and supplements dopamine activation which is lower in obesity patients (Chen, 2016). Naltrexone drug inhibits appetite enhancing effects of  $\beta$  –endorphin caused by cannabinoid -1- receptor activation. Drugs such as naltrexone and bupropion have synergistic effects when combined and hence lead to appetite suppression (Subramaniapillai & McIntyre, 2017; Wilding, 2017). Some drugs such as Topiramate an epilepsy drug treats obesity through exerting weight reduction by increasing energy expenditure, satiety and reducing calorie intake while phentermine reduces appetite by increasing epinephrine secretion in the hypothalamus. Fenfluramine and dexfenfluramine act by releasing serotonin (5-HT) which reduces food intake especially fat intake and increases satiety (Georgescu et al., 2021; Paccosi et al., 2020; Tak & Lee, 2021). In addition, Fluoxetine is an inhibitor for serotonin re-uptake
hence reducing food intake (Farhan *et al.*, 2013). However, though some of these drugs have been approved for short term use, they increase insomnia, anxiety and depression (Son & Kim, 2020).

#### 2.2.4 Stimulators of Fat Mobilization

Drugs that stimulate fat mobilization act peripherally by reducing triglyceride synthesis and fat mass without decreased food intake or physical exercise. This occurs by stimulating formation of brown adipose tissue from inter-conversion of white adipocytes or pre-adipocytes (Chatzigeorgiou *et al.*, 2014).

#### 2.2.5 Future anti-obesity drugs

Glucagon like peptide 1 is a hormone released to stimulate secretion of insulin in the gut due to elevated glucose (Nauck *et al.*, 2011). Drugs such as gliptins stimulates break down of incretins by dipeptidyl peptidase IV enzyme (Coppolino *et al.*, 2018). Other drugs include liraglutide and exanatide which mimic glucose like peptide 1 by reducing weight loss on type 2 diabetic patients through glycaemic control (Lyseng-Williamson, 2019).

## 2.3 Limitations of Conventional Drugs

Most conventional drugs are said to be expensive and also have been reported to have severe side effects, for example they increase blood pressure, dry mouth, tachycardia, insomnia, constipation, headache incontinence, flatulence with discharge and steatorrhoea (Daneschvar *et al.*, 2016).

#### 2.4 Alternative complementary medicine of obesity

Various herbal plants are used in the management of obesity (Hasani-Ranjbar *et al.*, 2013). For example, a study done on obese mice showed that ethanolic leaf extract of *pomegranate* at a dose extract of 50 mg/kg and dose extract of 100 mg/kgbw exhibited a significant decrease in the body weight in comparison with the control group, which was only fed on high fat feed (Anusuya *et al.*, 2010). Ethanolic extract of cowpea seeds also showed a decrease in serum total cholesterol concentration, LDL-cholesterol, triacylglycerol and also glucose in rats when compared to high fat fed rats fed (Weththasinghe *et al.*, 2014).

A study done by Bais *et al.* 2014 to evaluate the antiobesity activity of methanolic extract of *Moringa oleifera* leaves (MEMOL) in high fat fed rats, reported that dose extracts of Memol led to a considerable decrease in low density lipoprotein, total cholesterol, body weight and triglyceride. In addition, treatment with MEMOL extracts demonstrated a hepatoprotective effect, indicating decreased levels of serum glutamic pyruvic transaminase (SGPT) (Bais *et al.*, 2014). To evaluate the antiobesity and hypolipidemic effects of *Momordi cadioica* fruits extracts, a study showed a significant decrease in serum LDL-C, TG and TC at a dose extract of 500mg/kgbw (Safia & Krishna, 2013). *Cucucurbita pepo* dose extracts also demonstrated a significant decrease in LDL, TG and glucose in male diabetic rats (Asgary *et al.*, 2011).

Among other natural products that have antiobesity effects include green tea whose presence of phytocompounds contributes to its effect (Xu *et al.*, 2015). The compounds that were found present in the green tea include; Flavanols such as catechin (C), Catechin 3- gallate (CG), Epigallocatechin gallate (ECG) whose results indicated that they

suppressed lipid accumulation in the adipocyte cells, hence this study concluded that catechin and epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) inhibits differentiation and proliferation of 3T3- L1 adipocytes by inhibition of phosphor- ERK1 and phosphor- ERK2 pathway (Jiang *et al.*, 2019).

A study done on hypolipidemic and antiobesity effects of *persimmon* leaves on high fat fed rats indicated that tannins or tannins with a gallate group contributed to anti-lipidemic effects on the hypercholesterelemic rats. This study also indicated that flavonoids of citrus peel extract contain the hypocholesterolemic effects since it demonstrated reduction of serum low density lipoprotein in rabbits (Zou *et al.*, 2014).

The effects of Polyphenols or flavonoids on lipid profiles were relevant to cardiovascular diseases, the study indicated reduction of low density lipoprotein- cholesterol, triglycerides, total cholesterol and serum leptin on high fat fed rats (El-Tantawy, 2015). In addition, a study on *Nelumbo nucifera* leaves indicated that alkaloids present induced apoptosis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes while the flavonoids had anti- tumor activities and improved lipid metabolism in high fat diet treatment. This study also reported that the extract was responsible for anti-obesity and hypolipidemic activity (Sharma *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.5 Solanaceae

*Solanaceae* family comprises of 93 genera, among them is *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) specie. This genus is widely distributed in the world for example countries such as Brazil have 260 species with 127 species endemic (Barros *et al.*, 2018). *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) *L* is one of the most abundant specie among the *Solanaceae* family and has approximately 2000-3000 species (Mehmood *et al.*, 2020). The genus has taxonomic challenges due to the high number of published names and its diversity. These

species include; *Solanum tuberosum* L (Potato), *Solanum lycopersicum* L (tomato), eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L), *Solanum scarbum*, Mill, European *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp villosum) Mill, *Solanum Americanum* Mill (American black night shade) as well as ornamental plants like *Schizanthus*, *Petunia*, *Lycium* spp (kraal honey thorn) among others (Ronoh *et al.*, 2018). Recent approaches have focused on molecular identification of the genus. This genus varies from diploid to hexaploidy due to phenotypic plasticity, polyploidy, specific intra and inter specific hybridization (Gallego-Tévar *et al.*, 2018; Särkinen *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.5.1 Origin of Solanum nigrum. L species

European black night shade was known for its medicinal purpose by both greeks and romans during the ancient times (Pandey *et al.*, 2016). In the 1<sup>st</sup> century AD the plant was known a *cucubalus, strychnon* or *strumus* and was recommendend against wounds, lumbago and stings (Särkinen *et al.*, 2018a). Later in the Middle Ages the European treated *S. nigrum*. L as *Solanum Hortense* and considered it as unique to plants such as *Solanum somniferum* (*Withania somnifera*.L), *Solanum Halicacabum* (*Alkekengi officinarum Moench*) or *Solanum furiosum* common names that were used by Germans and French (Särkinen *et al.*, 2018b). The name *nigrum* originated from the berries since scientists from Europe considered the diversity of fruit color as same plant (Edmonds & Chweya, 1997). In 1544, Mathioli described the berries as (fructu rotundo, uiridi, qui post maturitatem nigricat, aut fuluefcit) meaning the fruit was green at early stages then they turned to yellow-brown or black at maturity (Särkinen *et al.*, 2015). In 1583, Dodens described the berries more clearly (per initia virentes, maturae veròe, aut nigricantes, aut rubentes, aut luteo coloris) which meant that berries are normally green during the early

stages then they turn to mature red, yellow or black when they are fully grown (Särkinen *et al.*, 2018b). He described the plant as *Solanum nigrum* despite the differences in fruit color. In 1753, Linnaeus described *S. nigrum* as different taxa such as *S. villosum* (*S.nigrum var. villosum*), *S.nigrum (as var. vulgare)*, *S.americanum (S.nigrum var patulum)*, *S.scarbum (S.nigrum var guineenense)*. In 1768, Miller renamed *Solanum nigrum* species as follows (*S. scarbum* Mill), *S.villosum* Mill, *S.rubrum* Mill, *S.luteum* Mill, *S.americanum* Mill (Gilmour, 1955).

John Gerald in 1957, described *Solanum Hortense* as *Solanum nigrum* which he also called it garden night shade and claimed it as a medicinal plant. He suggested that it was not poisonous but safe for use (Vorontsova & Knapp, 2016).

#### 2.5.1.1 Solanum nigrum (Black night shade)

Black nightshade, or *Solanum nigrum*, is a plant that may be found in practically all ethnic groups. It is referred to as managu by the Kenyan Kikuyu community. It is a perennial shrub that thrives in wooded environments and can reach lengths of 4 to 8 cm and heights of 40 to 130 cm (Matasyoh & Bosire, 2016). Numerous ethnic groups around the world include *Solanum nigrum* as a source of food, and it is also utilized as a medicinal plant. For instance, the flower's berries, roots, stems, and leaves are all utilized medicinally. Its main characteristics are purple –black berries and white flowers. However, in India, red berries characterize the plant (Nandhini *et al.*, 2014).

Few studies report that *Solanum nigrum* show ability to biosynthesize glycosylated alkaloids, flavonoids, steroids that are of therapeutic value. It presents various pharmacological activities like treatment of measles, cardiac pain, chronic fever, arthritis,

24

has anti-diarrheal, antibacterial and antipyretic effects among others (Jagatheeswari *et al.*, 2011; (Jain *et al.*, 2011; Muthuvel *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 1. Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) (Limuru, Kiambu county)

## 2.5.1.2 Economical use of Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum)

In Africa the most preferred vegetable includes *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) due to its accessibility and availability among the communities (Maseko *et al.*, 2018). It grows as a weed in most regions and its nutritional value is associated with its therapeutic effects. Previous studies indicate that boiling of *S. nigrum* for more than 20 minutes lowers 75-89% of ascorbic acid content, while boiling the leaves using six times of water for 15minutes reduces the ascorbic acid content by 70% loss. The fruits contain 1.2% ash, minerals (phosphorous and iron) and vitamins, 5.6% carbohydrates, 0.6% fat and 2.5% proteins (Paciulli *et al.*, 2017). *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) is known to have various therapeutic effects, for example previous studies indicate that the crude extract together with the isolated compounds have anti- proliferative activity on cancer cell lines.

Its antiproliferative activity was determined by examining its cytotoxicity and DNA fragmentation in treated cell (Nawaz *et al.*, 2021). Other studies indicated that *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extracts inhibits DNA damage against sarcoma cells in mice while the dried berries inhibited liver damage and compounds such as gallic acid, catechin, caffeic acid, epicatechin and narigenin possessed anti-oxidative activity (Guruvayoorappan *et al.*, 2015). The glycoproteins extracted from *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) linn blocked antiapoptotic pathway of NF-kappaB, hence increasing production of nitric oxide by activation of caspase cascade's reaction thus leading to anticancer abilities (El-Atroush, 2020). A study on sprague dawley rats showed that fruit extracts have anti-ulcerogenic effects by inhibiting gastric lessions. *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) showed inhibitory effects on H+K+ ATPase hence increasing it cardioprotective properties, it also showed to have hypoglycemic effects when oral glucose test was evaluated on diabetic mice (Atanu *et al.*, 2011; Mani *et al.*, 2022).

A polysaccharide from *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) known as SN-ppF3 has previously indicated to have anti-tumor effect by modulating the immune response of a person hence its ability in fighting cancer (Razali *et al.*, 2016). *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) is also known to have antipyretic and anti-inflammatory activities, this was shown by the decrease in edema induced in animal models (Jain *et al.*, 2011). In addition, *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) whole plant was used to test its activity against bacterial strains and the study concluded that it can be used to treat infectious diseases caused by resistant microorganism (Vijilvani *et al.*, 2020). On the other hand, fruit extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) significantly reduced defeacation frequency of diarrheal induced mice among others (Rani *et al.*, 2017).

#### 2.5.2 Secondary Metabolites of Solanaceae and their Biological properties

The compounds found in the genus *Solanum* include: 134 steroidal saponins, 63steroidal alkaloids, 72 flavonoids, 52 phenols, 66 sterols, 20 coumarins and coumestans, 13 pregnane glycosides, 128 terpenes, 31lignans, 312 types of alkaloids, 4 coumarinolignoids, 23 fattyacids and esters (Kaunda & Zhang, 2019).

### 2.5.1.1 Steroidal Saponins

Steroidal saponins are the most outstanding bioactive compound in the *Solanum* (Kaunda & Zhang, 2019). Of these, *S. torvum* was the most studied whose results obtained 32 saponins including chlogenone ( $5\alpha$ , 25S)- spirostan-3,6-dione, diosgenone, solanolactosides, torvosides from the fruits, leaves and the arterial part of the whole plant (Challal *et al.*, 2014).

Spirostane saponins were also isolated from *S. chrysotrichum* leaves while lyconosides were reported to be present in the fruits of *S. lycocarpum* among others (Mohan *et al.*, 2009). The *Solanum* saponins are reported to have various bioactivities such as anticancer, hepatoprotective, antimelanogenesis, antifungal, anti- inflammatory, anticonvulsant, cytotoxic and anti-viral properties (Banik *et al.*, 2020).



Inunigroside A (Ohno et al., 2012)



Diosgenin (Suthar et al., 2008)

## 2.5.1.2 Steroidal alkaloids

Studies show that sixty three steroidal alkaloids are present in the genus *Solanum* of these Solamargine is the major steroidal alkaloid component of the *Solanum* plant found in 18 species (Kaunda & Zhang, 2019). Steroidal alkaloids exhibited various bioactivities which include; antibacterial (Al-Rehaily *et al.*, 2013), antidiabetic, anti-inflammatory, CNS depressants (Jayanthy *et al.*, 2016; (Zhao *et al.*, 2018), spasmolytic, trypanocidal (Kaunda & Zhang, 2019) schistosomicidal (Alsherbiny *et al.*, 2018) among others.



Solamargine (Ding et al., 2013)



Solasodine (Suthar and Mulani 2008)

## 2.5.1.3 Pregnane Glycosides

Genus *Solanum* comprise of pregnane glycosides which are biosynthesized in small amounts from steroidal glycosides. Among the compounds isolated *S. nigrum* include; hypoglaucin H, Solanigrosides A and B (Zhou *et al.*, 2007). These compounds have demonstrated anticancer properties.



(Solanigroside A (Zhou et al., 2007)

## 2.5.1.4 Triterpenes

Among the triterpenes isolated from the *Solanum* spp., lupeol was the most dominant in several species such as *S. cathayanum*, *S. schimperianum*, (Patel *et al.*, 2018) *S. spirale*. The *Solanum* triterpenes have showed to have anticancer properties, for example they showed activity against oral cavity cancer (Keawsa-Ard *et al.*, 2012).



Lupeol (Corrêa et al., 2009)

Carbenoxolone (Xie et al., 2008)

## 2.5.1.5 Sesquiterpenes

Majority of these compounds were derived from the leaves and fruits of *S.lyratum* (Yao *et al.*, 2013) *S.erianthum* (Nie *et al.*, 2014) *S.septemlobum* and roots of *S.torvum* (Yuan *et al.*, 2016); Kaunda & Zhang, 2019). The bioactivities noted include; anticancer and antifungal activities.



Lyratol G (Nie et al., 2014)



Solajiangxin A (Yao et al., 2013)

## 2.5.1.6 Flavonoids

Seventy-two flavonoids that were isolated from the genus showed kaempferol and quercetin as the primary flavonoids (Vanaja *et al.*, 2014) (Examples of glycosylated flavonoids present include; afzelin, came 1-liaside C from *S. erianthum, astragalin, kaemferol* (Ramos & de Oliveira, 2017). These flavonoids have displayed various bioactivities which include, anti-cancer, antiviral, hepatoprotective, anti-depressants and cytotoxity effects against breast cancer cell lines (Kaunda & Zhang, 2019).



Quercetin (Magar & Sohng, 2020)

## 2.5.1.7 Sterols

The sterols obtained from the genus *Solanum* include; daucosterol, stigmasterol, clistol G, capesterol, and capsisteroid which have shown antiplasmodial, anticancer and antifungal activities (Petreanu *et al.*, 2016).



Nigralanostenone (Connolly & Hill, 2010)



Stigmasterol (Badawy et al., 2013)

## 2.5.1.8 Phenolic compounds

Phenolic compounds have showed antibacterial, antihypertentive, anticancer and antidiabetic activity (Elizalde-Romero *et al.*, 2021).





Protocatechuic acid (Wang et al., 2010)

Eugenol (Gong et al., 2016)

#### 2.6 Techniques of measuring obesity

There are different techniques often used to calculate and approximate fat distribution and body composition. These vary from the uncomplicated and useful anthropometric measurements as shown below.

#### 2.6.1 Body Mass Index (BMI)

The body mass index (BMI), which calculates weight in relation to height, is typically used to categorize adult obesity. It is defined as weight in kilogrammes divided by height squared in metres (kg/m2) (Organization, 2015b). Table 2.1 shows the BMI classification, developed based on the European international standards for adults.

## **Table 1: BMI Classification**

Classification	BMI	Remarks
Underweight	<18.5	
Normal range	18.5–24.9	Average
Overweight	Classification	
Pre-obese	25.0–29.9	Increased
Obese I	30.0-34.9	Moderate
Obese II	35.0–39.9	Severe
Obese III	≥40.0	Very severe

## 2.6.2 Waist – Hip ratio (WHR)

Waist to hip proportion is not only an obesity marker but also a possible indicator for other health conditions (Borel *et al.*, 2018). WHR is defined as abdominal obesity above 0.90 for males and 0.85 for females. It has been reported as a better predictor for cardiovascular disease; women and men with WHRs above 0.8 and 1.0 respectively have a greater health risk due to the distribution of fat. WHR = Waist circumference / Hip circumference (Bacopoulou *et al.*, 2015).

## 2.6.3 Air Displacement Plethysmography

This technique has been used for nearly a century in assessing human body composition. However, it had not been developed into a viable system until mid 1990's. In adults and children, air displacement plethysmography has confirmed its success for bodycomposition measurements. It is non-invasive, quick, comfortable and safe (Roggero *et*  *al.*, 2012). Displacement of Air Plethysmography is an indirect technique that estimates body density by measuring mass and volume in addition to tracking minute changes in fat mass and free fat mass. The ratio of body mass to volume yields an estimate of both fat and fat-free mass (Warolin *et al.*, 2012).

## 2.6.4 Biometric Impendance Analysis (BIA)

Bio-Impedance measures electrical signals as they pass through the water in the body, lean mass and fat. This method is quite simple and measures the entire water in the body, lean mass of individuals and fat mass. Although, it is not dependable compared with the gold standards of submerged weighing, BIA is of value in examining patient's improvement (Faria *et al.*, 2014; Khalil *et al.*, 2014). Bio-impedance testing involves introducing an alternating electrical current into the body and measuring the body's resistance to the current flow. Lean mass produces less resistance (impedance) than body fat (adipose tissue), which slows the current's flow (de-Mateo-Silleras *et al.*, 2019).

#### 2.6.5 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

This is an accurate tool for measuring organs, abdominal fat quantity and distribution (Hu *et al.*, 2011). It helps researchers to investigate the preventive and therapeutic measures against obesity and its comobidities. Magnetic resonance imaging is the most desired method for assessing body composition since it is non-invasive, safe, provides repeatable, unmatched 3-D visualization and also applicable to all subjects of all ages (McComb *et al.*, 2015). However, this method is relatively expensive and requires extensive analysis. The factors that influence MRI intensities include; spin density, tissue-specific, repetition time of the pulse sequence and flip angle (Hu *et al.*, 2011). Fat quantification can be done

using MRI imaging techniques. These comprise Dixon techniques and MR spectroscopy. These methods quantify bodily organ fat as well as fat in the skin and abdomen. In addition, it also measures ectopic fat accumulation, muscle fat infiltration and muscle volumes (Mitra *et al.*, 2017).

#### 2.6.6 Hydrodensitometry

Underwater weighing or hydrostatic body composition analysis is also known as hydrodensitometry (Kasper *et al.*, 2021). It is a technique for evaluating body mass per unit volume. It has been considered long enough as a gold standard for measuring body composition, however, it is expensive (Kasper *et al.*, 2021). By determining your body weight on land and underwater, the hydrostatic approach is used. Test administrators can determine your body density and body fat percentage using the difference between these two readings. Inversely, a comparatively heavy underwater weight suggests a reduced body fat proportion (Collier *et al.*, 2020).

## 2.7 Microbiome

Microorganism community in the body is known as microbiome, this name was coined by Joshua Lederberg a Laurete who described ecological community, pathogenic microorganism and commensal (Del Frari & Ferreira, 2021). The human body consists of hundreds of trillions ( $10^{14}$ ) of microbes thus out numbering the eukaryotic cells which are 60 trillion (Okeke *et al.*, 2014). These microorganisms are found in the gastro intestinal tract from mouth to rectum. However the largest colonization of microbes is mainly on the colon ( $10^{11}$ -  $10^{12}$ ) (Scotti *et al.*, 2017). Throughout the year's microorganisms have found ways of living in the body symbiotically assisting each other to survive. There are diverse kinds of microbiomes ecosystem these include; skin microbiome, urogenital, gastrointestinal, oral and each is either composed of viruses, bacteria and archea (Belizário *et al.*, 2018). Human microbiome in a given environment has impact on health and disease either through indirect mechanisms or through exposure to pathogenic or beneficial microorganism (Flandroy *et al.*, 2018). It is also unique to individuals and rapidly spread into the surrounding environment especially to persons sharing the same space. In addition there are factors that lead to its diversity this include; diet, antibiotic use, geography, psychological and physical health, culture among others (Lax *et al.*, 2015; Sharma *et al.*, 2019).

#### 2.7.1 Gut Microbiome

The Gut microbiome is classified to almost 1000 different species but to date only about 52 phyla have been identified, of these those that colonize the colon are 10 with only 2 phyla dominating (Shin *et al.*, 2015). Diverse microbial composition occurs just before birth and is normally transmitted from mother to child, this is evident through the meconium (Yassour *et al.*, 2018). The first 3 to 5 years of early childhood's, microbiota is similar to that of adults. A healthy human gut microbiome is dominated by either Firmicutes (Gram positive bacteria) or Bacteridetes (Gram negative bacteria), Actinobacteria (gram positive), Verrucomicrobia (Gram negative), proteobacteria (Gram negative) and Fusobacteria (Gram negative) (Kachrimanidou & Tsintarakis, 2020a; Doaa *et al.*, 2016; Wesonga *et al.*, 2016). The colon being the most predominated with the microbes have more than 90% of Bacteriodites such as (*prevotella* and *Bacteroides*) and Firmicutes such as (*Lactobacillus Clostridium, Enterococcus and, Ruminococcus*). The gut microbe's aim in the small intestine is to metabolize dietary fibers that cannot be processed by the available human enzymes (Arora & Sharma, 2011) while in the large

intestines microbes present include; *Lactobacillus, Actinobacteria (Bifidobacterium* spp) and clostridial clusters IV, XIVa. These microbiotas facilitate the fermentation process of dietary plant polysaccharide (fibers), indigestible oligosaccharides, intestinal mucin and non- digested proteins in order to produce short chain fatty acids such as butyrate propionate and acetate (Flint *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, the gut microbiota plays a role in the digestion of food as well as in the prevention of pathogen invasion by promoting colonization resistance, activating adaptive immunity, producing vitamin K and B, preserving intestinal epithelial integrity and homeostasis, and improving the function and motility of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). Bacteriodites break down non digestibles carbohydrates and glycans while Firmicutes especially of the genus *Clostridium* help in fermenting aminoacids and degrading polysaccharides (Flint *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.7.2 Oral Microbiome

One of the body's dynamic ecosystems is the oral cavity, previous studies indicate that it comprises of 50 -100 billion bacteria and almost 700 bacterial species have been identified through 16S RNA (Robinson *et al.*, 2010; Xu *et al.*, 2015). The oral microbiota of upto 80% comprise of 200 species of Proteobacteria, and Firmicutes along with Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria and Fusobacteria totaling to 95 % of all the mouth microbiota (Chen *et al.*, 2010; Xu *et al.*, 2015). Further diversity of microbiome is varied in the different parts of the mouth which include the gingiva, tooth surface, soft and hard palate and on the tongue (Xu *et al.*, 2015). Studies indicate that an overgrowth of specific microbiota is associated with systemic disease (Chen & Jiang, 2014) for example dental carries is associated with saccharolytic (sugar metabolizing bacteria) such as

*Lactobaccillus* and *Streptococcus* while proteolytic bacteria (protein metabolizing) such as *Pophyromonas* and *Prevotella* is associated with halitosis and periodontitis (Takahashi, 2015). Other factors that lead to increase in certain oral bacteria include; smoking (Morris *et al.*, 2013), cancer (Atanasova & Yilmaz, 2014) and artherosclerosis among others and hence leads to Pophyromonas gingivalis (Al Khodor *et al.*, 2017a).

Disease occurrence is mainly as a result of microbial dysbiosis. These explains why individuals are likely to incur more severe forms of illness than others. Dysbiosis is the change in structure and composition of human microbiota at a given site. Recent research have revealed that the microbiome, despite not having a cause and effect relationship with microbial stability and alignment, it is a major contributor to many diseases, particularly non-communicable diseases like diabetes (Dunne *et al.*, 2014), obesity (Bradlow, 2014), cardiovascular diseases (Dinakaran *et al.*, 2014), cancer (Rogers *et al.*, 2014), asthma, inflammatory bowel disease among others (Major & Spiller, 2014). Studies also show that metabolites from the microbiota cause chronic kidney disease, resulting in the diversity and richness of the microbiota.

## 2.8 Measurements used in Microbiome analysis

#### 2.8.1 Alpha diversity

Alpha diversity is a measure of the ecological community's evenness (the distribution of abundances among the groups) and richness (the number of taxonomic categories), or both. Alpha diversity is also defined as the variability of species within a habitat or intra community diversity, for example, a community with an even number of members from different species will have a higher evenness index, whereas a community with fewer species overall will have a lower evenness index (Willis, 2019). There are many factors

that affect the alpha diversity of a community, these include; change in diet, age, temperature, time, biogeochemical conditions, pathogen infection, anthropometric factors among others (Willis *et al.*, 2017). The first approach in assessing the differences in microorganisms between environments was done through amplicon sequencing analysis. Alpha diversity occurs when you compare environments to identify differences in microbial taxa. The overall number of species present in the community is known as richness index (Thukral, 2017).

In microbial studies one is interested in various aspect of diversity which include; relative abundance, species evenness and species richness. Relative abundance describes the commonness or rareness a specie is relative to another while specie evenness describes the equality of abundant species in an environment. Specie richness describes how many unique species are present in an environment. In this study, the gut microbiota is typically characterized by the dominance of the phylum campylobacter. This makes species evenness an important tool to look at when considering alpha diversity. There are different types of diversity indices; these include information statistics and dominance indices. Information statistics assumes that the species are detected and randomly sampled, it combines both evenness and richness in a single measure. This measure could be a bit problematic since it makes it difficult to determine the source of differences either in richness or diversity. An example of information statistics includes Shannon diversity. Dominance indices are weighted according to abundance for reducing the effect of rare species with few representatives on the diversity score.

#### **2.8.2 Diversity Indices**

There are different indices used in diversity analysis which include; Shannon- Weaver and Simpson diversity. These diversity indices give more inference about the composition of the community rather than the richness or evenness of the species (Kim *et al.*, 2017). The Shannon weaver index gauges the average level of uncertainty in classifying a randomly selected species. The value increases as the distribution of individuals among the species become even and as the number of species increase. On the other hand, Simpson index indicates dominance in species and reflects the probability of two individuals which belong to the same species being randomly chosen (Morris *et al.*, 2014). Shannon index increases from 0-1 and is inversely proportional to the diversity, however, Simpson index ranges from 0-1 but the higher the value the greater the diversity (Hossain *et al.*, 2017; Lemos *et al.*, 2011).

#### 2.8.3 Beta Diversity

The measurement of specie composition variation between samples is called beta diversity (Han *et al.*, 2018). It is a simple ratio between gamma and alpha diversities. There are a lot of dissimilarities or ecological distances for measuring the closeness of two microbial compositions (Faust *et al.*, 2012). Comparing the variations in therapy between samples is one of the objectives of this research. It is a common method for comparing communities and is also used to compute the distance between all samples (Hugerth & Andersson, 2017). The true measure of distance is called metric and for it to be a true metric it has to fulfill three requirements which include; symmetry, should satisfy the triangular inequality condition and the distance should be the same independent of the directionality measure. For example; in microbial communities

dissimilarities between community A and B plus dissimilarities between community A and C is not necessarily greater than between communities B and C (Greenacre & Primicerio, 2013). Two common dissimilarity measures used for microbial study include Bray Curtis and Unifrac (Bray & Curtis, 1957; Lozupone *et al.*, 2012). These measures do not require equal variances thus their transformation to proportions is considered more suitable. In this study Bray Curtis was used for beta diversity and Simpson measure.

## **CHAPTER THREE**

# ANTI- OBESITY EFFECTS OF DICHLOROMETHANE - METHANOL LEAF EXTRACT of *Solanum nigrum* IN HIGH –FAT FED RATS

#### Abstract

*Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) biosynthesizes various phytochemical compounds which are known to have various pharmacological activities that treat diabetes type 2, cardiovascular diseases among other metabolic diseases.

#### **Materials and Methods**

To assess the anti-obesity effects of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) on high-fat-fed diet rats, Sprague Dawley male rats (n=35) of weights 160-180g were assigned randomly into seven groups comprising n=5 rats each. Each group was fed for 11 weeks as follows: normal control (normal chow rat feed); high-fat diet control (HFD); HFD and standard drug (Orlistat 30mg/kg bw); HFD and methanolic extract 150mg/kgbw; HFD and methanolic extract 150mg/kgbw; HFD and dichloromethane extract 300mg/kgbw; HFD and dichloromethane extract 150mg/kgbw; HFD and dichloromethane extract 150mg/kgbw; HFD on the final day of the laboratory work, adipose tissue, liver weights, lipid profiles, liver function tests, and a phytochemical analysis of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) were performed.

#### Results

There was a significant increase in body mass index (BMI) of high-fat diet control group compared to rats administered with leaf extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) which showed a reduction in BMI. Both low dose of dichloromethane (150mg/kgbw) and

high dose of methanol extracts (300mg/kgbw) showed a better reduction in BMI than the other methanolic and dichloromethane treatment groups. A significant decrease (p <0.05) on cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol and triglycerides was observed among the rats administered with *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extracts compared to those of HFD control. Moreover, the HFD negative control group significantly increased adipose tissue and liver weights compared to the normal control, positive control and DCM- methanol treatments groups (p<0.05). On the other hand, *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) also normalized the hepatic enzymes and decreased glycemic levels of DCM- methanolic treatment groups. However, food intake among the groups showed no significant difference (p>0.05). Qualitative analysis of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) leave extracts indicated the presence of flavonoids, alkaloids, saponins, steroids and phenols bioactive compounds which are associated with anti-obesity.

**Conclusion:** These results validate the use of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) in the controlling of obesity.

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Obesity is the phenotypic appearance of abnormal fat buildup in the adipose tissue that alters the health of an individual hence causing an increase in morbidity and mortality (Zhou *et al.*, 2021). It is linked with various contra indications such as cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, chronic morbidities such as stroke, sleep apnea, osteoarthritis, hypertension among others (De Lorenzo *et al.*, 2019). The adipose tissue phenotype in obesity is regulated by genes, diet, or both. Obese persons are either hyperplasia (many small adipocytes) or hypertrophy (Few large adipocyte) and both lead to adipose tissue expansion (Vishvanath & Gupta, 2019). Previous research studies have indicated that hypertrophy correlates with diet while hyperplasia is mainly genetics.

In hypertrophy the adipocytes outgrow in size, reaching non- physiological limits thus are incapable of functioning as energy storing organ, develops apoptosis and changes their endocrine function by becoming resistant to insulin (Rescan *et al.*, 2017). Resistance to insulin is as a result of ectopic translocation of free fatty acids and adipose tissue inflammation. The excess fat shifts to the non-adipose tissues where they employ toxicity leading to dysfunctioning organs. These organs encompass liver,  $\beta$  cells of the pancreas, skeletal muscles and heart. Lipid toxicity is caused by fat oxidation impairment in tissues where free fatty acids enter skeletal muscles increasing triglyceride content and reducing glucose uptake. Since it's entirely dependent on insulin, it requires insulin receptors a phosphorylative cascade and Glut- 4 transporters (Ahmad *et al.*, 2021). Glucose is taken up by liver, where it is stored in form of glycogen and TG, it is then catabolized to free fatty acid thus releasing glucose when required (Malone & Hansen, 2019). Increase in TG levels leads to slight increment in TC and a decrease in HDL-c. Furthermore, hepatic

lipase metabolizes the low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-c) abundant in TG converting it to small LDL-c hence promoting dyslipidemia (Toth, 2016).

Recent global approach to obesity are focusing on modifying lifestyle and diet of individuals by restricting calorie intake, reducing physical inactivity and increasing the consumption of natural products that have been proven to have compounds, that have health benefits and can prevent disease. Multiple combination of compounds has synergistic effects that would increase their bioavailability and actions on various molecular targets hence offering benefit over standard drugs (Mohamed *et al.*, 2014b). These compounds are mediated by regulation of various pathways that include; decreased lipogenesis, lipid absorption, differentiation and proliferation of pre-adipocytes, and consumption and increase in expenditure of energy (Ahmad *et al.*, 2021).

In this chapter anti-obesity effects of DCM- methanolic extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) was determined in high fat fed diet rats.

#### **3.2 Methodology**

#### **3.2.1 Collection and Preparation of Plant Materials**

Fresh leaves that were sixty days old were collected from limuru subcounty (-1.115365, 36.659386) Kiambu County. The leaves were carried to the University of Nairobi's biological science department herbarium in plastic bags for plant identification and validation by a recognized taxonomist, and the voucher specimen was deposited there as well (Voucher specimen number (KWNUON2019/001). The leaf samples were then spread to dry under a shade and later grounded into powder using an electric mill. The resulting 2.5 kg of powdered material were then stored at room temperature away from direct sunlight in dry plastic containers ready for extraction.

## 3.2.2 Extraction of Phytochemicals

Extraction was done in Chemistry Department Laboratories at the University of Nairobi using the protocol by (Shalini & Sampathkumar, 2012). The ground plant material was first immersed in 100 percent hexane for 24 hours, then in 100 percent dichloromethane (DCM) for 24 hours, filtered, and immersed again for another 24 hours, and finally in 100 percent methanol at room temperature for 24 hours, followed by another 24 hours of immersion, respectively.

Hexane, dichloromethane and methanol solvents filtrates were filtered using whatman number 1 filter paper and later concentration done by rotary evaporation at 68°C, 39°C, 64°C respectively according to their boiling points. In preparation for the bioassay, the concentrate was weighed and stored at 4°C.

#### **3.3 Experimental Design**

#### 3.3.1 Laboratory Animals

A total of 35 male Sprague dawley rats weighing 160 - 180g were purchased from vet laboratories Kabete and transported to the University of Nairobi Biochemistry department animal house. The rats were kept for one week in standard cages at normal laboratory conditions  $(25\pm 2^{\circ}C, 12 \text{ h} \text{ light} \text{ and } 12 \text{ h} \text{ dark cycle})$  before the start of the experiment in order to acclimatize. The rats were given the standard pellet and supplied with water ad libitum. Guidelines by institutional review committee (IRC) of Institute of primate research on animal models were followed ISERC/06/19.

#### 3.3.2 Induction of Obesity

To induce obesity, rats in group II-VII were fed on high-fat diet every day for eleven weeks. The high fat diet (HFD) was prepared by addition of 30 g of fat (Seagull\* frying fat, Kapa oil refineries, Kenya) to 100 g of rat chow pellets (Fat: 10%, Protein: 20% and Carbohydrate: 70%) (Unga Feeds Limited, Nairobi). To improve the palatability of HFD 0.8% of monosodium glutamate (MSG) (Oshwal Flavours Limited, Nairobi, Kenya) was added. This was done by heating the mixture for 20 minutes with constant mixing to absorb the fat into the feed (Mutiso *et al.*, 2014).

#### **3.3.3 Biological Assay**

The male Sprague dawley rats were randomized into groups of five rats each as follows: Group I (normal control), Group II (negative control) was induced obesity with (HF-Research diets) and was given oral administration of water (0.1 ml/rat). Group III (positive control) was induced obesity (HF research diet) and received standard drug orlistat at a dose of 30mg/kgbw, Groups IV to VII (experimental groups) were induced obesity (HF- research diet) and received DCM dose extracts of *S. nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) and Methanol dose extracts of *S. nigrum* at 150 mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw respectively. To determine the dose extract, a pilot investigation was previously carried out.



Figure 2: Experimental groups

#### **3.3.4 Body Mass Index Determination**

To measure the body mass index of rats. The rat lengths (naso-anal length) and weights were examined every week for 11 weeks using a ruler and an electronic balance respectively. To verify the rats body mass index; Lee index was calculated, as follows:

Lee index BMI = 
$$\binom{\sqrt[8]{Body weight}}{Nasal - anal length (cm)} \times 1000$$

Rats with lee index  $\geq$  310 mass index were considered obese (Lee, 1929).

#### **3.3.5 Food Consumption Determination**

Food consumption was measured daily during the experimental period. The animals were given 150g of rat chow per cage in the morning and the food remaining weighed after 24 hours before the administration of the extract (Arika *et al.*, 2019b).

#### 3.3.6 Oral Glucose Tolerance Test

Oral glucose tolerance test was determined on week five and week ten of the experimental period using a glucometer (onco-plus). The animals were fasted overnight (12h) prior to the test and blood samples obtained by snipping the lateral tail vein of the rat (Chege *et al.*, 2019). To minimize pain Lidocaine was applied on the tail prior to the procedure (Lee & Goosens, 2015). The blood sugar was assessed using a glucometer at baseline and immediately a loading dose of glucose (2g/kgbw) was administered to each rat by oral gavage. The blood glucose samples were then collected at 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes after oral administration of the loading dose of glucose. Areas under the curve (AUCs) were then calculated (Chege *et al.*, 2019).

## **3.3.7 Serum Sample Preparation**

The rats were put to death using carbon dioxide on the 77th day to ease their suffering during sacrifice. The animals were then dissected by removing the fur in order to draw blood from the cardiac puncture. The Blood samples (5mls) were then transferred into plain micro vacutainer tubes and centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 15 minutes for serum collection. The serum collected was used for biochemical analysis.

#### **3.3.8 Biochemical Assays**

Biochemical parameters including low density lipoprotein (LDL-c), triglycerides, high density lipoprotein (HDL-c), total cholesterol, Alanine amino transferase (ALT), Gamma glutamyl transferase (GGT), Alkaline phosphatase (ALP) and were determined using automated biochemical analyser (Olympus 640) according to the standard operating procedures (Sops) written and maintained in the department of laboratory medicine, Kenyatta National Hospital (Arika *et al.*, 2019a). Values of Alanine amino transferase above 55 IU/L, alkaline phosphatase above 260 IU/L and Values of Gamma-glutamyl transferase above 40 IU/L were considered abnormal.

#### 3.3.9 Liver and Adipose Tissue Excision

After euthanization the liver and the adipose tissue were excised and weighed using a weighing scale of (WANT Balance Instrument Co. Ltd, China).

## **3.3.10** Qualitative Phytochemical Screening

A qualitative phytochemical screening was performed on the crude extract to determine whether or not bioactive chemicals were present. The secondary metabolites included flavonoids, alkaloids, steroids, saponins, diterpenes, tannins, phenolics, terpenoids and anthroquinones.

#### 3.3.10.1 Terpenoids (Salkolski Test)

A gram of each extract was mixed with 2ml of chloroform and 1ml petroleum ether /1ml of ethyl acetate. Three milliliters (3ml) of concentrated sulphuric acid was added alongside to form a layer. Reddish brown coloration indicated presence of terpernoids (Zunjar, 2017).

#### **3.3.10.2** Saponins (Froth test)

A test tube containing one gram of extract was filled drop by drop with two milliliters of distilled water and two milliliters of sodium bicarbonate solution. The mixture was agitated, and 15 minutes of foaming revealed the presence of saponins (Akinpelu *et al.*, 2014).

## 3.3.10.3 Anthroquinones

For a few minutes, one gram of the extract was boiled in 10% HCL in a water bath. It was then filtered, chilled, and the filtrate heated following dropwise additions of 1 ml of 10% ammonia and 1 ml of chloroform. The presence of anthraquiones was indicated by the rose pink coloration (Tiwari *et al.*, 2016).

## 3.3.10.4 Flavonoids (Sodium Hydroxide Test)

Two milliliters of diluted sodium hydroxide were added to one gram of extract. Goldenyellow precipitate showed flavonoids were present (Tongco *et al.*, 2014).

### 3.3.10.5 Steroids

A layer was created by dissolving one gram of leaf extract in two milliliters of chloroform and then adding three milliliters of concentrated sulfuric acid to the test tube's sidewalls. Reddish brown color meant presence of steroids (Dhawan & Gupta, 2017).

## 3.3.10.6 Phenols

One milliliter of ferric chloride solution was mixed with 1 gram of each extract. The presence of phenols was identified by a blue to green color formation (Jaradat *et al.*, 2015).

## **3.3.10.7 Tanninns**

Two drops of 5% iron chloride and one milliliter of distilled water were added to one gram of extract. Tannin was indicated by the presence of blue-black pigment (Mailoa *et al.*, 2014).

#### 3.3.10.8 Diterpenes

A gram of extract was dissolved in water and later three drops of copper sulphate solution added. Presence of diterpenes was determined after the color changed from blue to emerald green (Osama & Awdelkarim, 2015).

## **3.3.10.9 Data and Statistical Analysis**

Experimental data on organ weight, body mass index, glucose levels, food consumption and biochemical analysis was tabulated/organized on Microsoft Excel spread sheets for statistical analysis. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and a post hoc Tukey test was used to determine whether there are significant differences between the treatment groups values of  $p \le 0.05$  were considered significant.

#### **3.4 Results**

## **3.4.1 Body Mass Index**

The methanolic leaf extracts of Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) caused significant decrease in the body mass index (BMI) of high fat fed rats (HFD) (Table 2). The rats treated with methanol extracts dose of 150mg/kg/bw had a non-significant decrease in BMI compared to the normal control (placebo) at week 3-9(302.30 - 303.54) (p>0.05) but showed a significant decrease at week 11 (301.50) (p < 0.05). However, the rats administered with methanol extracts dose of 300mg/kgbw had a significant decrease in body mass index with the normal control (placebo) at week 5-11 (298.70 - 295.16) (p<0.05). The body mass index of rats administered with extracts at a dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw had a similar trend with that of rats treated with orlistat (positive control). Moreover, BMI for the rats treated with methanol extracts dose of 150mg/kg/bw and 300mg/kgbw were nonsignificantly different with the rats treated with orlistat (positive control) at week 5-11(301.33 - 298.20) (p>0.05). The rats treated with methanol extract dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw had a significant decrease in BMI compared to the rats on high fat diet (negative control) at week 5-11(308.57 -313.08) (p<0.05).

The dichloromethane (DCM) *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) leaf extracts also caused significant changes in the BMI of high fat fed rats. The BMI of dichloromethane leaf extracts dose of 150mg/kgbw showed a significant decrease in BMI compared to the normal control (placebo) at week 5-11 (301.87- 297.84) (p>0.05). However, the BMI of rats treated with DCM extracts dose of 300mg/kgbw showed a significant decrease compared to normal control (placebo) at week 5-11 (305.37-298.85) (p<0.05). The BMI of rats administered DCM extracts dose of 150mg/kgbw showed a similar trend with that

of rats administered orlistat drug (positive control) and were nonsignificantly different at week 3, 5, 9 and 11(p>0.05). However, there was a significant decrease in BMI of rats administered 150mg/kgbw compared to the high fat fed rats (negative control) at week 5-11 (308.57-313.08) (p<0.05). The body mass index of rats administered DCM extract dose of 300mg/kgbw showed an nonsignificant increase in BMI compared to the normal control at week 3-7 (300.37-304.25) (p>0.05), but showed a significant decrease at week 9-11 (304.59 -304.68) (p<0.05). The body mass index of rats treated with DCM extract dose of 300mg/kgbw showed a significant increase in BMI compared to the positive control at week 3-9 (301.28- 300.03) (p<0.05). The body mass index of rats administered with DCM extract dose of 300mg/kgbw showed a significant increase in BMI compared to the positive control at week 3-9 (301.28- 300.03) (p<0.05). The body mass index of rats reated with DCM extract dose of 300mg/kgbw showed a significant increase in BMI compared to the positive control at week 3-9 (301.28- 300.03) (p<0.05). The body mass index of rats administered with DCM extracts dose of 300mg/kgbw showed a significant decrease in BMI when compared to the high fat fed rats (negative control) at week 5-11(308.57-313.08) (p<0.05).



Figure 3: The group administered with dose extract of 300mg/kgbw. MeoH reduced the BMI better than the other experimental groups compared to the negative control

Treatment	Week 1	Week 3	Week 5	Week 7	Week 9	Week 11
Normal control	$298.89 \pm 0.52^{a}$	$300.37 \pm 0.38^{\circ}$	301.67±0.40°	$304.25 \pm 0.43^{b}$	$304.59 \pm 0.34^{b}$	304.68 ±0.19 <sup>b</sup>
Positive control						
(orlistat 30mg/kgbw)	$298.54{\pm}0.80^a$	301.28±0.42 <sup>c</sup>	301.33±0.57 <sup>c</sup>	$301.49 \pm 0.42^{c}$	$300.03{\pm}0.26^d$	$298.20{\pm}0.74^d$
Negative control	298.81±0.60 <sup>a</sup>	$304.18 {\pm} 0.61^{ab}$	$308.57{\pm}0.42^{a}$	311.62±0.43 <sup>a</sup>	$313.24{\pm}0.46^{a}$	313.08±0.17 <sup>a</sup>
150mg/kgbw. MeoH	298.41±0.71 <sup>a</sup>	302.30±0.52 <sup>abc</sup>	$303.41 \pm 0.32^{bc}$	$304.01 \pm 0.20^{b}$	$303.54{\pm}0.46^{bc}$	301.5±0.26 <sup>c</sup>
300mg/kgbw. MeoH	298.71±0.59 <sup>a</sup>	$301.92 \pm 0.56^{bc}$	$298.70{\pm}0.71^{d}$	$297.36{\pm}0.42^{d}$	296.33±0.20 <sup>e</sup>	295.16±0.31e
300mg/kgbw. DCM	$299.14{\pm}0.57^{a}$	$304.52 \pm 0.79^{a}$	$305.37{\pm}0.47^{b}$	$304.68 \pm 0.47^{b}$	302.04±0.23 <sup>c</sup>	$298.85{\pm}0.20^d$
150mg/kgbw. DCM	299.63±0.59 <sup>a</sup>	302.18±0.3 <sup>abc</sup>	301.87±0.22 <sup>c</sup>	$298.74{\pm}0.14^{d}$	$298.66{\pm}0.34^d$	$297.84{\pm}0.43^d$

 Table 2: Effects of Methanol and Dichloromethane leaf extracts of Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) on body mass index on high fat fed rats

Values expressed as Mean  $\pm$  SEM for five animals per group. Statistical comparison was made within a column and values with the same superscript letter are not significantly different by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test(p>0.05).
#### **3.4.2 Oral glucose tolerance test**

The methanolic and DCM leaf extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp villosum) showed effects on glucose levels on high fat fed rats. The oral glucose test at week 5 showed no significance changes at 0 mins among the groups (p>0.05; Table 3a; Fig 4a) but showed significance difference at 120mins (p<0.05; Table 3a; Fig 4a). However, at week 5 the rats did not indicate glucose intolerance. Table 3b shows glucose tolerance test at week 10, the results show that there was a significant change in glucose levels as shown on Table 3b. The glucose level of rats on high fat diet (negative control) were significantly higher than all the treatment groups, normal control and rats treated with orlistat (Positive control) (p < 0.05; Table 3b; Fig 4b). The results also showed a significance decrease in glucose levels on normal control and rats treated with orlistat (positive control) compared to the negative control (p<0.05; Table 3b; Fig 4b). Moreover, at min 30 there was a significant change between the normal control and the rats administered 300mg/kgbw.M, 150mg/kg. D and 300mg/kg. D (p<0.05; Table 3b; Fig 4b). There was also a significant decrease in glucose levels of rats given methanolic extracts dose of 150mg/kgbw when compared to the rats on high fat diet (negative control). At min 60 there was a significant decrease on glucose levels between rats administered with methanolic extracts dose of 300mg/kgbw compared to negative control (p<0.05; Table 3b; Fig 4b) and a nonsignificant change on the other groups (p>0.05; Table 3b; Fig 4b). However, at min 90 and 120 the rats on high fat diet (negative control) had a significant increase in glucose levels compared to the normal control, positive control and rats administered with methanolic and DCM extracts (p<0.05; Table 3b; Fig 4b).

Treatment	0 min	30	60	90	120
Normal control	$3.98 \pm 0.48^{a}$	$6.66 \pm 0.56^{b}$	$5.38 \pm 0.35^{b}$	$4.76 \pm 0.25^{a}$	$4.42 \pm 0.19^{b}$
Positive control	3.74±0.32 <sup>a</sup>	$8.6 \pm 0.43^{a}$	7.76±0.61 <sup>a</sup>	$5.7{\pm}0.45^{a}$	4.76±0.17 <sup>ab</sup>
Negative control	4.28±0.33 <sup>a</sup>	$7.96{\pm}0.5^{ab}$	$7.52 \pm 0.14^{a}$	$6.04{\pm}0.36^{a}$	$5.38\pm0.32^{ab}$
150mg/kgbw.MeoH	4.6±0.49 <sup>a</sup>	7.16±0.23 <sup>ab</sup>	$7.44{\pm}0.16^{a}$	$6.16 \pm 0.44^{a}$	$5.74{\pm}0.35^a$
300mg/kgbw.MeoH	4.88±0.24 <sup>a</sup>	$6.68 \pm 0.30^{b}$	$6.88{\pm}0.35^{ab}$	$5.34{\pm}0.27^{a}$	$5.76 \pm 0.22^{a}$
300mg/kgbw.DCM	$4.5 \pm 0.44^{a}$	$6.78 \pm 0.13^{b}$	$6.52{\pm}0.24^{ab}$	$5.34{\pm}0.27^{a}$	$4.94{\pm}0.16^{ab}$
150mg/kgbw.DCM	5.5±0.31 <sup>a</sup>	6.9±0.30 <sup>ab</sup>	$6.92{\pm}0.77^{ab}$	$6.05 \pm 0.27^{a}$	5.95±0.35 <sup>a</sup>

 Table 3a: Glucose tolerance test (Week 5)

Glucose values expressed as Mean  $\pm$  SEM for five animals per group at minute 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 on week 5 of the different experimental groups. Bars with a similar superscript letter are not significantly different by oneway ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc test (P  $\ge$  0.05)

Treatment	0 min	30	60	90	120
Normal control	4.12±0.22 <sup>b</sup>	5.66±0.13°	6.14±0.19 <sup>ab</sup>	$5.72 \pm 0.40^{b}$	$5.62 \pm 0.43^{b}$
positive Control	$4.16 \pm 0.08^{b}$	6.46±0.17 <sup>bc</sup>	$6.84{\pm}0.40^{ab}$	$5.78 \pm 0.63^{b}$	$5.42{\pm}0.58^{b}$
Negative control	$5.1{\pm}0.28^{a}$	$8.32 \pm 0.20^{a}$	$7.8 \pm 0.60^{a}$	$7.82 \pm 0.44^{a}$	$7.26{\pm}0.27^{a}$
150mg/kgbw.MeoH	$4.54{\pm}0.27^{ab}$	$6.9 \pm 0.18^{bc}$	$6.58{\pm}0.35^{ab}$	6.12±0.33 <sup>ab</sup>	$5.78 {\pm} 0.31^{b}$
300mg/kgbw.MeoH	$4.7{\pm}0.03^{ab}$	$7.34{\pm}0.34^{ab}$	$5.74{\pm}0.15^{b}$	$5.56 \pm 0.21^{b}$	$5.30{\pm}0.10^{b}$
300mg/kgbw.DCM	$4.74{\pm}0.10^{ab}$	$7.24{\pm}0.48^{ab}$	$6.2\pm0.39^{ab}$	$6.0\pm0.22^{b}$	$5.42 \pm 0.13^{b}$
150mg/kgbw.DCM	$4.64{\pm}0.18^{ab}$	$7.08 {\pm} 0.35^{ab}$	$6.18 \pm 0.53^{ab}$	$5.54{\pm}0.26^{b}$	$5.52{\pm}0.17^{b}$

Table 3b: Glucose tolerance test week 10

Glucose values expressed as Mean  $\pm$  SEM for five animals per group at minute 0, 30, 60, 90 and 120 on week 10 of the different experimental groups. Bars with a similar superscript letter are not significantly different by one -way ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc test (P  $\ge$  0.05)

Week 5 OGTT Measurements



Figure 4a: Glucose levels at week 5

#### Week 10 OGTT Measurements



Figure 4b: Glucose levels at week 10

#### 3.4.3 Lipid profiles

Table 4 shows the effects of methanolic and dichloromethane leaf extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) on total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG), high density lipoprotein (HDL-c) and low-density lipoprotein (LDL-c) on high fat fed rats. The rats treated with the methanolic extract dose of 150mg/kg/bw exhibihited a non-significant decrease in TC, HDL-c and LDL-c compared to normal control but showed a non-significant increase in TG compared to normal control (p>0.05; Table 4). However, rats administered methanolic extract dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw exhibited a significant decrease in HDL-c compared to the rats treated with orlistat (positive control) (p<0.05; Table 4) and had a non- significant difference in TC, TG and LDL-c compared to the rats treated with orlistat (positive control) (p>0.05; Table 4). The rats administered methanolic extracts dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw showed a non-significant decrease in TC, TG and LDL-c compared to high fat fed rats (negative control) (p>0.05; Table 4).

Rats treated with dichloromethane *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extracts at a dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw showed a non-significant decrease in TC and a non-significant increase in TG, HDL-c and LDL-c compared to the normal control (p>0.05; Table 4). Furthermore, there was a non-significant difference in TC, TG, HDL-c and LDL-c in rats treated with DCM extracts dose of 150mg/kg/bw and 300mg/kgbw compared to rats treated with orlistat (positive control) (p>0.05; Table 4). The rats treated with extracts dose of 150mg/kg/bw had a significant decrease in TG compared to high fat fed rats (negative control) (p<0.05; Table 4) a non-significant

decrease in TC and LDL-c and a non-significant increase in HDL-c (p>0.05; Table 4). Methanolic extracts dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw showed a non-significant decrease in TC, TG and LDL-c compared to high fat fed rats (negative control) (p>0.05; Table 4).

Rats treated with dichloromethane Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) extracts at a dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw showed a non-significant decrease in TC and a nonsignificant increase in TG, HDL-c and LDL-c compared to the normal control (p>0.05; Table 4). Furthermore, there was a non-significant difference in TC, TG, HDL-c and LDL-c in rats treated with DCM extracts dose of 150mg/kg/bw and 300mg/kgbw compared to rats treated with orlistat (positive control) (p>0.05; Table 4). The rats treated with extracts dose of 150mg/kg/bw and 300mg/kgbw had a significant decrease in TG compared to high fat fed rats (negative control) (p<0.05; Table 4) a non-significant decrease in TC and LDL-c and a non-significant increase in HDL-c (p>0.05; Table 4) methanolic extracts dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw showed a non-significant decrease in TC, TG and LDL-c compared to high fat fed rats (negative control) (p>0.05; Table 4). Rats treated with dichloromethane Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) extracts at a dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw showed a non-significant decrease in TC and a non-significant increase in TG, HDL-c and LDL-c compared to the normal control (p>0.05; Table 4). Furthermore, there was a non-significant difference in TC, TG, HDL-c and LDL-c in rats treated with DCM extracts dose of 150mg/kg/bw and 300mg/kgbw compared to rats treated with orlistat (positive control) (p>0.05; Table 4). The rats treated with extracts dose of 150mg/kg/bw and 300mg/kgbw had a significant decrease in TG compared to high fat fed rats (negative control) (p<0.05; Table 4) a non-significant decrease in TC and LDL-c and a non-significant increase in HDL-c (p>0.05; Table 4). Methanolic extracts dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw showed a non-significant decrease in TC, TG and LDL-c compared to high fat fed rats (negative control) (p>0.05; Table 4).

Rats treated with dichloromethane Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) extracts at a dose of 150mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw showed a non-significant decrease in TC and a nonsignificant increase in TG, HDL-c and LDL-c compared to the normal control (p>0.05; Table 4). Furthermore, there was a non-significant difference in TC, TG, HDL-c and LDL-c in rats treated with DCM extracts dose of 150mg/kg/bw and 300mg/kgbw compared to rats treated with orlistat (positive control) (p>0.05; Table 4). The rats treated with extracts dose of 150mg/kg/bw and 300mg/kgbw had a significant decrease in TG compared to high fat fed rats (negative control) (p<0.05; Table 4) a non-significant decrease in TC LDL-c non-significant and and а increase in HDL-c (p>0.05; Table 4, Fig 5).

Treatment	TC	TG	HDL-c	LDL-c
Normal control	$2.02 \pm 0.04^{a}$	$1.29 \pm 0.07^{b}$	$0.548 \pm 0.01^{b}$	0.51±0.17 <sup>b</sup>
Positive Control	$2.04 \pm 0.09^{a}$	$1.57 \pm 0.11^{b}$	$0.76 \pm 0.03^{a}$	$0.48 \pm 0.08^{b}$
Negative Control	$2.33 \pm 0.04^{a}$	$3.13 \pm 0.36^{a}$	$0.42 \pm 0.03^{c}$	$0.98 \pm 0.05^{a}$
150mg/kgbw.MeoH	$1.89{\pm}0.16^{a}$	$2.32{\pm}0.38^{ab}$	$0.54 \pm 0.02^{b}$	$0.47 \pm 0.15^{b}$
300mg/kgbw.MeoH	$1.81{\pm}0.04^{a}$	$2.06\pm0.21^{ab}$	$0.56 {\pm} 0.02^{b}$	$0.46 \pm 0.08^{b}$
300mg/kgbw.DCM	$1.84{\pm}0.24^{a}$	$1.52 \pm 0.52^{b}$	$0.57{\pm}0.05^{b}$	$0.59{\pm}0.11^{b}$
150mg/kgbw.DCM	1.76±0.11 <sup>a</sup>	$1.64 \pm 0.09^{b}$	$0.55 {\pm} 0.03^{b}$	$0.59 \pm 0.1^{b}$

Table 4: Effects of Methanol and Dichloromethane extracts of Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) on Lipid profiles

Mean values of Total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG), high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c) and low density lipoprotein cholesterol(LDL-c) the different experimental groups. Bars with a similar letter are not significantly different by one-way ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc (p>0.05).



Figure 5: Mean values of TC, TG, HDL-c and LDL-c of the different experimental groups. Bars with a similar letter are not significantly different by one-way ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc (p>0.05).

#### **3.4.4 Food Consumption**

The results showed that the average food intake per day in a week was almost similar in all the groups except for rats administered methanolic extract dose of 150mg/kgbw, which showed a high food intake on week 6 compared to the other groups (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Food consumption rate of the different experimental groups per week

#### 3.4.5 Adipose tissue and Liver weight

Fig 9 shows the effects of methanol and dichloromethane leaf extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) on adipose tissue and liver weights. There was a significance difference on adipose tissue weights and liver weight on rats administered with high fat diet compared to other treatments (p<0.05, Fig 7).



Figure 7: Mean weights of Adipose tissue and Liver of the different experimental groups. Bars with similar letter at the same tissue are not significantly different by one-way ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc (p>0.05).

## **3.4.6** Effects of Methanol and Dichloromethane leaf extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) on ALT, ALP and GGT of high fat fed rats

Table 5 shows the effects of methanol and dichloromethane leaf extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) on alanine amino transferase (ALT) alkaline phosphatase (ALP) and gamma glutamyl transferase (GGT). The rats on high fat diet (negative control) indicated a significant increase on ALT, GGT and ALP compared to the other treatment groups.

Table 5: Effects of Methanol and Dichloromethane leaf extracts of Solanum nigrum(Subsp villosum) on ALT, ALP and GGT of high fat rats.

Treatment	ALT	ALP	GGT
Normal control	25.07±2.23 <sup>b</sup>	152±18.6 <sup>b</sup>	5.75±1.03 <sup>a</sup>
Positive control (orlistat			
30mg/kgbw)	$31.13 \pm 3.77^{b}$	$240{\pm}7.56^{b}$	$4.25 \pm 0.25^{a}$
Negative control	$93.9 \pm 3.8^{a}$	692±191 <sup>a</sup>	$64.8 \pm 43.2^{b}$
150mg/kgbw. MeoH	$34.83{\pm}6.18^{b}$	224±11.7 <sup>b</sup>	$5.5 \pm 1.50^{\mathrm{a}}$
300mg/kgbw. MeoH	$13.27{\pm}1.40^{b}$	195±7.53 <sup>b</sup>	$10.75 \pm 4.27^{a}$
300mg/kgbw.DCM	$20.52{\pm}1.92^{b}$	$180{\pm}11.2^{b}$	$4\pm0.01^{a}$
150mg/kgbw.DCM	$21.50 \pm 3.62^{b}$	237.3±11.6 <sup>b</sup>	$8.50 \pm 2.33^{a}$

Mean values of ALT, ALP and GGT in U/L on the different experimental groups. Values with the same superscript letter are not significantly different by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test (p>0.05).

## **3.4.7** Qualitative Phytochemical Composition of Methanolic and Dichloromethane Extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*)

Qualitative phytochemical analysis indicated presence of terpenoids, tannins, saponnins, steroids, phenols, flavonoids, anthraquinones and alkaloids on both methanolic and Dichloromethane extract but did not show presence of diterpenes on the methanolic extract.

#### **3.5 Discussion**

The prevalence of several diseases is growing worldwide. Of these, obesity is one of them and has been a key problem for decades (Wilkins *et al.*, 2019). A person with BMI above  $30 \text{kg/m}^2$  is considered as obese and BMI between  $25 \text{kg/m}^2 - 29 \text{kg/m}^2$  is considered as overweight (Aoun *et al.*, 2020). Excessive intake of high fat diet augmented with sucrose solution leads to obesity and other comorbidities such as diabetes, cancer, cardiovascular diseases among others (Mutiso *et al.*, 2014). Several methods have been used to moderate prevalence of obesity, for example designing of drugs such as orlistat, sibutramine, semaglutide among others. However, these drugs have been found to have diverse side effects, such as constipation, heartbun, steatorrhoea, vomiting and many more. Therefore, scientist have embarked on natural medicine due to its long term effects in body weight reduction with few side effects compared to the standard drug (Tabuti *et al.*, 2014).

This study was a controlled randomized design which evaluated the antiobesity effects of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) on high fat diet fed rats. *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) (black night shade) is a medicinal / vegetable plant from the *Solanaceae* family often used by various countries. It is commonly known as Managu in Kenya and has been used globally for different treatments such as inflammation, fever and pain (Jain *et al.*, 2011). *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) is also validated to have antitumor (Raju *et al.*, 2003), anti- inflammatory (Zakaria *et al.*, 2006), anti-hepatoprotective (Raju *et al.*, 2003), antipyretic and anti-diabetic effects (Chauhan *et al.*, 2012). The preventive and curative effects of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) are associated with various phytochemical compounds present in it.

High consumption of hyper caloric diet led to significant increment in BMI compared to all other treatment groups. This study confirms that consumption of excess calorie in diet contributes to increased body weight, which leads to high body mass index compared to the normal control group. This study was similar to studies conducted on rats and mice by (Abdel-Sattar *et al.*, 2018 ; Bais *et al.*, 2014).

*Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) leaves had anti- obesity effects on high fat fed rats as showed on this study, this was similar to studies whose report indicated plants with phytochemical compounds such as flavonoids, steroids, phenols and saponins have anti-obesity activity (Nderitu *et al.*, 2017). Previous studies also report that flavonoids are most potent in suppression of obesity since they have an antioxidant effect, hence suppressing the disease through the modulation of oxidative stress in the body (Abinaya & Pavitra, 2014). According to Lunagariya *et al.*, (2014) they indicated that flavonoids inhibit the pancreatic lipase enzyme by inhibiting dietary fat absorption and increasing excreation of fats in faeces, hence this study postulates that reduction of body mass index was due to that effect.

The serum levels of low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol, total cholesterol and triglycerides were higher on the high fat fed diet group compared to the normal controls. This was in agreement with studies conducted by El-Shiekh *et al.*, (2019); Moon *et al.*, (2013) on rats and humans. Although the rats were hyperlipidemic, rats administered with the *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extracts were hypolipidemic. This was similar to a study conducted by Bais *et al.*, (2014) whose study showed supplementation of *Moringa oleifera* led to increase in HDL and reduction of LDL, TC and TG on high fat fed rats.

Previous reports showed presence of bioactive compounds account for the observed bioactivity for example; presence of phytosterols reduced Triacylglycerides and cholesterol by down regulating expression of lipogenic genes (SREBP1 and FAS) and proteins involved in cholesterol biosynthesis such as; sterol regulatory element binding transcription factor -2 (SREBP- 2) and 3-hydroxyl 3-methyl glutaryl coA reductase (HMGCR) (Chavez-Santoscoy *et al.*, 2014). Studies conducted by (Gylling & Simonen, 2015) also indicated that saponins present in the extracts inhibit cholesterol micellization by interfering with the intestinal solubility, hence increasing high density lipoproteins while phytosterols lower low density lipoprotein. This report was similar to our study, and hence it can be concluded that *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) had the same therapeutic effect.

The liver enzymes are markers that indicate the state of the liver. A high fat diet damages the liver leading to the production of excess alkaline phosphatase, aspartate aminotransferase, and gamma glutamyl transferase. This study showed an increase in ALP, AST and GGT among the high fat diet group compared to the normal controls and other treatment groups similar to a study done by Kim *et al.*, (2018) on mice. According to previous studies, this occurs due to abnormal glycosylation, which is associated with changes in hepatocytes and hepatosteatosis which leads to lipid storage in the cytoplasm thus increasing serum levels of AST, ALP and GGT (Kim *et al.*, 2018). However, the treated groups had lower ALT, ALP and GGT levels comparable to that of high fat diet group. Hence, we postulated that *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) is safe for consumption similar to a study done by Moradi *et al.*, (2019).

There was a significant increase in glucose level on high fat fed rats at week 10 compared to other treatment groups. However, the decrease in serum glucose on other groups was associated with glucose sensisitivity. Therefore, we hypothesize that *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*), like Luo & Liu, (2016) and Wang *et al.*, (2016) experiments on high-fat-fed mice, was able to reduce insulin resistance in the high-fat-fed rats.

Food intake was almost similar across the groups and similar to other studies which indicated food intake is not dependent on body weight. For example, a study by Luo *et al.*, 2016 reported the reduction in weight as parallel to food intake. He stated that reduction in body mass index could be as a result of energy utilization and not necessarily energy consumed. A study conducted by (Patra *et al.*, 2015) reported that alkaloids reduce food intake by suppressing appetite. However, this study showed no similarities to the study.

There was a significant reduction in weight among the treated groups compared to the high fat fed rats similar to a study conducted by Ji *et al.*, (2017a). The increase in liver and adipose tissue was as a result of accumulation of triglycerides (Luo & Liu, 2016). This study hypothesizes that the reduction in weight of the adipose tissue was due to the inhibitory effects of the extract, which occurred through the inhibition of the differentiation of 3T3-L1 predadipocytes cells to adipocytes by down regulation expression of PPAR $\gamma$  (Guo *et al.*, 2021). Adipogenesis was inhibited through the suppression of the adipogenic specific proteins in 3T3-L1 cells (Ji *et al.*, 2017b).

This study concludes that *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) reduces BMI, has hypolipidemic effect and possess anti-obesity phytochemicals with no adverse effects on

73

liver function. Therefore, recommends consumption of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) as a supplement used to prevent obesity.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

### MORPHOLOGICAL AND MOLECULAR IDENTIFICATION of *Solanum* specie Abstract

*Solanaceae* is a taxonomic family of important angiosperms with high commercial and economic value and is mostly used as food, medicine or as a spice. Taxonomic assignment based solely on morphological markers within this family has been shown to give unreliable, inaccurate and contradictory results due to phenotypic plasticity and ontogenetic contingency. Morphological traits showing similarities include; shape and texture of the leaf, fruit color, size of the leaf among others. In this study we used ITS2 and rbcl as DNA barcodes to assign the species taxonomic rank to a member of *Solanaceae* that showed medicinal value against obesity, since it reduced body mass index, glucose levels and cholesterol levels on high-fat-fed rats.

**Methodology:** Fresh *Solanaceae* leaves were collected from Limuru sub county, Kiambu County and transported to the department of biogical sciences for morphological identification and authentication. Voucher specimen was deposited at the herbarium while the rest was shipped to the molecular laboratory for DNA extraction. DNA was extracted from the leaves of *Solanaceae* a plant (*Kat\_001*) that showed anti-obesity effects on rat models. PCR was conducted using the primers ITS2 and rbcl at an annealing temperature of 58° C for both primers and extension at 72° C for 35 cycles. Phylogenetic inference was based on ITS2 and rbcl and multi-locus inference based on a concatenation of both ITS2 and rbcl using maximum likelihood (ML) and maximum parsimony (MP) algorithms.

**Results:** Concatenation of the different sequences used to infer phylogeny in the ITS and rbcl was successful and indicated that *Kat\_001* is *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*).

**Conclusion:** The agreement between ITS2 and RBCL sequences, and the combined set of rbcl and ITS2 sequences, together with morphological data strongly suggests *Kat\_001 is Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) and is from the larger *Solanum nigrum* complex.

#### **4.1 Introduction**

Solanum nigrum L is a dicot from the family Solanaceae, known as black night shade in English, Makoi in india and Managu in Kenya (Saleem et al., 2009; S. Sharma & Dogra, 2018). It shows genetic diversity since it's a complex of many species such as S. scarbum, S. americanum, S. nigrum, S. physalifolium and S. villosum (Hameed et al., 2017). Solanum nigrum is distributed in various regions of the globe from tropical to temperate and from high altitudes to low altitudes. It grows up to 1.3 m high with highspreading branches (Ronoh et al., 2018). Others have small leaves while other species contain broad leaves that are either serrated, oval shaped and green in colour. They are differentiated based on their berries some have purple to black while others have green to orange fruits (Janepher et al., 2021). In Europe, Solanum nigrum is considered as a bothersome and toxic weed in agriculture and in open fields and therefore it is not used for either consumption or medicinal value, while in the indian communities various studies show that *Solanum nigrum* is used for consumption due to its medicinal properties (Nyeem et al., 2017). Traditionally, Solanum nigrum has been used to cure conditions like hepatitis, asthma, diarrhea, ulcers, fever, and stomach issues (Miraj, 2016). For instance, in Telangana region Solanum nigrum plant was known as peddakasha pandla koora and was mainly used in the treatment of tuberculosis. In Kage soppu in Karnataka and Tamil Nadu the plant is known as manathakkali keerai and is used to treat mouth ulcers during winter periods and is also used as a vegetable (Nyeem et al., 2017). Previous studies indicated that boiled berries and leaves of the plant were used to alleviate liver-related ailments such as jaundice. On the other hand, root juice was used

against whooping cough and asthma (Teklehaimanot *et al.*, 2015). *S. nigrum* is a widely used plant in oriental medicine where it is considered to be antipyretic, antitumorigenic, antioxidant, hepatoprotective, anti-inflammatory and diuretic. A few experiments confirmed that the *Solanaceae* plant inhibits the growth of cervical carcinoma (Nyeem *et al.*, 2017). In Africa, different ethnicities consider *Solanum nigrum* as a vegetable and has also been used for different treatments (Potawale *et al.*, 2008).

The vegetative features of *Solanum* specie show diverse phenotypic variations in their stem, leaf shape, size and plant habit. Few studies indicate that *Solanum nigrum* spread to Africa from Eurasia (Matasyoh & Bosire, 2016).

In Kenya, *Solanum nigrum* is also known as managu and usually grow as a weed in moist habitat, and in different types of soils such as stony, dry, shallow and can be cultivated both in subtropical and tropical climatic regions (Wesonga *et al.*, 2016). In Kenya, the unripe berries are squeezed on infants' gums to ease pain in the teething stage, treat stomach aches, sooth tooth ache, treat tonsillitis, malaria, colds, coughs, diabetes, high blood pressure and chest pain (Kimiywe *et al.*, 2007).

In addition, hybridization of *Solanaceae* specie affects global morphological characteristics, for example, F1 hybrids appear different from F2 progeny (Oyelana & Ugborogho, 2008). This observation makes it difficult to accurately assign taxonomic ranks to *Solanaceae* species using morphological data. This is made more complex by the fact that *Solanum* genus is species complex (Knapp *et al.*, 2013; Mohy-Ud-Din *et al.*, 2010). Additionally, DNA barcoding has thus become a gold standard in identifying species. The use of short universal standardized DNA sequences as DNA barcodes has

proven to be an accurate method of identifying medicinal plants (Saddhe & Kumar, 2018; Yu *et al.*, 2021). The use of more than one DNA barcode is the current method for bridging limitations arising from nuclear and organelle molecular data (Liu *et al.*, 2017). Literature diversity on Solanaceae has increased rapidly over the years and hence this study aimed at identifying *Solanaceae* specie, by use of ITS2 and rbcL DNA barcodes (Gebhardt, 2016).

# 4.1.1 Ribulose 1,5- biphosphate carboxylase/ oxygenase (rbcl) and internal transcribed spacer

Solanum nigrum Linn contains over 2000-3000 species (Jabamalairaj *et al.*, 2019), in this study one specie was harvested and used to test for anti-obesity effect on high fat fed Sprague dawley rats. Although, morphological identification had been done by a taxonomists, it is not an accurate method of identifying the different related species since their phenotypic characteristics are almost similar (Yang *et al.*, 2019). Hence, we considered molecular identification using two universal plant primers which included; internal transcribed spacer regions (ITS2) and ribulose biphosphate carboxylase (RBCL). DNA barcoding is a tool used to discriminate species by identifying and documenting plant diversity in certain taxonomic groups. This is done through amplification of the DNA barcode region among large assemblies of taxa hence providing species discrimination (Kusai *et al.*, 2016; Osathanunkul *et al.*, 2018). Nuclear-encoded ribosomal internal transcribed spacer regions (ITS2) and large subunits of Rubisco (rbcl) were adopted as standards. This study employed the two DNA barcodes ITS2 and RBCL to determine the species and the highest performance marker.

#### 4.2 Methodology

#### **4.2.1** Morphological identification of the plant

The leaves were identified by a taxonomist from the biological sciences department, and among the characteristics evaluated were leaf shape, leaf margin, fruit color, and leaf surface. In order to preserve the quality of the DNA before extraction, the leaves were subsequently delivered to the molecular biology lab at the Department of Biochemistry covered in foil and kept there overnight at -20 C.

#### 4.2.2 DNA extraction from *Solanum nigrum* leaves

Thirty (30) mg of leaves were used to extract genomic DNA using the cetyl trimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) technique. The leaves were homogenized using motor and pestle into a fine paste in 500  $\mu$ l CTAB buffer and later transferred into a polypropylene tube where it was mixed thoroughly using a votex. After 30 minutes in a  $65^{\circ}$ C water bath, the tube was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 14000 x g. A fresh tube was created, the supernatant was placed in, and 5 µl of RNAse solution was added. The tube was then incubated at 37 °C for 20 minutes. An equal volume of phenol/chloroform was added to the solution at a ratio of 24:1 and later vortexed for 5 seconds then centrifuged for 1 minute at 14000 x g in order to separate the phases. In order to precipitate the DNA, the supernatant was transferred into a fresh tube, 0.7 µl of cold isopropanol was added, and the mixture was incubated at -20 °C for 15 minutes. After that, the sample was centrifuged for 10 minutes at 14000 x g. Afterwards, the supernatant was removed without touching the particle and rinsed with 500µl of ice-cold 70% ethanol. The ethanol was then decanted and the pellet dried long enough in order to remove the ethanol completely. DNA concentration was evaluated spectrophometrically using Nanodrop<sup>TM</sup> 2000/2000c spectrophotometer at 260 nm and the purity determined by considering the

ratios of OD 260 nm /280 nm and OD 260 nm /230 nm. Further quality of DNA was confirmed through agarose gel electrophoresis as follows: Agarose gel electrophoresis was prepared by weighing 0.8% of agarose powder. The powder was poured into a conical flask containing 100 ml of 1 x TBE buffer and then heated to boil in a microwave for 3 minutes. The conical flask was then removed and allowed to cool for few minutes, later 1  $\mu$ l of Ethidium bromide was added to the gel and stirred in order to mix evenly. Gel combs were arranged in a tray on a flat surface area for creation of wells for loading the DNA sample. The gel was allowed to dry at room temperature for a few minutes and thereafter shifted to a gel electrophoresis tank (amplisize; Bio rad Laboratories GelRed Nucleic Acid) containing 1x TAE buffer for 1 hour at 80 volts and visualized by UV transillumination. O' geneRuler 1 kb DNA ladder,  $0.1\mu g/\mu L$  (Thermo Fisher Scientific, California, USA) was used as a marker for genomic DNA sizes. A mix of Plain dye together with the master mix was used as the negative control. The DNA pellet was later dissolved in 20  $\mu$ l TE buffer and stored at -20 °C awaiting PCR assay.

#### 4.2.3 Amplification

Polymerase chain reaction was performed using 0.4  $\mu$ M of ITS2 and RBCL primers (see table 6) along with PCR Master Mix (one Taq quick load 2X Master Mix with standard buffer M0486S) and 1 $\mu$ l of DNA with a concentration of >50ng/  $\mu$ L. The detection mix for each gene contained 9.5  $\mu$ l of nuclease free water, 1 $\mu$ l of each primer, 12.5 $\mu$ l one Taq quick load 2x master mix with standard buffer and 2 $\mu$ l of template genomic DNA. The total volume was 25 $\mu$ l reaction. Amplification was done under the following thermo cycling conditions: Initial denaturation at 95 °C for 30 seconds and 35 cycles of amplification, 1 minute at 58 °C for annealing, 5 minutes at 68 °C for final extension. This

was performed using applied biosystem 96 well veriti Thermal cycler (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA). The PCR amplicons were separated by gel electrophoresis at 80 volts for 1 hour on 2% agarose gel (Amplisize, Bio-Rad Laboratories) using 1 x TAE Buffer containing GelRed Nucleic Acid and visualized under UV transillumination. 1 kb DNA ladder of  $0.1\mu g/\mu L$  (Thermo Fisher Scientific California, USA) was used as a marker for the amplicon gene sizes.

Primer	Annealing	Direction	Sequence (5'-3')	References
Name	temperature			
Rbcl	58°C	Forward	CTGTATGGACCGATGGACTTAC	(Nderitu et al.,
		Reverse	CGGTGGATGTGAAGAAGTAGAC	2023)
ITS2	58°C	Forward	GAAGGAGAAGTCGTAACAAGG	(Nderitu et al.,
		Reverse	TCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGC	2023)

**Table 6: Primers used for DNA barcoding** 

#### 4.2.4 Sequencing of amplicons / sequence alignment and phylogenetic analysis

The PCR amplicons were cleaned and sequenced at the University of Nairobi Institute of Tropical Infectious Diseases (UNITID) using Sanger sequencing method. The resultant chromatograms were visually inspected and manually cleaned within the BioEdit software version 7.2.5 (Hall, 1999) (BioEdit). Since the sequencing for each sample was done both in the forward and the reverse directions, two chromatograms were obtained for each sample. For each individual chromatogram, the noisy regions located at the beginning and at the end of the chromatogram were deleted. The sequence was then visually investigated for any miscellaneous bases and for any that were found, the chromatogram peaks were employed to determine the most likely base to replace the miscellaneous base. The cleaned sequence was then saved in FASTA file format. This was carried out for all of the sequences. Each pair of sequences that were sequenced using the same pair of primers were transferred to BioEdit for contiguous sequence (contig) creation. The resultant consensus sequences were saved as FASTA files and used in downstream analysis.

A BLASTN search was carried out for each contig. All the parameters and settings in the BLASTN algorithm were left in their defaults except for the following: uncultured and environmental samples were excluded from the search and the BLASTN algorithm was optimized to display highly similar sequences. Suitable sequences from BLAST were selected for analysis. A suitable sequence had to satisfy these criteria: (1) the percentage identity had to be at least 98%, (2) the sequence had to have a query coverage of at least 90% and (3) the expected value had to be zero.

The selected sequences corresponding to each contig, together with each contig were transferred to the Molecular Evolutionary Genetic Analysis software version 11.0.10 MEGA11 (Tamura *et al.*, 2021). Within MEGA11 a multiple sequence alignment (MSA) was carried out using the algorithm MUSCLE with all settings and parameters left in their default (Edgar, 2004). Once the alignment was done, it was visually inspected to remove erroneous sequences, correct any errors such as unusual gaps, base insertion among others. The MSA was then carried out once more after correcting the sequences, and the updated alignment was visually evaluated once more to see whether any sequences needed to be eliminated. Once the correct MSA was determined a final MSA was carried out.

The MSA was then subjected to model selection within MEGA11 to determine the best nucleotide substitution model. The model with the smallest Bayesian Information

83

Criterion was selected as the best substitution model, and was used in the construction of neighbour joining trees (NJ) within the MEGA 11 environment. Construction of maximum parsimony trees (MP) did not require a model and thus was determined using the default settings of MEGA 11. On the other hand, construction of maximum likelihood trees (ML) was done using the 'one click Mode' algorithm in the phylogeny (ML). The phylogeny of MP, ML and NJ trees were tested using bootstrapping with 1000 bootstraps for each method with the substitution model added (Yang & Rannala, 2012). Phylogeny was inferred using phyML and the tree rendered by TreeDYN (Chevenet *et al.*, 2006; Guindon *et al.*, 2010). The resulting phylograms were saved in NEWIK format and edited within MEGA11.

#### 4.3 Results

The examined morphological features of the *Solanum* genus used showed the following characteristics (See table 7).

	Trait	Features
1.	Leaf shape	Ovate
2.	Leaf margin	Sinuate
3.	Fruit color	Green to orange
4.	Leaf surface	Hairly

Table 7: Assessed morphological features of Solanum genus

#### **4.3.1** Phylogenetic Analysis

In this study universal primers ITS2 and rbcl were used as the DNA barcodes for *Solanaceae*. For the three data sets produced by MSA, phylogeny was inferred using ML, MP, and NJ methods. With reference to each dataset, the topologies of all the trees generally agreed with one another. A notable exception was observed with the phylogeny that was inferred using ITS2 dataset. While both the MP (figure 12) and ML (figure 11)

trees showed that *Kat\_001* clustered with *S. villosum*, the NJ tree (figure 13) clustered the *Kat\_001* with two members of *S. physalifolium* with a bootstrap value of 0.7. This clade was paraphyletic to the clade that housed *S. villosum*, this *S. physalifolium- villosum* clade was supported by a relatively weak bootstrap value of 0.67. In contrast, the clustering of *Kat\_001* with *S. villosum* observed within MP and ML had stronger bootstrap support: 0.81 and 0.86 respectively. It was still observed that *S. physalifolium* and *S. villosum* formed a monophyletic clade within both MP and ML but supported by 96% and 91% of bootstraps respectively.

The sequences that derived from rbcl were also used to construct ML (figure 14), MP (figure 15) and NJ (figure 16) phylogenetic trees. All the trees placed Kat\_001 with members of *S. nigrum* with varying bootstrap supports. The highest bootstrap value was with ML then MP and NJ with 0.8, 0.77 and 0.59. It was not possible to delimit the specific sample that rbcl clustered with within the ML phylogeny, the entire clade that harbored *Kat\_001* was polytomy, and thus unresolved. The NJ tree showed that *Kat\_001* formed a monophyletic clade with MT782383 from GenBank that was a member of *S. nigrum*. In the MP tree *Kat\_001* was ancestral to a monophyletic clade consisting of MT782383 and KU556630 (figure 15).

The aligned sequences of rbcl and ITS data were concatenated to produce a single dataset that was used to construct MP, ML and NJ trees. With a bootstrap value of 0.89, *Kat\_001* clustered with four *S. nigrum* sequences. This was replicated within MP with a bootstrap value of 0.74 (figure 9) and NJ (figure 10) with a bootstrap value of 0.65. The ML (figure 8) and MP trees showed that the sequences that were obtained from GenBank clustered into three distinct clades. The tree constructed using the NJ method showed a radically

different topology with clustering into two clusters. However, this was not necessarily a disadvantage of inferring phylogeny via NJ, the concatenated ML and MP trees were able to resolve distinct species boundaries for 11 taxa each. Cluster I of the ML tree had 7 clades with clear clustering into species, cluster II had 1 and cluster III had 3 clusters of species in monophyletic clades. The distribution in the concatenated MP tree for cluster I, II and III was 6, 1 and 4 species delimited clades respectively. The two clades observed in the NJ tree had 8 species delimited in the first cluster and 2 in the second. The investigation of the topology of NJ revealed that the designated clusters I and II in the ML and MP trees were pooled together to form cluster I in the NJ tree. *S. villosum* did not form a monophyletic clade in the NJ tree thus explaining the absence of a single species delimitation compared to MP and ML.



Figure 8: A rooted ML tree inferred from concatenated ITS2 and rbcl data sets. The values are proportion of bootstrap values.



Figure 9: A rooted MP tree inferred from concatenated ITS2 and data sets. The values are proportion of bootstrap values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown.



Figure 10: A rooted NJ tree inferred from concatenated ITS2 and rbcl data sets. The values are proportion of bootstrap values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown.



Figure 11: A rooted ML tree inferred from ITS2. The values are proportion of bootstrap values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown.


Figure 12: A rooted MP tree inferred from ITS2. The values are proportion of bootstrap values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown.



Figure 13: A rooted NJ tree inferred from ITS2. The values are proportion of bootstrap values from 1000replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown



Figure 14: A rooted ML tree inferred from RBCL. The values are proportion of bootstrap values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown.



Figure 15: A rooted MP tree inferred from RBCL. The values are proportion of bootstrap values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown



Figure 16: A rooted NJ tree infered from RBCL. The values are proportion of bootstrap values from 1000 replicates, only higher than 0.5 are shown

#### 4.4 Nucleotide composition

To assess the nucleotide composition of the ITS sequence and rbcL sequences, GenBank sequences used in phylogenetic reconstruction belonged to the same taxon as the sample and were used to calculate the composition of the bases of such taxon. The sample ITS1\_rc had the longest nucleotide length of 698 nucleotides followed by KC540789.1 at 690 nt then finally KC540791.1 at 687 nt. Cytosine had the highest frequency with an average of 216.33 nt which translated to 31.23% of all the nucleotides. This was followed by Guanine which had 30.13% of the total nucleotides. With this high frequency in guanine and cytosine, the G+C content was also high at an average of 61.40%. ITS1\_rc had the highest G+C content of 61.46% (see table 8). In terms of adenine (A) and thymine (T) composition, adenine had the highest percent of 19.93 while thymine (T) was 18.70 percent.

 Table 8: Nucleotide composition of ITSI\_rc

Isolate	Length	Adenine		Cytosine		Guanine		Thymine		G – C content
		freq	%	Freq	%	freq	%	freq	%	%
KC540789.1	690	137	19.9	217	31.4	206	29.9	130	18.8	61.3
KC540791.1	687	136	19.8	216	31.4	206	30	129	18.8	61.43
ITS1 rc	698	140	20.1	216	30.9	213	30.5	129	18.5	61.46
Mean	691.67	137.67	19.93	216.33	31.23	208.33	30.13	129.33	18.70	61.40
SD	5.69	2.08	0.15	0.58	0.29	4.04	0.32	0.58	0.17	0.09

A similar assessment was conducted with the partially amplified and sequenced rbcL gene. Three sequences belonging to *S. nigrum* together with RBCL2\_rc were obtained from gen bank for analysis. The average length of the sequence was 706.5 nt with rbcL2\_rc having the longest length of 714 nt with the least being MH588530. Unlike, ITS sequences, Thymine had the highest frequency with an average of 205.5 nt which translated to 29.1% this was followed by adenine with 202.0 nucleotides on average which computes to 28.6% with this, the A+T content was thus higher than the G+C content which an average of guanine at 22.7% and cytosine at an average of 19.6% totaling to overall GC content average of 42.3%. Except for the nucleotide length, all the other parameters in the analysis had standard variations of less than 3, this means that these compositions are highly conserved and do not vary much within the species taxon (See table 9).

Isolate	Len gth	Adenine		Cytosine		Guanine		Thymine		<b>G</b> – <b>C</b>
		Fre q	%	freq	%	freq	%	freq	%	conte nt %
MH588530	701	198	28.2	139	19.8	161	23	203	29	42.8
GQ436617	704	203	28.8	136	19.3	159	22.6	206	29.3	41.9
MN056293	707	202	28.6	138	19.5	159	22.5	206	29.1	42.08
RBCL2 rc	714	205	28.7	140	19.6	162	22.7	207	29	42.3
Mean	706. 5	202. 0	28.6	138. 3	19.6	160. 3	22.7	205.5	29.1	42.3
SD	5.57	2.94	0.26	1.71	0.21	1.50	0.22	1.73	0.14	0.39

Table 9: Nucleotide composition of RBCL2\_rc

#### **4.5 Discussion**

Members of the *Solanaceae* family usually form species complexes. The cryptic nature of members of these complexes makes it very difficult to assign taxonomic ranks to these members using morphological data alone (Chiarini *et al.*, 2018). Recently several authors have preferred multiphasic approaches to determine species boundaries for several cryptic species (Savi *et al.*, 2019). One of the more common approaches have been complementing morphological data with one or more molecular data, this was the approach that was used in the current study.

The morphological data placed the sample used in the current study in the genus Solanum sp. but it was not possible to assign a lower taxonomic rank to the sample. Based on the suggestion of (Gao et al., 2010) the primer ITS2 was used for DNA barcoding to supplement this morphological data. The phylogenetic trees constructed based on ITS2 sequences were incongruent with regard to the clustering of the Kat\_001. Both the ML and MP trees agreed that Kat 001 was possibly a member of S. villosum. The ML tree suggested that the sequence KC540789 was more related to Kat\_001 than any other sequence, while MP placed AY875752 and *Kat\_001* within their own monophyletic clade. Surprisingly, NJ analysis placed Kat\_001 in the taxon S. physalifolium with the GenBank sequence of accession number KY968822 being the closest relative. Such incongruence could be as a result of sequence sampling from GenBank, the number of sequences that are used in the construction of phylogenetic trees tends to have a positive correlation with the accuracy of the inferred tree (Heath et al., 2008). Indeed, it seems that, clustering of *Kat\_001* with two different taxa can be explained by the number of sequences used in the analysis. The rbcl dataset, that is much larger than the ITS dataset,

does not suffer from the same effect. All the phylogenetic trees inferred from rbcL agreed that *Kat\_001* is a member of *S. nigrum*. However, they had a low bootstrap value than that of ITS2.

Nevertheless, while we assume that the effect of sequence number could be the reason for higher resolution while using rbcL, we are cognizant of the fact that generally, rbcL is better at discriminating between plants of different species than does ITS sequences (Kress & Erickson, 2007). This is because the rbcl gene is maternally inherited and thus not subject to admixture, this ensures that any mutation neutral or beneficial mutation is conserved between the genus (Yao et al., 2010). The difference with species discrimination based on the current report occurred due to the fact that both S. nigrum and S. villosum are member of the same species complex. Many of the biological markers, including molecular markers, that are used in phylogeny are highly conserved. To farther elucidate the correct taxonomic unit to place *Kat\_001*, a concatenation of both the ITS and rbcl sequences was used for analysis (Gadagkar et al., 2005). Previous authors have preferred to concatenate sequences from the same samples as this inevitably reduces phylogenetic noise and produces better MSA data. Here, we evaluated the approach of simply concatenating the different sequences used to infer phylogeny in the ITS and rbcL and using this for analysis. The results of the concatenated sequence agreed with the rbcL trees by placing Kat\_001 within the clade containing S. nigrum. The agreement between rbcL and the combined set of rbcL and ITS sequences, together with morphological data strongly suggests Kat\_001 is from S. nigrum complex. This results were similar to those done by El-Atroush, (2020) whose observation indicated that ITS

markers are better in identifying plants at species level while Rbcl are better markers for identifying plants at generic level (El-Atroush, 2020).

The results of the nucleotide composition (table 6) support the findings of several authors. For instance the low G - C content in rbcL was observed by Arif et al., (2019) in green chireta. The small standard deviation suggests that the rbcL gene is highly conserved within closely related species, a similar conclusion was reached at by Kass & Wink, (1997). Since the rbcL is a coding sequence, the structure of nucleotide composition ought to be tied to functionality (Yao *et al.*, 2019). G – C content is intimately tied to codon bias though in angiosperms its low bias is observed. This makes rbcL a suitable biomarker for identification of plant species at generic level (El-Atroush, 2020).

This is in contrast to the ITS2 G – C content that is markedly higher averaging at 61% (table 10). The current results presented in table 6 were statistically identical to those published by (Kass & Wink, 1997). Since it is known that ITS sequences are highly variable between plant families (Chupov *et al.*, 2007), the small variations observed in this study testify to the fact that intraspecies identification using ITS sequences only is likely to have high resolution. This study comes to the conclusion that the plant species used in the experimentation is a subspecies of *Solanum nigrum* called *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*). Therefore, we advise using multiple DNA barcodes when determining the species boundaries of individuals belonging to a complex, such as those found in the Solanaceae. If there is a discrepancy between the different barcodes, a concatenated data set of the same sequence may be produced.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

## EFFECTS OF *Solanum nigrum* ON THE DIVERSITY OF CAECAL MICROBIOME IN HIGH FAT FED RATS

#### Abstract

**Background:** Diet influences gut microbiota which in turn affects both metabolism and overall human health. *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) is an African leafy vegetable which has previously been shown to have both nutritional and medicinal value compared to other vegetables. However, its effect on gut microbiome has not been elucidated. The objective of this study was to determine the effect of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) on the diversity composition of microbiome of high fat fed rats.

**Methodology:** *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) leaves were gathered from Limuru sub-County, Kiambu County Kenya, which were later tested on Sprague Dawley high fat fed rats to determine its effect on abundance and diversity of the gut microbial community. Sprague Dawley rats were randomized and divided into 7 groups of n=5 rats each as follows: normal group (KWN1; given normal rat chow feed); positive control (KWN2; given high fat diet and a standard drug treatment-orlistat); negative control (KWN3; given high fat diet only without treatment). All of the treatment groups consumed a highfat diet and then treated using *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) dose extract of 150mg/kgbw (KWN4) and 300mg/kgbw methanolic dose extract (KWN5); or 150mg/kgbw (KWN6) and 300mg/kgbw dichloromethane dose extract (KWN7). All treatments lasted 11 weeks, after which rats were sacrificed and caecum content collected for microbiome analysis.

**Results:** All groups had Campylobacterota, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Actinobacterota, Bacteriodota, Deferribacterota, Spirochaetota but with varying amounts. *Solanum nigrum* 

(Subsp *villosum*) treatment groups had significantly higher composition of Campylobacterota (KWN4-99%; KWN5-55%; KWN6-92%; KWN7-90%) as compared to the negative control (no treatment KWN3-35%) (p<0.001) and normal control (KWN5-5%) (p<0.001) but similar to positive control (orlistat treatment KWN2-96%) (p>0.05). However, as compared to the normal control (KWN1; no fat diet and no treatment), high fat diet with supplementation of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extracts decreased the intestinal Firmicutes (KWN4-7). Other bacteria (Firmicutes, Bacteriodata, Proteobacteria and Spirochaetota) were comparable among the treatment groups ( $\leq$ 5%) except KWN5 which had higher Firmicutes (25%) and Bacteriodota (18%) (p<0.001).

**Conclusion:** High fat diet and *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extracts caused change in the caecum microbial system of the high fat fed diet rats. Except KWN5, administration of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extract at different dosages had similar effect on the microbiome as that of the standard obesity drug (Orlistat) and could be used as an anti-obesity treatment.

#### **5.1 Introduction**

The diversified microbial community which include bacteria, virus, archaea and eukaryotic microbes are known as human microbiota since they coinhabit on human body surfaces (Hamady & Knight, 2009). However, all individuals have unique set of microorganisms on different body parts (Al Khodor et al., 2017b; Solt et al., 2011). There are various reasons for microbial diversity and these include; genetics, diet, lifestyle, geographical location, age, exposure to antibiotics or probiotics and early exposure to various microorganisms for example during gestation period, delivery, hospitalization and during feeding (Johnson & Versalovic, 2012; Ursell et al., 2012). Human health and disease are significantly influenced by the gut microbiome, over time microorganisms residing in the gut have evolved to very close associations with each other. Hence, they assist in food processing, protection from pathogens, vitamin synthesis, shaping the immune and nervous system, gut epithelium development and metabolism. Imbalance of gut microbiome is known as dysbiosis and may lead to host dysfunction thus contributing to the pathogenesis of a disease (Kachrimanidou & Tsintarakis, 2020b). The aim of studying microbiome is to understand eubiotic the health promoting bacteria and dysbiotic the disease causing bacteria and how the microbiota plays a role in phenotypic variants, prognosis, progression and treatment response (Al Khodor et al., 2017b; Odamaki et al., 2016).

Human gut microbiome is composed of bacteria from two phyla, bacteriodites and firmicutes (Kachrimanidou & Tsintarakis, 2020b). These complex and diverse bacteria's have led to functional expansion of the host genomes and its approximated to harbor 5-to 100 more genes when compared to the host genes (Kho & Lal, 2018). According to

104

various studies, microbiome changes over time due to factors such as age, for example at infancy the microbiome variation is higher compared to adults but later the variation decreases with age (Odamaki *et al.*, 2016). Other factors leading to microbiome variation include use of antibiotics, change in diet, disease/ infection, puberty and pregnancy. Physical characteristics and chemical properties also influence microbiome composition of an organism (Neu, 2016; Neuman & Koren, 2017).

#### 5.2 Methodology

#### **5.2.1 Experimental Design**

The rat groups made up of five male Sprague Dawley rats were allocated at random into the following categories: KWN I (normal control), KWN2 (positive control) was induced obesity (HF research diet) and received standard drug orlistat at a dose of 30mg/kgbw, KWN3 (negative control) was induced obesity with (HF- Research diets) and was given oral administration of water (0.1 ml/rat). Groups IV to VII (experimental groups) were induced obesity (HF- research diet) and received DCM dose extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) and Methanol dose extracts of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) at 150 mg/kgbw and 300mg/kgbw respectively. In preparation for microbiome analysis, all caeca samples from each group were collected on the 77th day of the trial. They were then packaged according to group and stored at -80°C.

#### **5.2.2 Total Bacterial DNA extraction**

Gut samples were selected from each group and bacterial genomic DNA extracted using quick – DNA<sup>TM</sup> Fecal/Soil Microbe miniprep Kit (Zymo Research, California, USA). Extraction procedure was done as follows: Seventy (70 mg) of tissue was added to a ZR bashing bead <sup>TM</sup> lysis tube of 0.5mm and thereafter 750 µl buffer was added to it. The

samples were vortexed for 40 minutes using a Votex Genic with 2ml bashing bead tubes (S5001-7). The mixture was then centrifuged at  $\geq 10000 \text{ x}$  g for 1 minute and 400 µl of the supernatant transferred to a zymo-Spin <sup>TM</sup> III-F filter in a collection tube and centrifuged at 8000 x g for 1 minute. Thereafter, Genomic lysis buffer of 1200 µl was added to the filtrate in a collection tube and centrifuged at 8000 x g. 800 µl of the filtrate was transferred into a zymo - Spin<sup>TM</sup> IICR column in a collection tube and centrifuged at 10000 x g for 1 minute. A SpinTM IICR column was then filled with 200µl of DNA prewash buffer, which was centrifuged at 10000 x g for 1 minute. A SpinTM IICR column was then filled with 200µl of g-DNA wash buffer, which was also centrifuged at 10000 x g for 1 minute. After placing Zymo SpinTM III-HRC filter in a clean collecting tube and adding 600µl of prep solution to it, the mixture was centrifuged at 8000 x g for 3 minutes. In a clean microcentrifuge tube, the eluted DNA was transferred to a Zymo SpinTM III-HRC filter before being centrifuged at 16000 x g for three minutes. The filtered DNA was then kept at - 20°C ready for library construction.

# 5.2.3 Library construction and Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification of 16SrRNA (V3-V4 region)

The DNA sample was randomly fragmented to create the sequencing library, which was then adapter-tagged and thereafter amplified using polymerase chain reaction.

Amplification was performed on the V3 –V4 region of 16Sr RNA of the Bacterial DNA using primers F515 (5'GTGCCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA-3') and R806(5'-GGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT-3'). PCR Master Mix was used in amplification of 1µl of DNA with a concentration of >50ng/ µL. The detection mix for each gene contained 9.5 µl of nuclease free water, 1µl of each primer, 12.5µl one Taq rapid load 2x master mix with standard buffer and 2µl of template genomic DNA. The total volume was 25µl reaction. Amplification was done under the following thermo cycling conditions: Initial denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds and 35 cycles of amplification consisting of 30s at 95°C, 1 minute at 58°C for annealing, 5 minutes at 68°C for final extension. The PCR amplicons were separated by gel electrophoresis using 1 x TAE Buffer containing Gel Red Nucleic Acid at 80 volts for 1 hour on 1% agarose gel (Amplisize, Bio-Rad Laboratories), and then the results were seen via UV transillumination. One kilobase pair DNA ladder of  $0.1\mu g/\mu L$  (Thermo Fisher Scientific California, USA) was used as a marker for the amplicon gene sizes. Quality and quantity of PCR products was determined using the Nanodrop.

#### 5.2.4 PCR Clean- up

AMPure XP beads were put at room temperature and the amplicons centrifuged at 1000 x g at 20°C for I minute to allow condensation. The AMPure XP beads were then vortexed for 30 seconds to ensure evenly dispersal of the beads. AMPure XP beads were then added to each amplicon well and mixed using a MIDI plate at 1800rpm for 2 minutes. The amplicons were later incubated for 5 minutes at 25°C and later placed for 2 minutes on a magnetic stand together with the amplicon PCR plate, a multi channel pippete was used to discard the supernatant. The beads were later washed with 200  $\mu$ l of 80 % ethanol, samples were then incubated for 30 seconds and supernatant carefully discarded in order to remove excess ethanol. The amplicon plates were then removed from the magnetic stand and thereafter 52.5  $\mu$ l of 10mM Tris pH 8.5 was added, using a multichannel pippete to each well of the amplicon PCR plate. It was gently mixed for easy resuspension of the beads and later incubated for 2 minutes at room temperature. 50  $\mu$ l of

the supernatant of each plate was transferred from the amplicon PCR plate to a new 96well PCR plate awaiting sequencing.

#### 5.2.5 Purification, quantification and Sequencing

Beckman Coulter Genomics' Agencourt AMPure beads were used to purify the ibarcoded amplicons, and Invitrogen's Quant-iTTM PicoGreenR dsDNA Assay was used to determine their quantity. An equimolar library was built with 20 x109 molecules for individual amplicon library in order to get a comparable amount of sequences for each library, although amplicons with about a length of >600 were spiked in twice. A MiSeq system (Illumina) was used to sequence the final pooled library (20 ng/L in 100 l of Tris buffer with a pH of 8). In accordance with the TruSeq nano methodology (Illumina, FC-121-4003), the library was created by adaptor ligation and PCR using the TruSeq Nano DNA Library Prep Kit. The fragmentation step was left out. qPCR was used (Kapa Biosystems) to quantify the library. High base variability throughout the initial cycles was necessary for effective sequence clustering with Illumina sequencing. During the first cycles, we increased sequence variety by employing about 300 barcodes with different base compositions. Using the Miseq Reagent kit, the Miseq was run in 2x300 cycle configuration.

#### **5.3 Bioinformatics analysis**

The paired- end reads were analysed using Rstudio and R software version 4.1.3 pipeline, as previously described by (Bolyen *et al.*, 2019). The sequences were demultiplexed using meta data file in order to obtain quality sequences. The read lengths were then trimmed to not shorter than 50 base pair and not longer than 250bp. The reads were then

108

denoised using DADA2 in R package and phred score of less than 30 removed (Callahan *et al.*, 2016). Thereafter, subsequent analysis were done to create a phylogenetic tree, to determine relative abundance, alpha and beta diversity (Rahman *et al.*, 2021).

#### **5.4 Results**

#### **5.4.1 Taxonomy – Relative Abundance**

There were diverse bacteria phyla present in the gut of the various treatment groups. The Actinobacteria, Bacteroidota, bacteria present included: Campylobacterota, Deferribacterota, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria and Sprirochaetota. The most prevalent phylum among the groups was Campylobacterota which was above 80% among the following groups KWN2, KWN4, KWN6 and KWN7, followed by Firmicutes and lastly Bacteroidota (Figure 17). The normal control group (KWN1) had the highest percentage of firmicutes (90%) compared to KWN2 (3%), KWN3 (40%), KWN4 (1%), KWN5 (25%), KWN6 (5%) and KWN7 (1%). However, the negative control (KWN3) had Bacteroidota (14%) which is non-significantly different from treatment group 5 (KWN5) (18%). One percent to 5% of proteobacteria was also present in all the experimental groups. To determine statistical significance among the phyla, Chi-square test was done whose results showed that the phylum was statistically significantly different among the treatment groups (Table 1, p < 0.0001). Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) treatment groups had significantly higher composition of Campylobacterota (KWN4-99%; KWN5-55%; KWN6-92%; KWN7-90%) as compared to the negative control (no treatment KWN3-35%) (Figure 17, p<0.001) and normal control (KWN5-5%) (p<0.001) but similar to positive control (orlistat treatment KWN2-96%) (p>0.05). However, as compared to the normal control (KWN1; no fat diet and no treatment), high fat diet with supplementation of Solanum nigrum (Subsp villosum) extracts decreased the intestinal Firmicutes (KWN4-7). Other bacteria (Firmicutes, Bacteriodata, Proteobacteria and Spirochaeta) were comparable among the treatment groups ( $\leq$ 5%) except KWN5 which had higher Firmicutes (25%) and Bacteriodata (18%) (p<0.001) (Figure, 17).



Figure 17: Relative abundance of bacterial phylum taxon among the treatment groups.

#### **5.4.2 Alpha Diversity**

Alpha diversity is a term that was first defined by Robert whittaker in 1960 as the richness in species of a particular community (Meijer *et al.*, 2011). In this study alpha diversity was understood as the diversity within the treatment groups. The study showed variations within treatments groups and similarity between Shannon and Simpson diversity. The alpha diversity indicated significant variations within the treatment groups but no significant difference between KWN3 and KWN5 (See figure 18, Table 10).



Figure 18: Alpha diversity (Shannon and Simpson) of the different groups.

Library	Ch-square Test	p-value
KWN1	366.88	< 0.001
KWN2	622.88	< 0.001
KWN3	156.2	< 0.001
KWN4	668.44	< 0.001
KWN5	201.4	< 0.001
KWN6	516.08	< 0.001
KWN7	550.88	< 0.001

Table 10: Chi-square test for the goodness of fit for the percentage of the abundance of phylum

#### 5.4.3 Beta Diversity

Beta diversity showed significant difference between the treatment administered to various groups (Figure 19 & 20, p < 0.001). The results showed that treatment in group 2 (KWN2) was similar to treatment administered to group 7 (KWN7). Aditionally, a significant difference was seen between treatment administered to group KWN5 and KWN7 (p < 0.001).



Figure 19: The figure shows beta diversity of microbial community of sprague dawley high fat fed rats under treatment

### **Cluster Dendrogram**



Figure 20: Dendogram describing treatment of various experimental groups

#### 5.5 Discussion

The presence of microbiota may indicate health or disease and may vary according to diet (Kachrimanidou & Tsintarakis, 2020a; Meng *et al.*, 2019; Yatsunenko *et al.*, 2012). In our study, Campylobacterota, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Actinobacterota, Bacteroidota, Deferribacterota, and Spirochaetota were present in all groups, albeit in varied levels based on relative abundance. The presence of these bacteria has been supported by previous studies indicating that Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidota and Proteobacteria are found at the small intestines as well as the colon and cecal (Luo *et al.*, 2021). The varying amounts observed may be due to differences in diets provided for each study group (Meng *et al.*, 2019; Yatsunenko *et al.*, 2012). Our study hypothesizes generally, that the presence of these firmicutes may have played a role in digestion, synthesis and absorption of nutrients, metabolism of vitamins, lipids, amino acids and short chain fatty acids as supported by previous studies (Krajmalnik-Brown *et al.*, 2012; Meng *et al.*, 2019; Ramírez-Pérez *et al.*, 2018, Lozupone *et al.*, 2012; Rinninella *et al.*, 2019).

Relative proportions varied according to our study groups. For instance, our study showed increased abundance of Campylobacterota on both positive control (Orlistat treated) and *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) treatment groups. Orlistat treated and *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) may have had similar effect as traditional medicine which have been reported to increase abundance of Campylobacterota (Ma *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, this study showed low abundance Campylobacterota on the negative control and was similar to previous study which indicated consumption of westernized diet

composed of high fat depletes Campylobacter (Masanta *et al.*, 2013). We hypothesize that *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) and Orlistat may provide compounds that help proliferation of Campylobacterota.

Our study further showed high fat diet with supplementation of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extracts decreased the intestinal Firmicutes when compared to the normal control (no high fat diet and no treatment) and negative control group (high fat diet but no treatment) respectively. This is similar to previous study which indicated that introduction of plant polyphenols inhibits growth of firmicutes and bacteroidata by downregulating firmicutes to bacteroidata ratio (Parkar *et al.*, 2013; Xue *et al.*, 2016). Firmicutes are also known to produce butyrate which increases insulin sensitivity and is also known as an energy metabolism regulator (Resch *et al.*, 2021). In contrast, although treatment KWN5 was given *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) methanolic extract of 300mg/kgbw, it showed a higher percentage of firmicutes and bacteroidota similar to negative control and comparable to other treatment groups. We postulate that this dose did not have a similar effect as that of orlistat and thus pancreatic lipase enzyme was not inhibited hence leading to an increase in absorption of fatty acids to the adipocytes and thus led to overweight in rats.

Other bacteria such as Proteobacteria, Actinobacterota, Deferribacterota, Spirochaetota were comparable among the treatment groups ( $\leq$ 5%). This study was inline with a study which indicated prevalence of proteobacteria in the intestines of normal control subjects (Shin *et al.*, 2015). Proteobacteria are facultative anaerobes which make intestinal niche

116

favor the colonization of obligate anaerobes which are later replaced by firmicutes and bacteroidetes (Shin *et al.*, 2015).

Beta diversity and the phylogenetic tree showed treatment administered was significantly different according to the clusters in our study. Generally, there were three clusters; cluster 1 (normal control KWN1), cluster 2 (KWN3 and KWN5) and cluster 3 (KWN 4-7). Cluster 1 was given a normal diet only and hence did not cluster with any other treatment group. On the other hand, cluster 2 had both the high fat diet group (negative control) and treatment group 5 which had both high fat diet and methanolic dose extract of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) at 300mg/kgbw. We postulate that the extract did not have an effect on gut microbiome of the rats hence was similar to that of negative control. The other treatment groups clustered together as Cluster 3 since the effect was almost similar on the gut microbiome.

This clustering provides further support that the compounds present on the *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extracts and orlistat drug had an effect on the microbial composition compared to the other clusters. We therefore, conclude that change in diet from normal diet to high fat diet significantly changed the microbiome population of caecum in rats. In addition, administration of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) extract at different doses had similar effect on the microbiome as that of the standard obesity drug (Orlistat). Hence, *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) aids in the prevention of obesity when consuming a high-fat diet.

On the other hand, given our experimental scenario, taking into account the control groups the effect observed especially on the growth of caecal microbes was likely due to the effect of solanum extract *or* orlistat. This study recommends the use of *Solanum villosum* as a dietary supplement to prevent obesity due to its accessibility, low cost, and minimal side effects.

#### CHAPTER SIX

#### **6.0 OVERALL DISCUSSION**

Obesity is the abnormal increase of adipocyte cells due to proliferation and differentiation of adipocyte precusor cells to mature adipocyte cells (Jakab *et al.*, 2021). This is attributed to homeostatic imbalance where by energy intake and energy expended are not proportionate (Most *et al.*, 2018). In addition, it is associated with various human health problems which include cardiovascular diseases, hyperglycemia, hypertension, dyslipidemia and change in gut microbiome composition (Jayachandran *et al.*, 2020). The factors involved in regulating obesity include; endocrine, genetic, nutritional, environmental, metabolic and pharmacological (Conforti & Pan, 2016).

Efforts to address obesity include various appropriate methods that have been in use for long which include: consumption of balanced diet, embracing of a healthy lifestyle through exercise and use of standard drugs such as orlistat, sibutramine, semaglutide, contrave (bupropion hydrochloride extended-release tablets and naltrexone), qsymia (phentermine), Belviq (lorcaserin hydrochloride) among others (Hursel & Westerterp-Plantenga, 2010; Tziomalos *et al.*, 2009). However, standard drugs have been found to have severe reactions hence researchers have embarked on natural products which have been found to be non toxic and with minimal side effects (Sun *et al.*, 2016).

*Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) species is widely used as medicine for various diseases due to its known phytochemical compounds (Hameed *et al.*, 2017). However, its effect of obesity has not been evaluated. Thus, this study used a randomized control design to

assess the anti obesity effects of *Solanum specie* on high fat fed diet *Sprague dawley* rats. This study indicated that *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) has anti obesity effects due to the presence of phytochemical compounds such as saponnins, phenols, flavonoids and steroids among others. We therefore postulate that the phytochemical compounds facilitated adipocytes differentiation. Adipocytes role was to maintain lipid homeostasis and energy balance by regulating free fatty acids and triglycerides storage. Additionally, increase of adipocyte cells was connected with both hypertrophy and hyperplasia and hence most natural product research foccusses on adipogenesis inhibition (Rufino *et al.*, 2021). Previous studies showed that blockage of transcription factors such as CCAAT/ enhancer binding protein beta (C/ EBP $\beta$ ) and Peroxisome proliferator- activated receptor gamma (PPAR $\gamma$ ) inhibits adipocyte differentiation by decreasing lipid content in adipocyte cells (Kang *et al.*, 2013; Xiao *et al.*, 2010). They also lead to a decrease in high density lipoprotein.

The current study also postulates that phytochemical compounds present in *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) leaves enhanced inhibition of pancreatic lipase enzyme thus inhibiting breakdown of triglycerides to fatty acids and monoglycerides leading to execretion of fats. Indeed, orlistat drug has been shown to covalently bind itself to serine pancreatic lipase active site thus blocking the absorption of the dietary fat through the intestines (Marrelli *et al.*, 2013; Mulzer *et al.*, 2014).

Our study also focused on gut microbial composition and according to previous studies presence of microbiota may indicate health or disease and may vary according to diet (Kachrimanidou & Tsintarakis, 2020b; Meng *et al.*, 2019; Yatsunenko *et al.*, 2012). In our study, all groups had Campylobacterota, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Actinobacterota, Bacteroidota, Deferribacterota, Spirochaetota but with varying amounts. Rats treated with *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) had microbiomes that were comparable to those of orlistat-treated rats. In order to determine which species of Solanum leaves exhibited the anti-obesity properties, we later went on to identify them at the molecular level.

The cryptic nature of members of *Solanaceae* makes it very difficult to assign taxonomic ranks to these members using morphological data alone (Chiarini *et al.*, 2018). We therefore used two primers ITS2 and Rbcl to identify the leaves at species level. Previous studies have shown that ITS markers are better in identifying plants at species level while Rbcl are better markers for identifying plants at generic level (El-Atroush, 2020). This is because the rbcl gene is maternally inherited and thus not subject to admixture, this ensures that any mutation neutral or beneficial mutation is conserved between the species (Yao *et al.*, 2010). Phylogenetic tree from ITS2 showed that the leaves were from *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) while rbcl indicated *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*).

The problem with species discrimination based in the current report arose due to the fact that both *S*, *nigrum* and *S*. *villosum* are members of the same species complex. A consensus tree of the ITS2 and rbcl was also used however, concatenation analyses have been shown to produce better results (Gadagkar *et al.*, 2005). The agreement between

rbcl and the combined set of rbcl and ITS sequences, together with morphological data strongly suggested the sample (*Kat\_001*) is a subspecie of *S. nigrum* known as *S. villosum*.

#### **CHAPTER SEVEN**

#### 7.0 OVERALL CONCLUSION

From this study we concluded that;

- 1. DCM and methanolic leaf extract reduced body mass index of high fat fed rats
- 2. DCM and methanolic leaf extracts reduced glucose, lipid profiles and liver function test of high fat fed diet rats
- DCM and methanolic extracts increased phylum campylobacterota on the gut of high fat fed rats
- 4. *Solanum* species that showed anti obesity effects and increased campylobacterota on high fat fed rats was identified through molecular analysis as *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*).

#### 7.1 Overall recommendations

This study recommends consumption of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) as a supplement used to reduce obesity. It acts as a pancreatic lipase inhibitor such as (orlistat drug) by blocking absorption of dietary fats through the intestines. It showed minimal side effects hence can be used in place of standard drugs such as Orlistat which are known to have severe side effects.

#### **CHAPTER EIGHT**

#### **8.0 SUGGESTION FOR FURTHER RESEARCH**

The anti-obesity effects of fractionated *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) compounds on high-fat-fed rats were not evaluated in our study, and the anti-obesity benefits of several related species such as; *Solanum scabrum, Solanum americanum, Solanum physallifolium*, and others, were also not identified. Additionally, we were unable to investigate *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) fractionated substances on the impacts of the caecal flora in rats receiving high fat diets.

To capture limitations of our study we propose further research on:

- 1. Anti obesity effects of fractionated compounds of *Solanum nigrum* (Subsp *villosum*) on high fat fed rats.
- 2. Antiobesity effects of various *Solanum* species such as *Solanum scarbrum*, *Solanum americanum*, *Solanum physallifolium* among others.
- 3. Determining effects of fractionated compounds on caecal microbiome of high fat fed rats.
- 4. Isolation and characterization of important obesity related microorganisms

#### REFERENCES

- Abdel-Sattar, E., Mehanna, E. T., El-Ghaiesh, S. H., Mohammad, H. M., Elgendy, H. A., & Zaitone, S. A. (2018). Pharmacological action of a pregnane glycoside, russelioside B, in dietary obese rats: Impact on weight gain and energy expenditure. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 990.
- Abinaya, K. R., & Pavitra, R. (2014). Management of obesity and its related disease by herbal drugs. *International Journal of Ayurvedic and Herbal Medicine*, 4(3), Article 3.
- Aguilera, C. M., Olza, J., & Gil, Á. (2013). Genetic susceptibility to obesity and metabolic syndrome in childhood. *Nutricion Hospitalaria*, 28(5), 44–55.
- Ahmad, N. N., Robinson, S., Kennedy-Martin, T., Poon, J. L., & Kan, H. (2021). Clinical outcomes associated with anti-obesity medications in real-world practice: A systematic literature review. *Obesity Reviews*, 22(11), e13326.
- Akinpelu, B. A., Igbeneghu, O. A., Awotunde, A. I., Iwalewa, E. O., & Oyedapo, O. O.
  (2014). Antioxidant and antibacterial activities of saponin fractions of
  Erythropheleum suaveolens (Guill. And Perri.) stem bark extract. *Scientific Research and Essays*, 9(18), Article 18.
- Al Khodor, S., Reichert, B., & Shatat, I. F. (2017a). The microbiome and blood pressure: Can microbes regulate our blood pressure? *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, *5*, 138.
- Al Khodor, S., Reichert, B., & Shatat, I. F. (2017b). The microbiome and blood pressure: Can microbes regulate our blood pressure? *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, *5*, 138.

- Albuquerque, D., Nóbrega, C., Manco, L., & Padez, C. (2017). The contribution of genetics and environment to obesity. *British Medical Bulletin*, 123(1), 159–173.
- Albuquerque, D., Stice, E., Rodríguez-López, R., Manco, L., & Nóbrega, C. (2015).
  Current review of genetics of human obesity: From molecular mechanisms to an evolutionary perspective. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics*, 290(4), 1191–1221.
- Al-Rehaily, A. J., Ahmad, M. S., Mustafa, J., Al-Oqail, M. M., Hassan, W. H., Khan, S. I., & Khan, I. A. (2013). Solanopubamine, a rare steroidal alkaloid from Solanum schimperianum: Synthesis of some new alkyl and acyl derivatives, their anticancer and antimicrobial evaluation. *Journal of Saudi Chemical Society*, *17*(1), Article 1.
- Alsherbiny, M. A., El Badawy, S. A., Elbedewy, H., Ezzat, S. M., Elsakhawy, F. S., &
  Abdel-Kawy, M. A. (2018). Comparative molluscicidal and schistosomicidal
  potentiality of two Solanum species and its isolated glycoalkaloids. *Pharmacognosy Research*, 10(1), Article 1.
- Anusuya, N., Raju, K., & Manian, S. (2010). Hepatoprotective and toxicological assessment of an ethnomedicinal plant Euphorbia fusiformis Buch.-Ham.ex
  D.Don. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *127*(2), 463–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2009.10.012.
- Aoun, A., Darwish, F., & Hamod, N. (2020). The influence of the gut microbiome on obesity in adults and the role of probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics for weight loss. *Preventive Nutrition and Food Science*, 25(2), 113.

- Aparicio, E., Canals, J., Arija, V., De Henauw, S., & Michels, N. (2016). The role of emotion regulation in childhood obesity: Implications for prevention and treatment. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 29(1), 17–29.
- Arif, M. F., Aristya, G. R., Subositi, D., Sari, A. N., & Kasiamdari, R. S. (2019). Short communication: Rbcl and matk chloroplast dna composition of green chireta (andrographis paniculata) from Indonesia. *Biodiversitas*, 20(12), 3575–3583. https://doi.org/10.13057/biodiv/d201216.
- Arika, W. M., Kibiti, C. M., Njagi, J. M., & Ngugi, M. P. (2019a). Anti-obesity effects of dichloromethane leaf extract of Gnidia glauca in high fat diet-induced obese rats. *Heliyon*, 5(11), e02800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02800.
- Arika, W. M., Kibiti, C. M., Njagi, J. M., & Ngugi, M. P. (2019b). Effects of DCM leaf extract of Gnidia glauca (Fresen) on locomotor activity, anxiety, and explorationlike behaviors in high-fat diet-induced obese rats. *Behavioural Neurology*, 2019.
- Arora, T., & Sharma, R. (2011). Fermentation potential of the gut microbiome:
   Implications for energy homeostasis and weight management. *Nutrition Reviews*, 69(2), Article 2.
- Asgary, S., Moshtaghian, S. J., Setorki, M., Kazemi, S., Rafieian-Kopaei, M., Adelnia,
  A., & Shamsi, F. (2011). Hypoglycaemic and hypolipidemic effects of pumpkin
  (Cucurbita pepo L.) on alloxan-induced diabetic rats. *African Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 5(23), Article 23.
- Atanasova, K. R., & Yilmaz, Ö. (2014). Looking in the Porphyromonas gingivalis cabinet of curiosities: The microbium, the host and cancer association. *Molecular Oral Microbiology*, 29(2), Article 2.
Atanu, F., Ebiloma, G., & Ajayi, E. (2011). A review of the pharmacological aspects of Solanum nigrum Linn. *Biotechnology and Molecular Biology Review*, 6, 1–7.

Aulinas, A. (2019). Physiology of the pineal gland and melatonin. Endotext [Internet].

- Avgerinos, K. I., Spyrou, N., Mantzoros, C. S., & Dalamaga, M. (2019). Obesity and cancer risk: Emerging biological mechanisms and perspectives. *Metabolism*, 92, 121–135.
- Bacopoulou, F., Efthymiou, V., Landis, G., Rentoumis, A., & Chrousos, G. P. (2015).
  Waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and waist-to-height ratio reference percentiles for abdominal obesity among Greek adolescents. *BMC Pediatrics*, *15*(1), Article 1.
- Badawy, A., Zayed, R., Ahmed, S., & Hassanean, H. (2013). Phytochemical and pharmacological studies of Solanum elaeagnifolium growing in Egypt. *Journal of Natural Products*, 6, 156–167.
- Bais, S., Singh, G. S., & Sharma, R. (2014). Antiobesity and hypolipidemic activity of Moringa oleifera leaves against high fat diet-induced obesity in rats. *Advances in Biology*, 2014.
- Banik, B., Das, S., & Das, M. K. (2020). Medicinal Plants with Potent Anti-inflammatory and Anti-arthritic Properties found in Eastern Parts of the Himalaya: An Ethnomedicinal Review. *Pharmacognosy Reviews*, 14(28), Article 28.
- Barros, R. P. C., Cunha, E. V. L. da, Catão, R. M. R., Scotti, L., Souza, M. S. R., Brás, A. A. Q., & Scotti, M. T. (2018). Virtual screening of secondary metabolites of the genus Solanum with potential antimicrobial activity. *Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia*, 28, 686–691.

- Bastías-Pérez, M., Zagmutt, S., Soler-Vázquez, M. C., Serra, D., Mera, P., & Herrero, L.
  (2020). Impact of adaptive thermogenesis in mice on the treatment of obesity. *Cells*, 9(2), 316.
- Belizário, J. E., Faintuch, J., & Garay-Malpartida, M. (2018). Gut microbiome dysbiosis and immunometabolism: New frontiers for treatment of metabolic diseases. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2018.
- Bhaswant, M., Poudyal, H., & Brown, L. (2015). Mechanisms of enhanced insulin secretion and sensitivity with n-3 unsaturated fatty acids. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 26(6), Article 6.
- Bjørnland, T., Langaas, M., Grill, V., & Mostad, I. L. (2017). Assessing geneenvironment interaction effects of FTO, MC4R and lifestyle factors on obesity using an extreme phenotype sampling design: Results from the HUNT study. *PLoS One*, 12(4), e0175071.
- Blüher, M. (2013). Adipose tissue dysfunction contributes to obesity related metabolic diseases. Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 27(2), 163–177.
- Blüher, M. (2019). Obesity: Global epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 15(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-019-0176-8

Bolyen, E., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M. R., Bokulich, N. A., Abnet, C. C., Al-Ghalith, G.
A., Alexander, H., Alm, E. J., Arumugam, M., & Asnicar, F. (2019).
Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. *Nature Biotechnology*, *37*(8), 852–857.

- Booth, A., Magnuson, A., & Foster, M. (2014). Detrimental and protective fat: Body fat distribution and its relation to metabolic disease. *Hormone Molecular Biology and Clinical Investigation*, 17(1), Article 1.
- Borel, A.-L., Coumes, S., Reche, F., Ruckly, S., Pépin, J.-L., Tamisier, R., Wion, N., & Arvieux, C. (2018). Waist, neck circumferences, waist-to-hip ratio: Which is the best cardiometabolic risk marker in women with severe obesity? The SOON cohort. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(11), e0206617.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206617.

- Bradlow, H. L. (2014). Obesity and the gut microbiome: Pathophysiological aspects.*Hormone Molecular Biology and Clinical Investigation*, *17*(1), Article 1.
- Bray, J. R., & Curtis, J. T. (1957). An ordination of the upland forest communities of southern Wisconsin. *Ecological Monographs*, 27(4), 326–349.
- Callahan, B. J., McMurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., & Holmes,
  S. P. (2016). DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon
  data. *Nature Methods*, *13*(7), 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869.
- Câmara, N. O. S., Iseki, K., Kramer, H., Liu, Z.-H., & Sharma, K. (2017). Kidney disease and obesity: Epidemiology, mechanisms and treatment. *Nature Reviews Nephrology*, *13*(3), 181–190.
- Chatzigeorgiou, A., Kandaraki, E., Papavassiliou, A. G., & Koutsilieris, M. (2014).
  Peripheral targets in obesity treatment: A comprehensive update. *Obesity Reviews*, 15(6), Article 6.

- Chauhan, R., Ruby, K. M., Shori, A., & Dwivedi, J. (2012). Solanum nigrum with dynamic therapeutic role: A review. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research*, 15(1), Article 1.
- Chavez-Santoscoy, R. A., Gutierrez-Uribe, J. A., Granados, O., Torre-Villalvazo, I.,
  Serna-Saldivar, S. O., Torres, N., Palacios-González, B., & Tovar, A. R. (2014).
  Flavonoids and saponins extracted from black bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) seed
  coats modulate lipid metabolism and biliary cholesterol secretion in C57BL/6
  mice. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *112*(6), Article 6.
- Chege, B. M., Waweru, M. P., Frederick, B., & Nyaga, N. M. (2019). The freeze-dried extracts of Rotheca myricoides (Hochst.) Steane & Mabb possess hypoglycemic, hypolipidemic and hypoinsulinemic on type 2 diabetes rat model. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 244, 112077.
- Chen, H., & Jiang, W. (2014). Application of high-throughput sequencing in understanding human oral microbiome related with health and disease. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 5, 508.
- Chen, T., Yu, W.-H., Izard, J., Baranova, O. V., Lakshmanan, A., & Dewhirst, F. E.
  (2010). The Human Oral Microbiome Database: A web accessible resource for investigating oral microbe taxonomic and genomic information. *Database*, 2010.
- Chen, Y. (2016). Regulation of food intake and the development of anti-obesity drugs. *Drug Discoveries & Therapeutics*, *10*(2), Article 2.
- Chevenet, F., Brun, C., Bañuls, A.-L., Jacq, B., & Christen, R. (2006). TreeDyn: Towards dynamic graphics and annotations for analyses of trees. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 7(1), 1–9.

- Chiarini, F. E., Scaldaferro, M. A., Bernardello, G., Acosta, M. C., Chiarini, F. E.,
  Scaldaferro, M. A., Bernardello, G., & Acosta, M. C. (2018). Cryptic genetic
  diversity in Solanum elaeagnifolium (Solanaceae) from South America. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 66(7), 531–540. https://doi.org/10.1071/BT17245.
- Chupov, V. S., Punina, E. O., MacHs, E. M., & Rodionov, A. V. (2007). Nucleotide composition and CpG and CpNpG content of ITS1, ITS2, and the 5.8S rRNA in representatives of the phylogenetic branches melanthiales-liliales and melanthiales-asparagales (Angiospermae, Monocotyledones) reflect the specifics of their evolution. *Molecular Biology*, 41(5), 737–755. https://doi.org/10.1134/S002689330705007X.
- Collier, S. R., McCraw, C., Campany, M., Lubkemann, A., StClair, P., Ji, H., Sandberg,
  K., Morgan, J. W., & Smith, C. J. (2020). Withings body cardio versus gold
  standards of pulse-wave velocity and body composition. *Journal of Personalized Medicine*, *10*(1), 17.
- Conforti, F., & Pan, M.-H. (2016). Natural Products in Anti-Obesity Therapy. *Molecules*, 21(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21121750.
- Connolly, J. D., & Hill, R. A. (2010). Triterpenoids. *Natural Product Reports*, 27(1), Article 1.
- Coppolino, G., Leporini, C., Rivoli, L., Ursini, F., di Paola, E. D., Cernaro, V., Arturi, F.,
  Bolignano, D., Russo, E., & De Sarro, G. (2018). Exploring the effects of DPP-4
  inhibitors on the kidney from the bench to clinical trials. *Pharmacological Research*, 129, 274–294.

- Corrêa, R. S., Coelho, C. P., Santos, M. H. dos, Ellena, J., & Doriguetto, A. C. (2009).
  Lupeol. Acta Crystallographica Section C Crystal Structure Communications, 65(3), o97–o99. https://doi.org/10.1107/S0108270109004910.
- Costa-Font, J., & Mas, N. (2016). 'Globesity'? The effects of globalization on obesity and caloric intake. *Food Policy*, *64*, 121–132.
- Cryan, J. F., O'Riordan, K. J., Sandhu, K., Peterson, V., & Dinan, T. G. (2020). The gut microbiome in neurological disorders. *The Lancet Neurology*, *19*(2), 179–194.
- Cui, H., López, M., & Rahmouni, K. (2017). The cellular and molecular bases of leptin and ghrelin resistance in obesity. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 13(6), 338–351.
- Daneschvar, H. L., Aronson, M. D., & Smetana, G. W. (2016). FDA-approved antiobesity drugs in the United States. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 129(8), Article 8.
- De Lorenzo, A., Gratteri, S., Gualtieri, P., Cammarano, A., Bertucci, P., & Di Renzo, L.
  (2019). Why primary obesity is a disease? *Journal of Translational Medicine*, *17*(1), Article 1.
- de Matos Feijó, F., Bertoluci, M. C., & Reis, C. (2011). Serotonin and hypothalamic control of hunger: A review. *Revista Da Associação Médica Brasileira (English Edition)*, 57(1), 74–77.
- Del Frari, G., & Ferreira, R. B. (2021). Microbial Blends: Terminology Overview and Introduction of the Neologism "Skopobiota." *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 12, 659592. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.659592.
- de-Mateo-Silleras, B., de-la-Cruz-Marcos, S., Alonso-Izquierdo, L., Camina-Martín, M. A., Marugán-de-Miguelsanz, J. M., & Redondo-del-Río, M. P. (2019).

Bioelectrical impedance vector analysis in obese and overweight children. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(1), e0211148. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0211148

- Deschasaux, M., Bouter, K. E., Prodan, A., Levin, E., Groen, A. K., Herrema, H.,
  Tremaroli, V., Bakker, G. J., Attaye, I., Pinto-Sietsma, S.-J., van Raalte, D. H.,
  Snijder, M. B., Nicolaou, M., Peters, R., Zwinderman, A. H., Bäckhed, F., &
  Nieuwdorp, M. (2018). Depicting the composition of gut microbiota in a
  population with varied ethnic origins but shared geography. *Nature Medicine*,
  24(10), Article 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0160-1
- Devaux, M., & Sassi, F. (2013). Social inequalities in obesity and overweight in 11 OECD countries. *The European Journal of Public Health*, 23(3), Article 3.
- Dhawan, D., & Gupta, J. (2017). Research article comparison of different solvents for phytochemical extraction potential from datura metel plant leaves. *Int J Biol Chem*, *11*(1), 17–22.
- Dinakaran, V., Rathinavel, A., Pushpanathan, M., Sivakumar, R., Gunasekaran, P., &
  Rajendhran, J. (2014). Elevated levels of circulating DNA in cardiovascular
  disease patients: Metagenomic profiling of microbiome in the circulation. *PloS One*, 9(8), Article 8.
- Ding, X., Zhu, F., Yang, Y., & Li, M. (2013). Purification, antitumor activity in vitro of steroidal glycoalkaloids from black nightshade (Solanum nigrum L.). *Food Chemistry*, 141(2), Article 2.
- Doaa, M., Dalia, M., & Ahmed, F. S. (2016). Gut bacterial microbiota in psoriasis: A case control study. *African Journal of Microbiology Research*, 10(33), 1337– 1343.

- Doruk, Y. U., Yarparvar, D., Akyel, Y. K., Gul, S., Taskin, A. C., Yilmaz, F., Baris, I., Ozturk, N., Türkay, M., & Ozturk, N. (2020). A CLOCK-binding small molecule disrupts the interaction between CLOCK and BMAL1 and enhances circadian rhythm amplitude. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 295(11), Article 11.
- Dunne, J. L., Triplett, E. W., Gevers, D., Xavier, R., Insel, R., Danska, J., & Atkinson, M.
  A. (2014). The intestinal microbiome in type 1 diabetes. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, 177(1), Article 1.
- Edgar, R. C. (2004). MUSCLE: Multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 32(5), 1792–1797. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkh340.
- Edmonds, J. M., & Chweya, J. A. (1997). *Black nightshades: Solanum nigrum L. and related species* (Vol. 15). Bioversity International.
- El-Atroush, H. (2020). DNA Barcoding of Two Medicinal Plants Using Molecular Markers. Egyptian Academic Journal of Biological Sciences. C, Physiology and Molecular Biology, 12(1), 83–92.
- El-Shiekh, R. A., Al-Mahdy, D. A., Mouneir, S. M., Hifnawy, M. S., & Abdel-Sattar, E.A. (2019). Anti-obesity effect of argel (Solenostemma argel) on obese rats fed a high fat diet. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 238, 111893.
- El-Tantawy, W. H. (2015). Biochemical effects, hypolipidemic and anti-inflammatory activities of Artemisia vulgaris extract in hypercholesterolemic rats. *Journal of Clinical Biochemistry and Nutrition*, 14–141.

- Farhan, M., Ikram, H., & Haleem, D. J. (2013). Chronic mild stress (CMS)-induced behavioral deficits were attenuated by fluoxetine. *Pak. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol*, 46(2), Article 2.
- Farhud, D., & Aryan, Z. (2018). Circadian rhythm, lifestyle and health: A narrative review. *Iranian Journal of Public Health*, 47(8), 1068.
- Faria, S. L., Faria, O. P., Cardeal, M. D., & Ito, M. K. (2014). Validation study of multifrequency bioelectrical impedance with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry among obese patients. *Obesity Surgery*, 24(9), Article 9.
- Farias, T. da S. M. de, Cruz, M. M., Sa, R. C. da C. de, Severi, I., Perugini, J., Senzacqua, M., Cerutti, S. M., Giordano, A., Cinti, S., & Alonso-Vale, M. I. C. (2019).
  Melatonin supplementation decreases hypertrophic obesity and inflammation induced by high-fat diet in mice. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 750.
- Faust, K., Sathirapongsasuti, J. F., Izard, J., Segata, N., Gevers, D., Raes, J., &
  Huttenhower, C. (2012). Microbial Co-occurrence Relationships in the Human
  Microbiome. *PLOS Computational Biology*, 8(7), e1002606.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002606.
- Finkelstein, E. A., Khavjou, O. A., Thompson, H., Trogdon, J. G., Pan, L., Sherry, B., & Dietz, W. (2012). Obesity and severe obesity forecasts through 2030. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 42(6), Article 6.
- Flandroy, L., Poutahidis, T., Berg, G., Clarke, G., Dao, M.-C., Decaestecker, E., Furman, E., Haahtela, T., Massart, S., & Plovier, H. (2018). The impact of human activities and lifestyles on the interlinked microbiota and health of humans and of ecosystems. *Science of the Total Environment*, 627, 1018–1038.

- Flint, H. J., Duncan, S. H., Scott, K. P., & Louis, P. (2015). Links between diet, gut microbiota composition and gut metabolism. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 74(1), 13–22.
- Flint, H. J., Scott, K. P., Duncan, S. H., Louis, P., & Forano, E. (2012). Microbial degradation of complex carbohydrates in the gut. *Gut Microbes*, 3(4), Article 4.
- Gadagkar, S. R., Rosenberg, M. S., & Kumar, S. (2005). Inferring species phylogenies from multiple genes: Concatenated sequence tree versus consensus gene tree. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part B: Molecular and Developmental Evolution*, 304(1), 64–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.b.21026.
- Gallego-Tévar, B., Rubio-Casal, A. E., de Cires, A., Figueroa, E., Grewell, B. J., &
  Castillo, J. M. (2018). Phenotypic plasticity of polyploid plant species promotes transgressive behaviour in their hybrids. *AoB Plants*, *10*(5), ply055.
- Gao, T., Yao, H., Song, J., Liu, C., Zhu, Y., Ma, X., Pang, X., Xu, H., & Chen, S. (2010).
  Identification of medicinal plants in the family Fabaceae using a potential DNA barcode ITS2. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *130*(1), 116–121.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2010.04.026.
- Garaulet, M., Ordovas, J. M., & Madrid, J. A. (2010). The chronobiology, etiology and pathophysiology of obesity. *International Journal of Obesity*, *34*(12), Article 12.
- Garnett, T., & Wilkes, A. (2014). Appetite for change: Social, economic and environmental transformations in China's food system. *Food Climate Research Network*.
- Gazarova, M., Galsneiderova, M., & Meciarova, L. (2019). Obesity diagnosis and mortality risk based on a body shape index (ABSI) and other indices and

anthropometric parameters in university students. *Roczniki Państwowego Zak\ladu Higieny*, 70(3), Article 3.

- Gebhardt, C. (2016). The historical role of species from the Solanaceae plant family in genetic research. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, *129*(12), 2281–2294.
- Georgescu, T., Lyons, D., & Heisler, L. K. (2021). Role of serotonin in body weight, insulin secretion and glycaemic control. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, 33(4), Article 4.
- Ghaisas, S., Maher, J., & Kanthasamy, A. (2016). Gut microbiome in health and disease: Linking the microbiome–gut–brain axis and environmental factors in the pathogenesis of systemic and neurodegenerative diseases. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 158, 52–62.
- Gilmour, J. S. L. (1955). LINNAEUS'S 'SPECIES PLANTARUM'; THE MAN AND THE BOOK. Proceedings Linnean Society London, 165(2), 156–157. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.1955.tb00736.x.

Gómez-Abellán, P., Madrid, J. A., Ordovás, J. M., & Garaulet, M. (2012).
Chronobiological aspects of obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Endocrinología y Nutrición (English Edition)*, 59(1), 50–61.

Gómez-Ambrosi, J., Silva, C., Galofré, J. C., Escalada, J., Santos, S., Millán, D., Vila, N.,
Ibañez, P., Gil, M. J., & Valentí, V. (2012). Body mass index classification misses
subjects with increased cardiometabolic risk factors related to elevated adiposity. *International Journal of Obesity*, 36(2), Article 2.

- Gong, L., Li, T., Chen, F., Duan, X., Yuan, Y., Zhang, D., & Jiang, Y. (2016). An inclusion complex of eugenol into β-cyclodextrin: Preparation, and physicochemical and antifungal characterization. *Food Chemistry*, 196, 324–330.
- Greenacre, M., & Primicerio, R. (2013). Measures of distance between samples: Euclidean. *Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Data*, 47–59.

Guindon, S., Dufayard, J.-F., Lefort, V., Anisimova, M., Hordijk, W., & Gascuel, O. (2010). New algorithms and methods to estimate maximum-likelihood phylogenies: Assessing the performance of PhyML 3.0. *Systematic Biology*, *59*(3), 307–321.

- Guo, X., Cao, X., Fang, X., Guo, A., & Li, E. (2021). Inhibitory effects of fermented Ougan (Citrus reticulata cv. Suavissima) juice on high-fat diet-induced obesity associated with white adipose tissue browning and gut microbiota modulation in mice. *Food & Function*, 12(19), 9300–9314.
- Guruvayoorappan, C., Sakthivel, K., Ganesan, P., Bakliwal, V., Javadi, M., & Kunnumakkara, A. (2015). *Cancer Preventive and Therapeutic Properties of Fruits and Vegetables: An Overview*.

https://doi.org/10.1142/9789814508896\_0001.

- Gylling, H., & Simonen, P. (2015). Phytosterols, phytostanols, and lipoprotein metabolism. *Nutrients*, 7(9), 7965–7977.
- Hall, T. A. (1999). BioEdit: A user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. *Nucleic Acids Symposium Series*, 41, 95–98.

- Hamady, M., & Knight, R. (2009). Tools, techniques, and challenges Microbial community profiling for human microbiome projects. *Genome Res*, 19, 1141– 1152.
- Hameed, I., Calixto, R., & Hadi, M. (2017). A Review: Solanum nigrum L.
  Antimicrobial, Antioxidant properties, Hepatoprotective effects and Analysis of Bioactive Natural Compounds. *Research Journal of Pharmacy and Technology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.5958/0974-360X.2017.00737.5
- Hameed, I. H., Cotos, M. R. C., & Hadi, M. Y. (2017). A review: Solanum nigrum L. antimicrobial, antioxidant properties, hepatoprotective effects and analysis of bioactive natural compounds. *Research Journal of Pharmacy and Technology*, *10*(11), 4063–4068.
- Han, J., Shen, Z., Li, Y., Luo, C., Xu, Q., Yang, K., & Zhang, Z. (2018). Beta diversity patterns of post-fire forests in central Yunnan Plateau, southwest China:
  Disturbances intensify the priority effect in the community assembly. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *9*, 1000.
- Harwood Jr, H. J. (2012). The adipocyte as an endocrine organ in the regulation of metabolic homeostasis. *Neuropharmacology*, *63*(1), Article 1.
- Hasani-Ranjbar, S., Jouyandeh, Z., & Abdollahi, M. (2013). A systematic review of antiobesity medicinal plants-an update. *Journal of Diabetes & Metabolic Disorders*, *12*(1), Article 1.
- Heath, T. A., Hedtke, S. M., & Hillis, D. M. (2008). Taxon sampling and the accuracy of phylogenetic analyses. *Journal of Systematics and Evolution*, 46(3), 239–257. https://doi.org/10.3724/SP.J.1002.2008.08016.

- Hills, A. P., Andersen, L. B., & Byrne, N. M. (2011). Physical activity and obesity in children. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 45(11), 866–870.
- Hong, M., Li, S., Tan, H. Y., Wang, N., Tsao, S.-W., & Feng, Y. (2015). Current status of herbal medicines in chronic liver disease therapy: The biological effects, molecular targets and future prospects. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 16(12), 28705–28745.
- Honma, S. (2018). The mammalian circadian system: A hierarchical multi-oscillator structure for generating circadian rhythm. *The Journal of Physiological Sciences*, 68(3), Article 3.
- Hossain, M. R. A., Pramanik, M. M. H., & Hasan, M. M. (2017). Diversity indices of plankton communities in the River Meghna of Bangladesh. *International Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Studies*, *5*(3), 330–334.
- Hruby, A., & Hu, F. B. (2015). The epidemiology of obesity: A big picture. *Pharmacoeconomics*, *33*(7), Article 7.
- Hu, H. H., Nayak, K. S., & Goran, M. I. (2011). Assessment of abdominal adipose tissue and organ fat content by magnetic resonance imaging. *Obesity Reviews*, 12(5), Article 5.
- Huang, J., Wang, Y., Xie, Z., Zhou, Y., Zhang, Y., & Wan, X. (2014). The anti-obesity effects of green tea in human intervention and basic molecular studies. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 68(10), 1075–1087.
- Huang, W.-Z., Yang, B.-Y., Yu, H.-Y., Bloom, M. S., Markevych, I., Heinrich, J.,Knibbs, L. D., Leskinen, A., Dharmage, S. C., Jalaludin, B., Morawska, L.,Jalava, P., Guo, Y., Lin, S., Zhou, Y., Liu, R.-Q., Feng, D., Hu, L.-W., Zeng, X.-

W., ... Dong, G.-H. (2020). Association between community greenness and
obesity in urban-dwelling Chinese adults. *Science of The Total Environment*, 702,
135040. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135040

- Hugerth, L. W., & Andersson, A. F. (2017). Analysing microbial community composition through amplicon sequencing: From sampling to hypothesis testing. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, 1561.
- Hursel, R., & Westerterp-Plantenga, M. S. (2010). Thermogenic ingredients and body weight regulation. *International Journal of Obesity*, *34*(4), 659–669.
- Izquierdo, A. G., & Crujeiras, A. B. (2019). Obesity-related epigenetic changes after bariatric surgery. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, *10*, 232.
- Jabamalairaj, A., Priatama, R. A., Heo, J., & Park, S. J. (2019). Medicinal metabolites with common biosynthetic pathways in Solanum nigrum. *Plant Biotechnology Reports*, 13(4), 315–327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11816-019-00549-w.
- Jagatheeswari, D., Bharathi, T., & Ali, H. S. J. (2013). Black night shade (Solanum nigrum L.)-an updated overview. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biological Archives*, 4(2), Article 2.
- Jain, R., Sharma, A., Gupta, S., Sarethy, I. P., & Gabrani, R. (2011). Solanum nigrum: Current perspectives on therapeutic properties. *Altern Med Rev*, 16(1), Article 1.
- Jakab, J., Miškić, B., Mikšić, Š., Juranić, B., Ćosić, V., Schwarz, D., & Včev, A. (2021).
   Adipogenesis as a Potential Anti-Obesity Target: A Review of Pharmacological
   Treatment and Natural Products. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy*, 14, 67–83. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S281186

- Jakobsdottir, G., Nyman, M., & Fåk, F. (2014). Designing future prebiotic fiber to target metabolic syndrome. *Nutrition*, *30*(5), 497–502.
- Janepher, M. N., Rose, O., Solomon, S., & Leonard, W. S. (2021). Morphological Characterization of African Nightshade (*Solanum Nigrum* L) Accessions in Western Kenya. *African Journal of Education, Science and Technology*, 6(4), 185–197.
- Jang, W. S., & Choung, S. Y. (2013). Antiobesity effects of the ethanol extract of Laminaria japonica Areshoung in high-fat-diet-induced obese rat. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2013.
- Jaradat, N., Hussen, F., & Al Ali, A. (2015). Preliminary phytochemical screening, quantitative estimation of total flavonoids, total phenols and antioxidant activity of Ephedra alata Decne. *J. Mater. Environ. Sci*, *6*(6), Article 6.
- Jayachandran, M., Chung, S. S. M., & Xu, B. (2020). A critical review on diet-induced microbiota changes and cardiovascular diseases. *Critical Reviews in Food Science* and Nutrition, 60(17), 2914–2925.
- Jayanthy, A., Maurya, A., Verma, S. C., Srivastava, A., Shankar, M. B., & Sharma, R. K. (2016). A Brief Review on Pharmacognosy, Phytochemistry and Therapeutic Potential of Solanum Indium L. used in Indian Systems of Medicine. *Asian Journal of Research in Chemistry*, 9(3), Article 3.
- Jayawardena, R., Ranasinghe, P., Wijayabandara, M., Hills, A. P., & Misra, A. (2017). Nutrition transition and obesity among teenagers and young adults in South Asia. *Current Diabetes Reviews*, 13(5), 444–451.

- Ji, W., Zhao, M., Wang, M., Yan, W., Liu, Y., Ren, S., Lu, J., Wang, B., & Chen, L. (2017a). Effects of canagliflozin on weight loss in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. *PLoS One*, 12(6), Article 6.
- Ji, W., Zhao, M., Wang, M., Yan, W., Liu, Y., Ren, S., Lu, J., Wang, B., & Chen, L. (2017b). Effects of canagliflozin on weight loss in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. *PLoS One*, 12(6), e0179960.
- Jiang, Y., Ding, S., Li, F., Zhang, C., Sun-Waterhouse, D., Chen, Y., & Li, D. (2019). Effects of (+)-catechin on the differentiation and lipid metabolism of 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 62, 103558.
- Johnson, C. L., & Versalovic, J. (2012). The human microbiome and its potential importance to pediatrics. *Pediatrics*, *129*(5), 950–960.
- Johnson, C. R., Combs Jr, G. F., & Thavarajah, P. (2013). Lentil (Lens culinaris L.): A prebiotic-rich whole food legume. *Food Research International*, *51*(1), 107–113.
- Kachrimanidou, M., & Tsintarakis, E. (2020a). Insights into the role of human gut microbiota in Clostridioides difficile infection. *Microorganisms*, 8(2), Article 2.
- Kachrimanidou, M., & Tsintarakis, E. (2020b). Insights into the role of human gut microbiota in Clostridioides difficile infection. *Microorganisms*, 8(2), 200.
- Kang, H.-J., Seo, H.-A., Go, Y., Oh, C. J., Jeoung, N. H., Park, K.-G., & Lee, I.-K.
  (2013). Dimethylfumarate suppresses adipogenic differentiation in 3T3-L1
  preadipocytes through inhibition of STAT3 activity. *PLoS One*, 8(4), e61411.
- Kang, S. H., Joo, J. H., Park, E. C., & Jang, S.-I. (2020). Effect of sedentary time on the risk of orthopaedic problems in people aged 50 years and older. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 24(8), 839–845.

- Kasper, A. M., Langan-Evans, C., Hudson, J. F., Brownlee, T. E., Harper, L. D.,
  Naughton, R. J., Morton, J. P., & Close, G. L. (2021). Come back skinfolds, all is forgiven: A narrative review of the efficacy of common body composition methods in applied sports practice. *Nutrients*, *13*(4), 1075.
- Kass, E., & Wink, M. (1997). Phylogenetic Relationships in the Papilionoideae (Family Leguminosae) Based on Nucleotide Sequences of cpDNA (rbcL) and ncDNA (ITS1 and 2). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 8(1), 65–88.
- Kaunda, J. S., & Zhang, Y.-J. (2019). The genus solanum: An ethnopharmacological, phytochemical and biological properties review. *Natural Products and Bioprospecting*, 9(2), Article 2.
- Keaver, L., Webber, L., Dee, A., Shiely, F., Marsh, T., Balanda, K., & Perry, I. (2013).
  Application of the UK foresight obesity model in Ireland: The health and economic consequences of projected obesity trends in Ireland. *PloS One*, 8(11), Article 11.
- Keawsa-Ard, S., Liawruangrath, B., Liawruangrath, S., Teerawutgulrag, A., & Pyne, S.
  G. (2012). Chemical constituents and antioxidant and biological activities of the essential oil from leaves of Solanum spirale. *Natural Product Communications*, 7(7), Article 7.
- Khalil, S. F., Mohktar, M. S., & Ibrahim, F. (2014). The theory and fundamentals of bioimpedance analysis in clinical status monitoring and diagnosis of diseases. *Sensors*, 14(6), Article 6.
- Kho, Z. Y., & Lal, S. K. (2018). The human gut microbiome–a potential controller of wellness and disease. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 1835.

- Kihiu, E. N., & Amuakwa-Mensah, F. (2021). Agricultural market access and dietary diversity in Kenya: Gender considerations towards improved household nutritional outcomes. *Food Policy*, 100, 102004.
- Kim, B.-R., Shin, J., Guevarra, R. B., Lee, J. H., Kim, D. W., Seol, K.-H., Lee, J.-H., Kim, H. B., & Isaacson, R. E. (2017). Deciphering diversity indices for a better understanding of microbial communities. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 27(12), 2089–2093.
- Kim, B.-Y., Kang, S. M., Kang, J.-H., Kim, K. K., Kim, B., Kim, S. J., Kim, Y.-H., Kim, J.-H., Kim, J. H., & Nam, G. E. (2020). Current long-term pharmacotherapies for the management of obesity. *Journal of Obesity & Metabolic Syndrome*, 29(2), 99.
- Kim, D. H., Park, Y. H., Lee, J. S., Jeong, H. I., Lee, K. W., & Kang, T. H. (2020). Antiobesity effect of DKB-117 through the inhibition of pancreatic lipase and αamylase activity. *Nutrients*, *12*(10), 3053.
- Kim, J. W., Lee, Y.-S., Seol, D. J., Cho, I. J., Ku, S. K., Choi, J.-S., & Lee, H.-J. (2018). Anti-obesity and fatty liver-preventing activities of Lonicera caerulea in high-fat diet-fed mice. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 42(6), 3047–3064.
- Kim, T. W., Jeong, J.-H., & Hong, S.-C. (2015). The Impact of Sleep and Circadian Disturbance on Hormones and Metabolism. *International Journal of Endocrinology*, 2015, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/591729
- Kimiywe, J., Waudo, J., Mbithe, D., & Maundu, P. (2007). Utilization and medicinal value of indigenous leafy vegetables consumed in urban and peri-urban Nairobi.
   African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development, 7(4), 1–15.

- Knapp, S., Vorontsova, M. S., & Prohens, J. (2013). Wild relatives of the eggplant (Solanum melongena L.: Solanaceae): new understanding of species names in a complex group. *PloS One*, 8(2), e57039.
- Kohlsdorf, K., Nunziata, A., Funcke, J.-B., Brandt, S., von Schnurbein, J., Vollbach, H., Lennerz, B., Fritsch, M., Greber-Platzer, S., & Fröhlich-Reiterer, E. (2018). Early childhood BMI trajectories in monogenic obesity due to leptin, leptin receptor, and melanocortin 4 receptor deficiency. *International Journal of Obesity*, *42*(9), 1602–1609.
- Konstantinidi, M., & Koutelidakis, A. E. (2019). Functional Foods and Bioactive
  Compounds: A Review of Its Possible Role on Weight Management and
  Obesity's Metabolic Consequences. *Medicines (Basel, Switzerland)*, 6(3), E94.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/medicines6030094.
- Krajmalnik-Brown, R., Ilhan, Z.-E., Kang, D.-W., & DiBaise, J. K. (2012). Effects of gut microbes on nutrient absorption and energy regulation. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice*, 27(2), 201–214.
- Kress, W. J., & Erickson, D. L. (2007). A Two-Locus Global DNA Barcode for Land Plants: The Coding rbcL Gene Complements the Non-Coding trnH-psbA Spacer Region. *PLoS ONE*, 2(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000508.
- Kuete, V. (2017). Other health benefits of African medicinal spices and vegetables. In Medicinal spices and vegetables from Africa (pp. 329–349). Elsevier.
- Kusai, N. A., Mior Zakuan Azmi, M., Zulkifly, S., Yusof, M. T., & Mohd Zainudin, N.A. I. (2016). Morphological and molecular characterization of Curvularia and

related species associated with leaf spot disease of rice in Peninsular Malaysia. *Rendiconti Lincei*, 27(2), 205–214.

- Lax, S., Nagler, C. R., & Gilbert, J. A. (2015). Our interface with the built environment: Immunity and the indoor microbiota. *Trends in Immunology*, *36*(3), 121–123.
- Lee, B., & Shao, J. (2014). Adiponectin and energy homeostasis. *Reviews in Endocrine* and Metabolic Disorders, 15(2), 149–156.
- Lee, G., & Goosens, K. A. (2015). Sampling blood from the lateral tail vein of the rat. JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments), 99, Article 99.
- Lee, M. O. (1929). Determination of the surface area of the white rat with its application to the expression of metabolic results. *American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content*, 89(1), Article 1.
- Lemos, L. N., Fulthorpe, R. R., Triplett, E. W., & Roesch, L. F. (2011). Rethinking microbial diversity analysis in the high throughput sequencing era. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 86(1), 42–51.
- Lexa Gomezgani Matasyoh & Asa Nyang'au. Bosire. (2016). The Solanum nigrum Complex (Black Night Shade) Grown in the Rift Valley, Western and Nyanza Provinces of Kenya. *Journal of Life Sciences*, 10(5). https://doi.org/10.17265/1934-7391/2016.05.002.
- Lin, H. V., Frassetto, A., Kowalik Jr, E. J., Nawrocki, A. R., Lu, M. M., Kosinski, J. R., Hubert, J. A., Szeto, D., Yao, X., & Forrest, G. (2012). Butyrate and propionate protect against diet-induced obesity and regulate gut hormones via free fatty acid receptor 3-independent mechanisms. *PloS One*, 7(4), e35240.

- Liu, J., Jiang, J., Song, S., Tornabene, L., Chabarria, R., Naylor, G. J., & Li, C. (2017).
   Multilocus DNA barcoding–species identification with multilocus data. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–12.
- Liu, T.-T., Liu, X.-T., Chen, Q.-X., & Shi, Y. (2020). Lipase inhibitors for obesity: A review. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, *128*, 110314.
- Loos, R. J., & Yeo, G. S. (2022). The genetics of obesity: From discovery to biology. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *23*(2), 120–133.
- Lozupone, C. A., Stombaugh, J. I., Gordon, J. I., Jansson, J. K., & Knight, R. (2012). Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota. *Nature*, *489*(7415), 220–230.
- Lunagariya, N. A., Patel, N. K., Jagtap, S. C., & Bhutani, K. K. (2014). Inhibitors of pancreatic lipase: State of the art and clinical perspectives. *EXCLI Journal*, 13, 897.
- Luo, L., & Liu, M. (2016). Adipose tissue in control of metabolism. Journal of Endocrinology, 231(3), R77–R99.
- Luo, L., Zhang, J., Liu, M., Qiu, S., Yi, S., Yu, W., Liu, T., Huang, X., & Ning, F.
  (2021). Monofloral Triadica Cochinchinensis Honey Polyphenols Improve Alcohol-Induced Liver Disease by Regulating the Gut Microbiota of Mice. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12, 1846.
- Lyseng-Williamson, K. A. (2019). Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists in type 2 diabetes: Their use and differential features. *Clinical Drug Investigation*, *39*(8), Article 8.

- Ma, J., Prince, A. L., Bader, D., Hu, M., Ganu, R., Baquero, K., Blundell, P., Alan Harris, R., Frias, A. E., & Grove, K. L. (2014). High-fat maternal diet during pregnancy persistently alters the offspring microbiome in a primate model. *Nature Communications*, 5(1), 1–11.
- Magar, R. T., & Sohng, J. K. (2020). A review on structure, modifications and structureactivity relation of quercetin and its derivatives.
- Mailoa, M. N., Mahendradatta, M., Laga, A., & Djide, N. (2014). Antimicrobial activities of tannins extract from guava leaves (Psidium guajava L.) on pathogens microbial. *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research*, 3(1), Article 1.
- Major, G., & Spiller, R. (2014). Irritable bowel syndrome, inflammatory bowel disease and the microbiome. *Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes, and Obesity*, 21(1), Article 1.
- Malone, J. I., & Hansen, B. C. (2019). Does obesity cause type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)? Or is it the opposite? *Pediatric Diabetes*, 20(1), 5–9.
- Mani, R. K., B, P. J., R, B. D., & Ahmed, S. S. (2022). The Traditional and
   Pharmacological Properties of Solanum nigrum: A Review. *International Journal* of Indigenous Herbs and Drugs, 49–55. https://doi.org/10.46956/ijihd.v7i2.317
- Mansur, R. B., Brietzke, E., & McIntyre, R. S. (2015). Is there a "metabolic-mood syndrome"? A review of the relationship between obesity and mood disorders. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 52, 89–104.
- Marrelli, M., Loizzo, M. R., Nicoletti, M., Menichini, F., & Conforti, F. (2013). Inhibition of key enzymes linked to obesity by preparations from Mediterranean

dietary plants: Effects on α-amylase and pancreatic lipase activities. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 68(4), 340–346.

Masanta, W. O., Heimesaat, M. M., Bereswill, S., Tareen, A. M., Lugert, R., Groß, U., & Zautner, A. E. (2013). Modification of Intestinal Microbiota and Its Consequences for Innate Immune Response in the Pathogenesis of Campylobacteriosis. *Clinical and Developmental Immunology*, 2013, e526860. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/526860.

Maseko, I., Mabhaudhi, T., Tesfay, S., Araya, H. T., Fezzehazion, M., & Plooy, C. P. D. (2018). African Leafy Vegetables: A Review of Status, Production and Utilization in South Africa. *Sustainability*, 10(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10010016.

- Matasyoh, L., & Bosire, A. (2016). The Solanum nigrum Complex (Black Night Shade) Grown in the Rift Valley, Western and Nyanza Provinces of Kenya. *J Life Sci*, *10*, 228–232.
- Matic, I., Guidi, A., Kenzo, M., Mattei, M., & Galgani, A. (2018). Investigation of medicinal plants traditionally used as dietary supplements: A review on Moringa oleifera. *Journal of Public Health in Africa*, 9(3).
- McComb, C., Carrick, D., McClure, J. D., Woodward, R., Radjenovic, A., Foster, J. E., & Berry, C. (2015). Assessment of the relationships between myocardial contractility and infarct tissue revealed by serial magnetic resonance imaging in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *The International Journal of Cardiovascular Imaging*, *31*(6), 1201–1209.

- Medic, G., Wille, M., & Hemels, M. E. (2017). Short-and long-term health consequences of sleep disruption. *Nature and Science of Sleep*, *9*, 151.
- Mehmood, F., Abdullah, Ubaid, Z., Bao, Y., Poczai, P., & Mirza, B. (2020). Comparative Plastomics of Ashwagandha (Withania, Solanaceae) and Identification of Mutational Hotspots for Barcoding Medicinal Plants. *Plants*, 9(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9060752.
- Meijer, S. S., Whittaker, R. J., & Borges, P. A. V. (2011). The effects of land-use change on arthropod richness and abundance on Santa Maria Island (Azores):
  Unmanaged plantations favour endemic beetles. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, *15*(4), 505–522. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-010-9330-2.
- Meng, Y., Li, X., Zhang, J., Wang, C., & Lu, F. (2019). Effects of different diets on microbiota in the small intestine mucus and weight regulation in rats. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–12.
- Miraj, S. (2016). Solanum nigrum: A review study with anti-cancer and antitumor perspective. *Der Pharma Chemica*, 8(17), Article 17.
- Mitra, S., Fernandez-Del-Valle, M., & Hill, J. E. (2017). The role of MRI in understanding the underlying mechanisms in obesity associated diseases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1863(5), 1115–1131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.09.008.
- Mkuu, R. S., Epnere, K., & Chowdhury, M. A. B. (2018). Peer reviewed: Prevalence and predictors of overweight and obesity among Kenyan women. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 15.

- Mohamed, G. A., Ibrahim, S. R., Elkhayat, E. S., & El Dine, R. S. (2014a). Natural antiobesity agents. *Bulletin of Faculty of Pharmacy, Cairo University*, 52(2), 269– 284.
- Mohamed, G. A., Ibrahim, S. R., Elkhayat, E. S., & El Dine, R. S. (2014b). Natural anti-obesity agents. *Bulletin of Faculty of Pharmacy, Cairo University*, 52(2), Article
  2.
- Mohan, M., Jaiswal, B. S., & Kasture, S. (2009). Effect of Solanum torvum on blood pressure and metabolic alterations in fructose hypertensive rats. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 126(1), Article 1.
- Mohy-Ud-Din, A., Khan, Z.-U.-D., Ahmad, M., & Kashmiri, M. A. (2010).
  Chemotaxonomic value of alkaloids in Solanum nigrum complex. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 42(1), 653–660.
- Monteiro, C. A., Moubarac, J.-C., Cannon, G., Ng, S. W., & Popkin, B. (2013). Ultraprocessed products are becoming dominant in the global food system. *Obesity Reviews*, *14*, 21–28.
- Monteiro, M. P., & Batterham, R. L. (2017). The importance of the gastrointestinal tract in controlling food intake and regulating energy balance. *Gastroenterology*, *152*(7), Article 7.
- Moon, J., Do, H.-J., Kim, O. Y., & Shin, M.-J. (2013). Antiobesity effects of quercetinrich onion peel extract on the differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes and the adipogenesis in high fat-fed rats. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *58*, 347–354.
- Moradi, R., Hajialiani, M., Salmani, S., Almasi, M., Zangeneh, A., & Zangeneh, M. M. (2019). Effect of aqueous extract of Allium saralicum RM Fritsch on fatty liver

induced by high-fat diet in Wistar rats. *Comparative Clinical Pathology*, 28(5), 1205–1211.

- Morris, E. K., Caruso, T., Buscot, F., Fischer, M., Hancock, C., Maier, T. S., Meiners, T., Müller, C., Obermaier, E., Prati, D., Socher, S. A., Sonnemann, I., Wäschke, N., Wubet, T., Wurst, S., & Rillig, M. C. (2014). Choosing and using diversity indices: Insights for ecological applications from the German Biodiversity Exploratories. *Ecology and Evolution*, *4*(18), 3514–3524. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1155.
- Mosavat, M., Omar, S. Z., Jamalpour, S., & Tan, P. C. (2020). Serum glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) in association with the risk of gestational diabetes: A prospective case-control study. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2020.
- Most, J., Vallo, P. M., Gilmore, L. A., St. Amant, M., Hsia, D. S., Altazan, A. D., Beyl,
  R. A., Ravussin, E., & Redman, L. M. (2018). Energy expenditure in pregnant
  women with obesity does not support energy intake recommendations. *Obesity*, 26(6), 992–999.
- Mulzer, M., Tiegs, B. J., Wang, Y., Coates, G. W., & O'Doherty, G. A. (2014). Total synthesis of tetrahydrolipstatin and stereoisomers via a highly regio-and diastereoselective carbonylation of epoxyhomoallylic alcohols. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 136(30), 10814–10820.
- Murugesan, S., Nirmalkar, K., Hoyo-Vadillo, C., García-Espitia, M., Ramírez-Sánchez, D., & García-Mena, J. (2018). Gut microbiome production of short-chain fatty

acids and obesity in children. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*, 37(4), 621–625.

- Muthuvel, A., Jothibas, M., & Manoharan, C. (2020). Effect of chemically synthesis compared to biosynthesized ZnO-NPs using Solanum nigrum leaf extract and their photocatalytic, antibacterial and in-vitro antioxidant activity. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 8(2), 103705.
- Mutiso, S. K., Rono, D. K., & Bukachi, F. (2014). Relationship between anthropometric measures and early electrocardiographic changes in obese rats. *BMC Research Notes*, 7(1), 1–7.
- Nandhini, T., Paramaguru, P., & Vajayakumar, A. (2014). Morphological characterization and genetic variability study on Makoi (Solanum nigrum L.) genotypes. *Plant Arch*, 14, 35–40.
- Nauck, M. A., Vardarli, I., Deacon, C. F., Holst, J. J., & Meier, J. J. (2011). Secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) in type 2 diabetes: What is up, what is down? *Diabetologia*, 54(1), Article 1.
- Nawaz, A., Jamal, A., Arif, A., & Parveen, Z. (2021). In vitro cytotoxic potential of Solanum nigrum against human cancer cell lines. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 28(8), 4786–4792.
- Nazish, I., & Ansari, S. H. (2018). Emblica officinalis–Anti-obesity activity. *Journal of Complementary and Integrative Medicine*, 15(2).
- Nderitu, K. W., Ager, E., Mecha, E., & Nyachieo, A. (2023). DNA barcoding using its2 and RBCL markers for Solanaceae species identification. *East African Medical Journal*, *100*(1), 5567–5574.

- Nderitu, K. W., Mwenda, N. S., Macharia, N. J., Barasa, S. S., & Ngugi, M. P. (2017). Antiobesity activities of methanolic extracts of Amaranthus dubius, Cucurbita pepo, and Vigna unguiculata in progesterone-induced obese Mice. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2017.
- Neri, S. G., Harvey, L. A., Tiedemann, A., Gadelha, A. B., & Lima, R. M. (2020). Obesity and falls in older women: Mediating effects of muscle quality, foot loads and postural control. *Gait & Posture*, 77, 138–143.
- Neu, J. (2016). The microbiome during pregnancy and early postnatal life. *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, 21(6), 373–379.
- Neuman, H., & Koren, O. (2017). The pregnancy microbiome. *Intestinal Microbiome: Functional Aspects in Health and Disease*, 88, 1–10.
- Nguyen, T., & Lau, D. C. (2012). The obesity epidemic and its impact on hypertension. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, 28(3), 326–333.
- Ni, Y., Ni, L., Zhuge, F., Xu, L., Fu, Z., & Ota, T. (2020). Adipose tissue macrophage phenotypes and characteristics: The key to insulin resistance in obesity and metabolic disorders. *Obesity*, 28(2), 225–234.
- Nie, X.-P., Yao, F., Yue, X.-D., Li, G.-S., & Dai, S.-J. (2014). New eudesmane-type sesquiterpenoid from Solanum lyratum with cytotoxic activity. *Natural Product Research*, 28(9), Article 9.
- Noble, E. E., Hsu, T. M., Jones, R. B., Fodor, A. A., Goran, M. I., & Kanoski, S. E. (2017). Early-life sugar consumption affects the rat microbiome independently of obesity. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 147(1), 20–28.

- Nyeem, M., Hossain, A., & Mamun, A. (2017). Solanum nigrum (Maku): A review of pharmacological activities and clinical effects. *Indian Journal of Applied Research*, 3, 12–17.
- Odamaki, T., Kato, K., Sugahara, H., Hashikura, N., Takahashi, S., Xiao, J., Abe, F., & Osawa, R. (2016). Age-related changes in gut microbiota composition from newborn to centenarian: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Microbiology*, *16*(1), 1–12.
- Ohno, M., Murakami, K., El-Aasr, M., Zhou, J.-R., Yokomizo, K., Ono, M., & Nohara, T. (2012). New spirostanol glycosides from Solanum nigrum and S. jasminoides. *Journal of Natural Medicines*, 66(4), Article 4.
- Okeke, F., Roland, B. C., & Mullin, G. E. (2014). The role of the gut microbiome in the pathogenesis and treatment of obesity. *Global Advances in Health and Medicine*, 3(3), 44–57.
- Oliveira, F. C., Bauer, E. J., Ribeiro, C. M., Pereira, S. A., Beserra, B. T., Wajner, S. M., Maia, A. L., Neves, F. A., Coelho, M. S., & Amato, A. (2021). Liraglutide activates type 2 deiodinase and enhances β3-adrenergic-induced thermogenesis in mouse adipose tissue. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 1851.
- Ono, D., Honma, K., Yanagawa, Y., Yamanaka, A., & Honma, S. (2018). Role of GABA in the regulation of the central circadian clock of the suprachiasmatic nucleus. *The Journal of Physiological Sciences*, 68(4), Article 4.
- Organization, W. H. (2015a). WHO global disability action plan 2014-2021: Better health for all people with disability. World Health Organization.
- Organization, W. H. (2015b). WHO global disability action plan 2014-2021: Better health for all people with disability. World Health Organization.

Organization, W. H. (2017). WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic, 2017: Monitoring tobacco use and prevention policies. World Health Organization.

Organization, W. H. (2020). Overweight and obesity.

Organization, W. H. (2021). Nutrition, overweight and obesity: Factsheet on Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): health targets. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe.

Organization, W. H. (2022). WHO European regional obesity report 2022.

- Osama, A., & Awdelkarim, S. (2015). Phytochemical screening of Ficus sycomorus L. bark and Cleome gynandra L. aerial parts. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 4(4), 24.
- Osathanunkul, M., Osathanunkul, R., & Madesis, P. (2018). Species identification approach for both raw materials and end products of herbal supplements from Tinospora species. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *18*(1), 1–6.
- Oyelana, O. A., & Ugborogho, R. E. (2008). Phenotypic variation of F1 and F2 populations from three species of Solanum L. (Solanaceae). *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 7(14).
- Paccosi, S., Cresci, B., Pala, L., Rotella, C. M., & Parenti, A. (2020). Obesity therapy: How and why? *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 27(2), Article 2.
- Paciulli, M., Palermo, M., Chiavaro, E., & Pellegrini, N. (2017). Chlorophylls and Colour Changes in Cooked Vegetables. In *Fruit and Vegetable Phytochemicals* (pp. 703– 719). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119158042.ch31.
- Pan, X.-F., Wang, L., & Pan, A. (2021). Epidemiology and determinants of obesity in China. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology*, 9(6), 373–392.

- Pandey, P., Garg, A., & Shukla, A. (n.d.). *Carpesterol- A novel phytosterol obtained from the plants of the family solanaceae with evaluation of antineoplastic activity.* 10.
- Parkar, S. G., Trower, T. M., & Stevenson, D. E. (2013). Fecal microbial metabolism of polyphenols and its effects on human gut microbiota. *Anaerobe*, 23, 12–19.
- Patel, B. R., Kotak, N., & Pandya, P. (2018). Pharmacognostical and Phytochemical Evaluation of root of *Solanum trilobatum* Linn. *Pharma Science Monitor*, 9(2), Article 2.
- Patra, S., Nithya, S., Srinithya, B., & Meenakshi, S. M. (2015). Review of medicinal plants for anti-obesity activity. *Translational Biomedicine*, 6(3).
- Petreanu, M., Guimarães, Á. A. A., Broering, M. F., Ferreira, E. K., Machado, I. D., Gois, A. L. T., de Carvalho, J. E., Monache, F. D., Niero, R., & Santin, J. R. (2016). Antiproliferative and toxicological properties of methanolic extract obtained from Solanum capsicoides All. Seeds and carpesterol. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, *389*(10), Article 10.
- Popkin, B. M., Adair, L. S., & Ng, S. W. (2012). Global nutrition transition and the pandemic of obesity in developing countries. *Nutrition Reviews*, 70(1), 3–21.
- Potawale, S. E., Sinha, S. D., Shroff, K. K., Dhalawat, H. J., Boraste, S. S., Gandhi, S. P.,
  & Tondare, A. D. (2008). Solanum nigrum Linn: A phytopharmacological review. *Pharmacologyonline*, *3*, 140–163.
- Qaid, M. M., & Abdelrahman, M. M. (2016). Role of insulin and other related hormones in energy metabolism-A review. *Cogent Food & Agriculture*, 2(1), Article 1.

- Rahman, I., Mujahid, A., Palombo, E. A., & Müller, M. (2021). A functional gene-array analysis of microbial communities settling on microplastics in a peat-draining environment. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 166, 112226.
- Raju, K., Anbuganapathi, G., Gokulakrishnan, V., Rajkapoor, B., Jayakar, B., & Manian,
  S. (2003). Effect of Dried Fruits of Solanum nigrum L INN against CCl4-Induced
  Hepatic Damage in Rats. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 26(11), Article
  11.
- Ramírez-Pérez, O., Cruz-Ramón, V., Chinchilla-López, P., & Méndez-Sánchez, N. (2018). The role of the gut microbiota in bile acid metabolism. *Annals of Hepatology*, 16(1), 21–26.
- Ramos, A. C., & de Oliveira, R. R. (2017). A new alkaloid and flavonoids isolated from solanum cernuum leaves by high-performance countercurrent chromatography. *Natural Product Research*, 31(20), Article 20.
- Rani, Y. S., Reddy, V. J., Basha, S. J., Koshma, M., Hanumanthu, G., & Swaroopa, P.(2017). A review on Solanum nigrum. *World J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci*, 6, 293–303.
- Rankin, J., Matthews, L., Cobley, S., Han, A., Sanders, R., Wiltshire, H. D., & Baker, J.
  S. (2016). Psychological consequences of childhood obesity: Psychiatric comorbidity and prevention. *Adolescent Health, Medicine and Therapeutics*, 7, 125.
- Razali, F. N., Sinniah, S. K., Hussin, H., Abidin, N. Z., & Shuib, A. S. (2016). Tumor suppression effect of Solanum nigrum polysaccharide fraction on Breast cancer via immunomodulation. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 92, 185–193.

- Rescan, P.-Y., Le Cam, A., Rallière, C., & Montfort, J. (2017). Global gene expression in muscle from fasted/refed trout reveals up-regulation of genes promoting myofibre hypertrophy but not myofibre production. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), Article 1.
- Resch, C., Parikh, M., Austria, J. A., Proctor, S. D., Netticadan, T., Blewett, H., & Pierce, G. N. (2021). The influence of diet and sex on the gut microbiota of lean and obese JCR: LA-cp rats. *Microorganisms*, 9(5), 1037.
- Robinson, C. J., Bohannan, B. J., & Young, V. B. (2010). From structure to function: The ecology of host-associated microbial communities. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 74(3), Article 3.
- Rodríguez-Pérez, C., Segura-Carretero, A., & del Mar Contreras, M. (2019). Phenolic compounds as natural and multifunctional anti-obesity agents: A review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 59(8), 1212–1229.
- Rogers, C. J., Prabhu, K. S., & Vijay-Kumar, M. (2014). The microbiome and obesity—
  An established risk for certain types of cancer. *The Cancer Journal*, 20(3), Article
  3.
- Roggero, P., Giannì, M. L., Amato, O., Piemontese, P., Morniroli, D., Wong, W. W., & Mosca, F. (2012). Evaluation of air-displacement plethysmography for body composition assessment in preterm infants. *Pediatric Research*, 72(3), Article 3.
- Ronoh, R., Ekhuya, N. A., Linde, M., Winkelmann, T., Abukutsa-Onyango, M., Dinssa,
  F. F., & Debener, T. (2018). African nightshades: Genetic, biochemical and
  metabolite diversity of an underutilised indigenous leafy vegetable and its
  potential for plant breeding. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, 93(2), 113–121.

- Rufino, A. T., Costa, V. M., Carvalho, F., & Fernandes, E. (2021). Flavonoids as antiobesity agents: A review. *Medicinal Research Reviews*, 41(1), 556–585.
- Saddhe, A. A., & Kumar, K. (2018). DNA barcoding of plants: Selection of core markers for taxonomic groups. *Plant Science Today*, 5(1), 9–13.
- Safia, A., & Krishna, K. (2013). Evaluation of hypolipidemic and antiobesity activities of Momordica dioica Roxb. Fruit extracts on atherogenic diet induced hyperlipidemic rats. *Pharmacophore*, 4(6), Article 6.
- Saleem, T. M., Chetty, C., Ramkanth, S., Alagusundaram, M., Gnanaprakash, K., Rajan, V. T., & Angalaparameswari, S. (2009). Solanum nigrum Linn.-A review. *Pharmacognosy Reviews*, 3(6), 342.
- Sargent, B. J., & Henderson, A. J. (2011). Targeting 5-HT receptors for the treatment of obesity. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, 11(1), Article 1.
- Särkinen, T., Barboza, G. E., & Knapp, S. (2015). True Black nightshades: Phylogeny and delimitation of the Morelloid clade of Solanum. *TAXON*, 64(5), 945–958. https://doi.org/10.12705/645.5.
- Särkinen, T., Poczai, P., Barboza, G. E., van der Weerden, G. M., Baden, M., & Knapp, S. (2018a). A revision of the Old World black nightshades (Morelloid clade of Solanum L., Solanaceae). *PhytoKeys*, 106, 1.
- Särkinen, T., Poczai, P., Barboza, G. E., van der Weerden, G. M., Baden, M., & Knapp, S. (2018b). A revision of the Old World black nightshades (Morelloid clade of Solanum L., Solanaceae). *PhytoKeys*, 106, 1.
- Savi, D. C., Aluizio, R., & Glienke, C. (2019). Brazilian plants: An unexplored source of endophytes as producers of active metabolites. *Planta Medica*, 85(08), 619–636.

- Scholz, G. H., & Hanefeld, M. (2016). Metabolic vascular syndrome: New insights into a multidimensional network of risk factors and diseases. *Visceral Medicine*, 32(5), 319–326.
- Schwartz, M. W., Seeley, R. J., Zeltser, L. M., Drewnowski, A., Ravussin, E., Redman, L. M., & Leibel, R. L. (2017). Obesity pathogenesis: An endocrine society scientific statement. *Endocrine Reviews*, 38(4), 267–296.
- Scotti, E., Boué, S., Sasso, G. L., Zanetti, F., Belcastro, V., Poussin, C., Sierro, N., Battey, J., Gimalac, A., & Ivanov, N. V. (2017). Exploring the microbiome in health and disease: Implications for toxicology. *Toxicology Research and Application*, 1, 2397847317741884.
- Shalini, S., & Sampathkumar, P. (2012). Phytochemical screening and antimicrobial activity of plant extracts for disease management. *International Journal of Current Science*, 1(1), Article 1.
- Shao, M., Vishvanath, L., Busbuso, N. C., Hepler, C., Shan, B., Sharma, A. X., Chen, S.,
  Yu, X., An, Y. A., & Zhu, Y. (2018). De novo adipocyte differentiation from
  Pdgfrβ+ preadipocytes protects against pathologic visceral adipose expansion in
  obesity. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 1–16.
- Sharma, A., Richardson, M., Cralle, L., Stamper, C. E., Maestre, J. P., Stearns-Yoder, K.
  A., Postolache, T. T., Bates, K. L., Kinney, K. A., Brenner, L. A., Lowry, C. A.,
  Gilbert, J. A., & Hoisington, A. J. (2019). Longitudinal homogenization of the
  microbiome between both occupants and the built environment in a cohort of
  United States Air Force Cadets. *Microbiome*, 7(1), 70.
  https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-019-0686-6.
- Sharma, B. R., Oh, J., Kim, H.-A., Kim, Y. J., Jeong, K.-S., & Rhyu, D. Y. (2015). Antiobesity effects of the mixture of Eriobotrya japonica and Nelumbo nucifera in adipocytes and high-fat diet-induced obese mice. *The American Journal of Chinese Medicine*, 43(04), Article 04.
- Sharma, S., & Dogra, K. S. (2018). Utilization of Solanaceae for dental care management in India. *The Pharma Innovation*, *7*(5, Part B), 71.
- Sheflin, A. M., Melby, C. L., Carbonero, F., & Weir, T. L. (2017). Linking dietary patterns with gut microbial composition and function. *Gut Microbes*, 8(2), 113– 129.
- Shettar, V., Patel, S., & Kidambi, S. (2017). Epidemiology of obesity and pharmacologic treatment options. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice*, *32*(4), 441–462.
- Shin, E., & Saeidi, E. (2021). Body shapes and apparel fit for overweight and obese women in the US: The implications of current sizing system. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management: An International Journal.*
- Shin, N.-R., Whon, T. W., & Bae, J.-W. (2015). Proteobacteria: Microbial signature of dysbiosis in gut microbiota. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 33(9), 496–503.
- Solt, I., Kim, M. J., & Offer, C. (2011). The human microbiome. *Harefuah*, 150(5), 484–488.
- Son, J. W., & Kim, S. (2020). Comprehensive review of current and upcoming antiobesity drugs. *Diabetes & Metabolism Journal*, 44(6), 802–818.
- Stadler, J. T., & Marsche, G. (2020). Obesity-Related Changes in High-Density Lipoprotein Metabolism and Function. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(23), Article 23. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21238985

- Steyn, N. P., & Mchiza, Z. J. (2014). Obesity and the nutrition transition in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1311*(1), 88–101.
- Sturm, R., & An, R. (2014). Obesity and economic environments. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 64(5), 337–350.
- Subramaniapillai, M., & McIntyre, R. S. (2017). A review of the neurobiology of obesity and the available pharmacotherapies. *CNS Spectrums*, 22(S1), Article S1.
- Sun, N.-N., Wu, T.-Y., & Chau, C.-F. (2016). Natural dietary and herbal products in antiobesity treatment. *Molecules*, 21(10), 1351.
- Suthar, A., Mulani, R., & Gulati, V. (2008). A HPTLC method for estimation of solasodine and diosgenin in Solanum xanthocarpum Schrad. And Wendl. *Nat Prod Indian J*, 4(1), Article 1.
- Suzuki, K., Jayasena, C. N., & Bloom, S. R. (2012). Obesity and appetite control. *Experimental Diabetes Research*, 2012.
- Tabuti, J. R., Hassen, I. E., Pateh, U. U., & Mahomoodally, M. F. (2014). Recent advances towards validating efficacy and safety of African traditional medicines. In *Evidence-Based Compleme ntary and Alternative Medicine* (Vol. 2014). Hindawi.
- Tak, Y. J., & Lee, S. Y. (2021). Long-term efficacy and safety of anti-obesity treatment:Where do we stand? *Current Obesity Reports*, *10*(1), Article 1.
- Takahashi, N. (2015). Oral microbiome metabolism: From "who are they?" to "what are they doing?" *Journal of Dental Research*, 94(12), Article 12.

- Tamura, K., Stecher, G., & Kumar, S. (2021). MEGA11: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Version 11. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 38(7), 3022– 3027. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msab120.
- Teklehaimanot, H., Gebru, G., & Tesfay, A. (2015). *Review on Effect of Solanumnigrum* L. on Histopathology of Kidneys of Rats. 6, 5.
- Thaker, V. V. (2017). Genetic and epigenetic causes of obesity. *Adolescent Medicine: State of the Art Reviews*, 28(2), 379.
- Thukral, A. K. (2017). A review on measurement of Alpha diversity in biology. *Agric*. *Res. J*, *54*(1), 1–10.
- Tiwari, B. K., Abidi, A. B., Rizvi, S. I., & Pandey, K. B. (2016). Phytochemical screening and evaluation of antioxidant potentials of some Indian medicinal plants and their composite extract. *Ann. Phytomed*, 5(1), Article 1.
- Tongco, J. V. V., Villaber, R. A. P., Aguda, R. M., & Razal, R. A. (2014). Nutritional and phytochemical screening, and total phenolic and flavonoid content of Diplazium esculentum (Retz.) Sw. From Philippines. *Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research*, 6(8), Article 8.
- Toth, P. P. (2016). Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins as a causal factor for cardiovascular disease. *Vascular Health and Risk Management*, *12*, 171.
- Tziomalos, K., Krassas, G. E., & Tzotzas, T. (2009). The use of sibutramine in the management of obesity and related disorders: An update. *Vascular Health and Risk Management*, 5, 441.

- Ueno, H., & Nakazato, M. (2016). Mechanistic relationship between the vagal afferent pathway, central nervous system and peripheral organs in appetite regulation. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation*, 7(6), 812–818.
- Upadhyay, J., Farr, O., Perakakis, N., Ghaly, W., & Mantzoros, C. (2018). Obesity as a disease. *Medical Clinics*, *102*(1), 13–33.
- Ursell, L. K., Clemente, J. C., Rideout, J. R., Gevers, D., Caporaso, J. G., & Knight, R. (2012). The interpersonal and intrapersonal diversity of human-associated microbiota in key body sites. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *129*(5), 1204–1208.
- Vanaja, M., Paulkumar, K., Gnanajobitha, G., Rajeshkumar, S., Malarkodi, C., & Annadurai, G. (2014). Herbal plant synthesis of antibacterial silver nanoparticles by Solanum trilobatum and its characterization. *International Journal of Metals*, 2014.
- Vijilvani, C., Bindhu, M. R., Frincy, F. C., AlSalhi, M. S., Sabitha, S., Saravanakumar, K., Devanesan, S., Umadevi, M., Aljaafreh, M. J., & Atif, M. (2020).
  Antimicrobial and catalytic activities of biosynthesized gold, silver and palladium nanoparticles from Solanum nigurum leaves. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 202, 111713.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2019.111713.
- Vishvanath, L., & Gupta, R. K. (2019). Contribution of adipogenesis to healthy adipose tissue expansion in obesity. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 129(10), Article 10.

- Voigt, J.-P., & Fink, H. (2015). Serotonin controlling feeding and satiety. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 277, 14–31.
- Vorontsova, M. S., & Knapp, S. (2016). A revision of the "African Non-Spiny" Clade of Solanum L.(Solanum sections Afrosolanum Bitter, Benderianum Bitter, Lemurisolanum Bitter, Lyciosolanum Bitter, Macronesiotes Bitter, and Quadrangulare Bitter: Solanaceae).
- Wang, D., Wei, X., Yan, X., Jin, T., & Ling, W. (2010). Protocatechuic acid, a metabolite of anthocyanins, inhibits monocyte adhesion and reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(24), Article 24.
- Wang, M., Luo, L., Yao, L., Wang, C., Jiang, K., Liu, X., Xu, M., Shen, N., Guo, S., & Sun, C. (2016). Salidroside improves glucose homeostasis in obese mice by repressing inflammation in white adipose tissues and improving leptin sensitivity in hypothalamus. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 1–13.
- Warner, B. B. (2019). The contribution of the gut microbiome to neurodevelopment and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Pediatric Research*, 85(2), 216–224.
- Warolin, J., Kantor, J., Whitaker, L. E., Choi, L., Acra, S., & Buchowski, M. S. (2012).
  Comparative assessment of change in fat mass using dual X-ray absorptiometry and air-displacement plethysmography. *Clinical Obesity*, 2(3–4), 66–72.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-8111.2012.00042.x
- Wasim, M., Awan, F. R., Najam, S. S., Khan, A. R., & Khan, H. N. (2016). Role of leptin deficiency, inefficiency, and leptin receptors in obesity. *Biochemical Genetics*, 54(5), Article 5.

- Weihrauch-Blüher, S., Schwarz, P., & Klusmann, J.-H. (2019). Childhood obesity:
  Increased risk for cardiometabolic disease and cancer in adulthood. *Metabolism*, 92, 147–152.
- Wesonga, N. L., Ngugi, K. E., Onyango, M. C., & Nyamongo, D. (2016). Diversity among selected African nightshade genotypes found in Kenya. *Fifth African Higher Education Week and RUFORUM Biennial Conference 2016, "Linking Agricultural Universities with Civil Society, the Private Sector, Governments and Other Stakeholders in Support of Agricultural Development in Africa", Cape Town, South Africa, 17-21 October 2016, 687–694.*
- Weththasinghe, P., Liyanage, R., Vidanarachchi, J., Perera, O., & Jayawardana, B.
  (2014). Hypocholesterolemic and hypoglycemic effect of cowpea (Vigna unguiculata L. Walp) incorporated experimental diets in wistar rats (Rattus norvegicus). *Agriculture and Agricultural Science Procedia*, 2, 401–405.
- Wilding, J. P. (2017). Combination therapy for obesity. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, *31*(11), Article 11.
- Wilkins, E., Morris, M., Radley, D., & Griffiths, C. (2019). Methods of measuring associations between the retail food environment and weight status: Importance of classifications and metrics. SSM-Population Health, 8, 100404.
- Williams, R., & Periasamy, M. (2020). Genetic and environmental factors contributing to visceral adiposity in Asian populations. *Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 35(4), Article 4.

- Willis, A., Bunge, J., & Whitman, T. (2017). Improved detection of changes in species richness in high diversity microbial communities. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series C (Applied Statistics)*, 66(5), 963–977.
- Willis, A. D. (2019). Rarefaction, alpha diversity, and statistics. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 10, 2407.
- Withrow, D., & Alter, D. A. (2011). The economic burden of obesity worldwide: A systematic review of the direct costs of obesity. *Obesity Reviews*, *12*(2), 131–141.
- Wu, P., Wen, W., Li, J., Xu, J., Zhao, M., Chen, H., & Sun, J. (2019). Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials on the Effect of SGLT2
  Inhibitor on Blood Leptin and Adiponectin Level in Patients with Type 2
  Diabetes. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, *51*(8), 487–494.
  https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0958-2441.
- Xiao, L., Zhang, J., Li, H., Liu, J., He, L., Zhang, J., & Zhai, Y. (2010). Inhibition of adipocyte differentiation and adipogenesis by the traditional Chinese herb
  Sibiraea angustata. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 235(12), 1442–1449.
- Xie, W. P., Gao, H., An, Y. W., Lü, L., Liu, S. L., Wang, B., Huang, Y. C., & Zhang, Q. (2008). The role of gap-junction in suspended animation for hemorrhagic shock with brain injury: Experiment with rats. *Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi*, 88(27), Article 27.
- Xu, X., He, J., Xue, J., Wang, Y., Li, K., Zhang, K., Guo, Q., Liu, X., Zhou, Y., & Cheng, L. (2015). Oral cavity contains distinct niches with dynamic microbial communities. *Environmental Microbiology*, 17(3), Article 3.

- Xu, Y., Zhang, M., Wu, T., Dai, S., Xu, J., & Zhou, Z. (2015). The anti-obesity effect of green tea polysaccharides, polyphenols and caffeine in rats fed with a high-fat diet. *Food & Function*, 6(1), Article 1.
- Xuan, Y. U., Xin-Pei, W., Fan, L. E. I., Jiang, J.-F., Jun, L. I., Dong-Ming, X., & Li-Jun,
  D. U. (2017). Pomegranate leaf attenuates lipid absorption in the small intestine in hyperlipidemic mice by inhibiting lipase activity. *Chinese Journal of Natural Medicines*, 15(10), 732–739.
- Xue, B., Xie, J., Huang, J., Chen, L., Gao, L., Ou, S., Wang, Y., & Peng, X. (2016). Plant polyphenols alter a pathway of energy metabolism by inhibiting fecal Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes in vitro. *Food & Function*, 7(3), 1501–1507. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5FO01438G.
- Yang, H.-W., Hsu, H.-C., Yang, C.-K., Tsai, M.-J., & Kuo, Y.-F. (2019). Differentiating between morphologically similar species in genus Cinnamomum (Lauraceae) using deep convolutional neural networks. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 162, 739–748.
- Yang, Z., & Rannala, B. (2012). Molecular phylogenetics: Principles and practice. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 13(5), 303–314. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3186.
- Yao, F., Song, Q.-L., Zhang, L., Li, G.-S., & Dai, S.-J. (2013). Three new cytotoxic sesquiterpenoids from Solanum lyratum. *Phytochemistry Letters*, 6(3), Article 3.
- Yao, H., Song, J., Liu, C., Luo, K., Han, J., Li, Y., Pang, X., Xu, H., Zhu, Y., Xiao, P., & Chen, S. (2010). Use of ITS2 region as the universal DNA barcode for plants and animals. *PLoS ONE*, 5(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013102.

Yao, X., Tan, Y., Yang, J., Wang, Y., Corlett, R. T., & Manen, J.-F. (2019).
Exceptionally high rates of positive selection on the rbcL gene in the genus Ilex (Aquifoliaceae). *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, *19*(1), 192. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-019-1521-1.

- Yao, Y., Zhang, W., Ming, R., Deng, Q., Zuo, A., Zhang, S., Ying, Y., Zhao, Y., & Ma, J. (2020). Noninvasive 40-Hz light flicker rescues circadian behavior and abnormal lipid metabolism induced by acute ethanol exposure via improving SIRT1 and the circadian clock in the liver-brain axis. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 355.
- Yassour, M., Jason, E., Hogstrom, L. J., Arthur, T. D., Tripathi, S., Siljander, H., Selvenius, J., Oikarinen, S., Hyöty, H., & Virtanen, S. M. (2018). Strain-level analysis of mother-to-child bacterial transmission during the first few months of life. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 24(1), 146–154.

Yatsunenko, T., Rey, F. E., Manary, M. J., Trehan, I., Dominguez-Bello, M. G.,
Contreras, M., Magris, M., Hidalgo, G., Baldassano, R. N., & Anokhin, A. P.
(2012). Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. *Nature*,
486(7402), 222–227.

- Yousaf, Z., Shinwari, Z. K., & Khan, M. A. (n.d.). Phenetic analysis of medicinally important species of the genus *Solanum* from Pakistan. 7.
- Yu, J., Wu, X., Liu, C., Newmaster, S., Ragupathy, S., & Kress, W. J. (2021). Progress in the use of DNA barcodes in the identification and classification of medicinal plants. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 208, 111691.

- Yuan, P., Guo, F., Zheng, K., Chen, K., Jia, Q., & Li, Y. (2016). Nine sesquiterpenes from Solanum torvum. *Natural Product Research*, 30(15), Article 15.
- Yun, J. W. (2010). Possible anti-obesity therapeutics from nature–A review. *Phytochemistry*, *71*(14–15), 1625–1641.
- Zakaria, Z. A., Gopalan, H. K., Zainal, H., Pojan, N. H. M., Morsid, N. A., Aris, A., & Sulaiman, M. R. (2006). Antinociceptive, anti-inflammatory and antipyretic effects of Solanum nigrum chloroform extract in animal models. *Yakugaku Zasshi*, *126*(11), Article 11.
- Zhang, W., Cline, M. A., & Gilbert, E. R. (2014). Hypothalamus-adipose tissue crosstalk: Neuropeptide Y and the regulation of energy metabolism. *Nutrition & Metabolism*, 11(1), Article 1.
- Zhang, X., Zhao, Y., Xu, J., Xue, Z., Zhang, M., Pang, X., Zhang, X., & Zhao, L. (2015). Modulation of gut microbiota by berberine and metformin during the treatment of high-fat diet-induced obesity in rats. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 1–10.
- Zhang, Y.-J., Li, S., Gan, R.-Y., Zhou, T., Xu, D.-P., & Li, H.-B. (2015). Impacts of gut bacteria on human health and diseases. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 16(4), 7493–7519.
- Zhao, L., Wang, L., Di, S., Xu, Q., Ren, Q., Chen, S., Huang, N., Jia, D., & Shen, X. (2018). Steroidal alkaloid solanine A from Solanum nigrum Linn. Exhibits antiinflammatory activity in lipopolysaccharide/interferon γ-activated murine macrophages and animal models of inflammation. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 105, 606–615.

- Zhou, X.-L., He, X.-J., Zhou, G.-X., Ye, W.-C., & Yao, X.-S. (2007). Pregnane glycosides from Solanum nigrum. *Journal of Asian Natural Products Research*, 9(6), Article 6.
- Zhou, Y., Li, H., & Xia, N. (2021). The interplay between adipose tissue and vasculature:Role of oxidative stress in obesity. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine*, 8, 131.
- Ziraba, A. K., Fotso, J. C., & Ochako, R. (2009). Overweight and obesity in urban Africa: A problem of the rich or the poor? *BMC Public Health*, *9*(1), 1–9.
- Zou, B., Ge, Z., Zhang, Y., Du, J., Xu, Z., & Li, C. (2014). Persimmon tannin accounts for hypolipidemic effects of persimmon through activating of AMPK and suppressing NF-κB activation and inflammatory responses in high-fat diet rats. *Food & Function*, *5*(7), Article 7.
- Zunjar, V. (2017). Phytochemical Studies on Some Cultivars of Carica papaya Linn. And Bioprospecting of Its Related Species [PhD Thesis]. Maharaja Sayajirao University of Baroda (India).

## APPENDICES

	Serial No: KyU-AIC 2022/100
Kirinyaga University	
Certificate	
This is to certify that Kathryn Nderitu from University of Nairobi, Presented a paper titled: Solanum nigrum L. Show Anti-Obesity Effects on High-Fat Diet-Fed Sprague Dawley Rats in a Randomized Study during the 5 <sup>th</sup> Annual Virtual International Conference under the theme"Re-Engineering Leadership for Sustainable Development", held on March 24-25, 2022 at Kirinyaga University, Kenya.	
Tel: +254 709 742 000/30, + 254 728 499 650 P.O. Box: 143-10300 Kerugoya Email: info@kyu.ac.ke	

Appendix 1: Presented my research work in a conference



**Appendix 2: Gut microbiome forward reads** 



Appendix 3: Gut microbiome reverse reads



Appendix 4: A box plot showing abundance of bacterial phylua taxon among the treatment groups



Appendix 5: Relative abundance of bacterial genus taxon among the treatment groups.



Appendix 6: Bacterial phylum present on the gut of KWN1 and KWN2



Appendix 7: Bacterial phylum present on the gut of KWN3, KWN4 and KWN5



Appendix 8: Bacterial phylum present on the gut of KWN6 and KWN7



Appendix 9: Duplicate samples of Plant DNA using ITS2 and rBCL Markers (bottom section) and seven samples of bacterial DNA and a positive control (upper section).